



General Assembly

Distr.: General
2 September 2025

Original: English

Seventy-ninth session

Agenda item 121

Revitalization of the work of the General Assembly

Report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly

Contents

	<i>Page</i>
I. Introduction	2
II. Proceedings	2
A. Thematic debate on strengthening the accountability, transparency and institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly	2
B. Thematic debate on the selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads	4
C. Interactive dialogue with the Secretariat	5
III. Conclusion	7
IV. Recommendation	8
Annexes	
I. Amendments to the rules of procedure in all six official languages	17
II. Updated inventory chart of General Assembly resolutions on the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly, issued pursuant to resolution 77/335	84



I. Introduction

1. By its resolution [77/335](#), the General Assembly decided to establish, at its seventy-eighth and seventy-ninth sessions, in accordance with the biennialized format agreed in resolution [75/325](#), the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly, open to all Member States. The Permanent Representative of Romania to the United Nations, Cornel Feruță, and the Permanent Representative of South Africa to the United Nations, Mathu Joyini served as Co-Chairs of the Ad Hoc Working Group.

II. Proceedings

2. The Working Group held a total of two formal meetings, on 23 January 2025 and 20 February 2025.

3. The programme of work consisted of two thematic meetings, on the following themes:

(a) Strengthening the accountability, transparency and institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly;

(b) Selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads.

4. In addition, a briefing by the Chef de Cabinet of the Executive Office of the Secretary-General on the Senior Leadership Talent Pool and an interactive dialogue between permanent missions and the Secretariat were held on 15 April and 30 May 2025, respectively.

5. All formal meetings and the dialogue between permanent missions and the Secretariat were webcast.

A. Thematic debate on strengthening the accountability, transparency and institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly

6. The Co-Chairs convened a thematic debate on strengthening the accountability, transparency and institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly on 23 January 2025. The President of the General Assembly delivered opening remarks, emphasizing the importance of revitalization for enhancing the functioning of the Assembly, and the Under-Secretary-General for General Assembly and Conference Management, Movses Abelian, provided a briefing on the Secretariat's support for the Office of the President of the General Assembly in areas such as funding, staffing and operational resources.

7. In his remarks, the President of the General Assembly highlighted the achievements realized under resolution [77/335](#) and other revitalization initiatives. He emphasized that the provision of additional human and financial resources had been instrumental in enhancing the functioning of his Office. The President underscored the significance of these resources in strengthening continuity and ensuring the sustainability of the Office. Expressing his gratitude to Member States for their continued support, he urged them to sustain this commitment to ensure the effective operation of the Office in the future.

8. Gender equality remained a key focus, with women representing more than 50 per cent of the President's team, including in leadership roles. Geographical diversity

was also prioritized, with all five regional groups represented in the staff of the Office. To strengthen institutional memory, nearly half of the current Office team comprised personnel retained from the previous session. The President underscored the importance of training and induction programmes, including those on ethics and gender, for all team members.

9. The President of the General Assembly identified critical challenges facing the Office, particularly resource constraints. The lack of predictable funding at the start of each session undermined the Office's ability to execute its mandate effectively, especially during the high-demand early months of the session. Staff turnover also presented challenges to continuity and effectiveness.

10. The Under-Secretary-General for General Assembly and Conference Management briefed the Working Group on the Secretariat's support to the Office. The staffing structure included eight temporary posts funded under section 1 of the programme budget, filled through recruitment by the President. Two additional General Service-level posts were funded under section 2. For the 2025 session, the Office had recruited seven additional staff members and five consultants through trust fund resources.

11. Operational support provided by the Secretariat included translators, protocol services and administrative assistance for travel and personnel management. Other services included car and driver services, security officers and legal guidance. A comprehensive induction programme and regular reporting on budget performance were provided to ensure the effective management of resources and activities.

12. In an interactive session, several delegations posed questions on critical issues affecting the Office. Key concerns revolved around funding sources, institutional memory and operational challenges. Specific inquiries addressed the implementation and impact of recent budgetary decisions, the efficiency of transitional processes and the logistical constraints affecting Office operations.

13. One delegation underscored the risks of overreliance on voluntary contributions and sought a clearer assessment of how the resolution [77/335](#) had influenced the Office's staffing and financial stability. The delegation further enquired about institutional memory, particularly regarding the compendium of best practices and lessons learned. Another delegation, meanwhile, emphasized the need for a structured and streamlined handover process between outgoing and incoming Office teams. The delegation asked about the extent of overlap between the two administrations and how continuity between sessions was ensured.

14. The Chef de Cabinet of the Office of the President of the General Assembly addressed those concerns, acknowledging the progress that had been made due to the adoption of resolution [77/335](#). The increased budget allocation had enabled the recruitment of three additional posts (one P-3 and two P-4 positions). On the matter of institutional memory, the Chef de Cabinet highlighted the value of the report and compendium received from the previous Office team, describing them as essential references for best practices. In addition, staffing continuity played a crucial role in preserving institutional knowledge, with approximately 50 per cent of the staff retained from the previous session. The Chef de Cabinet recommended that practice for future transitions to mitigate disruptions.

15. The Under-Secretary-General emphasized the critical importance of ensuring a smooth transition for incoming Presidents of the General Assembly, particularly in addressing pending issues and maintaining institutional continuity. While the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management served as the custodian of institutional memory, it did not take a position on the practices of

individual Presidents of the General Assembly, providing instead neutral guidance based on past experiences.

16. One delegation noted that newly elected Presidents often spent considerable time in assembling their teams, which detracted from their focus on substantive priorities. In response, the Chef de Cabinet acknowledged the difficulties in managing transitions. New teams often faced recruitment delays and uncertainty, as the outgoing staff were primarily focused on their remaining responsibilities rather than assisting with the transition.

17. During the subsequent debate, 34 delegations delivered statements. Delegations emphasized the need for predictable and sustainable funding for the Office. Several noted that overreliance on extrabudgetary resources could undermine the Office's accountability, impartiality and transparency.

18. The persistent underrepresentation of women in the role of President of the General Assembly was highlighted, as only four women had held the position in the history of the United Nations. Delegations reaffirmed the importance of gender parity in leadership roles and staffing, encouraging a balanced approach in the appointment of co-facilitators and high-level speakers. Some delegations urged Member States to take concrete steps to nominate and elect women to the position, with 2025 seen as an opportune moment to demonstrate commitment to gender equality.

19. The issue of multilingualism was emphasized, particularly in the light of the liquidity crisis in 2025. Delegations sought clarity on how financial constraints had affected multilingual communication and the accessibility of Office activities in all official United Nations languages. Calls were made for the regular publication of financial disclosures by each President of the General Assembly, and for improved transparency in Office decision-making processes, including through timely dissemination of meeting summaries and financial reports. Efforts to improve the digital publication of documents of the Office, including the compendium of best practices mandated by previous resolutions, were welcomed, with suggestions that existing provisions should be refined to ensure their full implementation.

B. Thematic debate on the selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads

20. On 20 February 2025, the Ad Hoc Working Group convened its second meeting, which was focused on the selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads of the United Nations system. The meeting was aimed at advancing discussions on transparency, inclusivity and efficiency in the selection process while ensuring equitable gender and geographical representation at the highest levels of the Organization.

21. The Director of the Global Strategy and Policy Division of the Office of Human Resources provided a briefing, as mandated by Member States in paragraph 78 of resolution [77/335](#), on the gender and geographical balance among executive heads within the United Nations system, as well as within the Senior Management Group. In addition, a breakdown was provided, detailing the representation of individuals from States that were permanent members of the Security Council.

22. During the debate, many delegations underscored the need for a clear, structured and predictable timeline for the selection of the Secretary-General. Establishing a transparent timeline was highlighted as a key factor in improving procedural clarity and ensuring equitable participation in the process. Proposals included an October call for nominations issued jointly by the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council, a cut-off date of 1 April for candidatures,

completion of General Assembly hearings by June, and the issue of a Security Council recommendation by 1 October, allowing adequate time for consideration before appointment by the General Assembly. The importance of early and consistent engagement with Member States and civil society was reiterated, with calls for the President of the General Assembly to play an assertive role in facilitating dialogues with candidates and ensuring that the process remained inclusive and representative.

23. Delegations reaffirmed the need to ensure gender parity in the selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads. Several delegations emphasized the need for a conscious and deliberate effort by Member States to nominate women candidates and for such encouragement to be included in the joint letter calling for nominations. The need for greater geographical balance in leadership positions was also highlighted, with concerns raised regarding the persistent underrepresentation of developing countries in senior United Nations roles. Proposals included expanding outreach efforts and ensuring a broader, more diverse pool of candidates.

24. Some delegations suggested that the Security Council provide regular updates on its deliberations and official announcements of the results of straw polls. Greater transparency in Council recommendations was emphasized as a means of ensuring a selection process that reflected the broadest possible consensus of the membership of the United Nations. Proposals included secret advisory ballots or other mechanisms to assess the level of General Assembly support for candidates throughout the selection process. Some delegations also advocated that multiple candidates be nominated by the Council for the Assembly's consideration.

25. Many delegations stressed the importance of enhancing civil society participation in the selection process. Interactive hearings with candidates were cited as valuable mechanisms that enriched the selection process through direct engagement with broader stakeholders. It was recommended that informal dialogues be made more interactive, with an increased role for the President of the General Assembly in facilitating discussions between candidates and Member States. The role of civil society in identifying qualified candidates was also highlighted, with calls for continued collaboration and structured engagement throughout the selection process.

26. Some delegations proposed establishing a single, non-renewable term of seven years for future Secretaries-General, arguing that it would enhance independence and allow the office holder to focus on long-term objectives without the influence of reappointment considerations. The importance of compiling best practices and lessons learned from past selection processes was emphasized, with support for developing a compendium to guide future appointments.

C. Interactive dialogue with the Secretariat

27. Pursuant to General Assembly resolution [77/335](#) and within the framework of the Assembly's seventy-ninth session, the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly convened an interactive dialogue with the Secretariat on 30 May 2025. The meeting was held to examine and strengthen ongoing efforts to enhance the role, authority, effectiveness and efficiency of the Assembly, particularly in the light of budgetary constraints and operational demands. The meeting featured briefings by departments of the United Nations Secretariat and extensive engagement with Member States on the implementation status of revitalization mandates.

28. The Co-Chairs opened the meeting by emphasizing the importance of aligning the revitalization process with the priorities identified in resolution [77/335](#),

particularly with respect to digital access, multilingual equity and institutional coherence.

29. Member States expressed support for strengthening the institutional memory of the General Assembly and the broader United Nations system. One delegation requested clarity on the implementation plan and update frequency of the digital handbook on Assembly practices. Another delegation, speaking on behalf of a regional group, raised concerns about multilingualism, equitable access for smaller delegations and impartial Secretariat communication. Another delegation also asked whether there would be an online calendar consolidating all side events and general debate sessions to facilitate transparency and accessibility.

30. The Under-Secretary-General for General Assembly and Conference Management responded by outlining the current challenges imposed by the liquidity crisis, which included delayed implementation of requests made on the e-deleGATE platform. The Under-Secretary-General noted that austerity measures had disproportionately affected translation and accessibility services. Notably, all development of the e-deleGATE platform, including the accommodation webform and multilingual transcript tool prototypes, had been paused.

31. Several delegations stressed the importance of institutional support for developing countries and the necessity of timely implementation of General Assembly resolutions. One delegation enquired about coordination mechanisms for side events during the general debate. Another delegation emphasized the importance of adherence to multilingualism and the need for consistent working methods across committees.

32. The Secretariat indicated that the number of high-level week side events had decreased from 29,000 in 2023 to 27,000 in 2024 due to space and staffing constraints. While side events remained integral to the revitalization agenda, event organizers increasingly requested anonymity, precluding publication in the *Journal of the United Nations*. The Secretariat also confirmed that no consolidated list would be released. With regard to translation, all six official languages received equitable treatment despite the austerity measures, with 92 per cent of documents submitted and translated on time. Multilingual press materials were cleared through bureaus to ensure impartiality.

33. The Under-Secretary-General for General Assembly and Conference Management highlighted ongoing data integration practices to support the accessibility of intergovernmental data and underscored that, while efforts to reuse procedural data were progressing, financial constraints had prevented the completion of several mandates, including a webform for accommodation requests and the compendium of best practices of past Presidents. He reaffirmed that the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management remained committed to supporting all processes led by the President of the General Assembly but warned that growing requests to implement “within existing resources” were unsustainable.

34. The Deputy Controller elaborated on the UN80 Initiative. She described pilot efforts to professionalize recruitment, centralize learning hubs and shift services such as human resources and travel to lower-cost locations. She also highlighted statistical improvements in geographic representation: the number of Member States within desirable ranges had increased from 103 to 128 over two years.

35. The Director of the News and Media Division of the Department of Global Communications discussed the work done by the Department of Global Communications with regard to disinformation, the impact of liquidity constraints on multilingual media output, and initiatives to increase global visibility of the General Assembly’s work through broadcasts, web streaming and multilingual outreach.

He emphasized that, while the Department had 77 million social media followers and had generated 89 million minutes of watch time for General Assembly-related videos, future outputs were threatened by a lack of equipment, outdated software licenses and reduced staff capacity.

36. Several Member States highlighted the impact of the veto initiative and emphasized the need to further institutionalize cooperation between the General Assembly and the Security Council. A number of delegations also called for stronger mechanisms to evaluate Secretariat capacity in supporting developing countries during emergency sessions and in meeting unanticipated costs.

37. The Under-Secretary-General for Operational Support briefed the Working Group on building accessibility, infrastructure upgrades and operational sustainability projects. He announced that lighting replacements in the General Assembly Hall would include energy-efficient light-emitting diode (LED) systems, but that renovations were delayed until at least 2027. Office renovations in United Nations Development Corporation Building 2 (DC2) were underway, with the aim of reducing the reliance of the United Nations on commercial office leases. With respect to catering, he confirmed that the related contract had been extended and that a new contract would be awarded by mid-2025. Prices were expected to increase to address an unsustainable \$2.1 million subsidy.

38. The Assistant Secretary-General/Chief Information Technology Officer reported successful upgrades to campus Wi-Fi and mobile signal coverage, as well as ongoing efforts to improve digital accessibility through migration to open-source platforms. Accessibility-focused upgrades to the Official Document System resulted in the platform currently supporting screen readers and multilingual search optimization.

39. Chairs and representatives of the six Main Committees of the General Assembly shared innovations and challenges in their respective bodies, including the enhanced use of e-deleGATE tools, efforts to reduce redundancy and alignment of meeting agendas with the Economic and Social Council. Best practices, such as coordinated debate scheduling, the use of live speaker lists and pre-session consultations with incoming bureau members, were highlighted. Persistent challenges included backlog of documents, duplicate agenda items and politicization of negotiations.

40. Several delegations supported expansion of the e-deleGATE platform, the iGov portal and integrating artificial intelligence and multilingual transcript tools. Delegations reaffirmed their commitment to the principle of multilingualism, calling for parity in interpretation and translation services across all six official languages.

41. Many delegates expressed a need for enhanced civil society engagement and improved visibility of General Assembly outcomes. There was also widespread support for the preservation of institutional memory through formalized knowledge-sharing and for revision of rules to ensure gender-inclusive language. The Secretariat confirmed that a strategy on equitable geographical and gender representation in recruitment would be launched later in 2025.

III. Conclusion

42. In accordance with its mandate, the Ad Hoc Working Group endeavoured to identify key issues of concern and possible consensus, to examine the current status of implementation of those issues and either to take action or to indicate possible further action to be taken.

43. At its final meeting, held on 2 September 2025, the Ad Hoc Working Group considered and adopted the present report, including the draft resolution contained in section IV.

IV. Recommendation

44. On the basis of a draft resolution circulated by the Co-Chairs, the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly formulated the resolution set out below.

45. At its final meeting, held on 2 September 2025, the Working Group concluded its work for the seventy-ninth session. The Working Group recommended that the Assembly adopt the following draft resolution:

Revitalization of the work of the General Assembly

The General Assembly,

Reaffirming its resolution [77/335](#) of 1 September 2023 and all previous resolutions relating to the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly, and emphasizing the importance of achieving full implementation of mandates given by Member States,

Reaffirming also the central position of the General Assembly as the chief deliberative, policymaking and representative organ of the United Nations, as affirmed in the sixth preambular paragraph of its resolution [69/321](#) of 11 September 2015 and recalled in its resolution [79/1](#) of 22 September 2024, without prejudice to the functions and powers of United Nations organs provided for in the Charter of the United Nations and having due regard to its competences, functions and powers, as set out in Chapter IV of the Charter,

Noting with appreciation all successive resolutions since the adoption of decision 45/461 on 16 September 1991, aimed at identifying ways to further enhance the role, authority, effectiveness and efficiency of the General Assembly, demonstrating the value of a dedicated agenda item focusing on the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly,

Welcoming the efforts of the Secretary-General to strengthen the United Nations to keep pace with a changing world and to make it fit for the present and future challenges, as acknowledged in its resolution [79/318](#) of 18 July 2025, and recognizing the potential of the UN80 Initiative to strengthen the impact of the United Nations and enhance its agility, responsiveness and resilience, in a holistic and integrated approach, and address the issue of duplicative efforts and ensure effective and efficient mandate delivery across all three pillars of the work of the United Nations,

Mindful of the importance of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, which continue to guide its work,

Recalling that multilingualism, a core value of the Organization, contributes to the achievement of the purposes of the United Nations, as set out in Article 1 of the Charter, recognizing the need to continue to make efforts to ensure that multilingualism, as a fundamental value of the Organization, is not undermined, and recalling that multilingualism is considered in a dedicated resolution, most recently adopted by consensus as resolution [78/330](#) of 6 September 2024,

Role and authority of the General Assembly

1. *Recognizes* the functions, powers and role of the General Assembly in matters related to the maintenance of international peace and security as articulated in Articles 10, 11, 12 and 35 of the Charter of the United Nations, without prejudice to the functions and powers of the Security Council set out in Article 24, in particular by taking action in accordance with the Charter, and emphasizes the importance of continuing to strengthen the relationship between the Security Council and the General Assembly, including as stipulated in resolution [79/1](#);

2. *Calls for* greater coordination, in accordance with their respective mandates, between the General Assembly, the Security Council and the Economic and Social Council, in order to avoid duplication between and align the agendas of these bodies, and encourages the Presidents of the respective bodies to continue to hold regular meetings to that end;

3. *Reaffirms* the need to reinforce synergy, coherence and complementarity between the agendas of the General Assembly and its Main Committees and the Economic and Social Council and its subsidiary bodies, welcomes regular interaction and enhanced coordination between the Presidents of the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council and the Security Council, and encourages the continuation of this practice;

4. *Recognizes* the value of continued engagement between the General Assembly and the Peacebuilding Commission, in line with the Commission's advisory role and its mandate to promote coherence and coordination with the United Nations system, including, where relevant, through the convening of joint debates and the provision by the Commission of advice and remarks to the Assembly, and encourages the President and the Chair of the respective bodies to hold regular meetings to that end;

5. *Commits* to the continued implementation of its resolution [377 A \(V\)](#) of 3 November 1950, entitled "Uniting for peace", and its resolution [76/262](#) of 26 April 2022 on the veto initiative, to enhance the work of the General Assembly, taking into account its role on matters related to the maintenance of international peace and security, and recognizing the relevance of these resolutions with respect to the fulfilment of the purposes and principles of the Charter, and calls for strengthened transparency and interaction between the General Assembly and the Security Council;

6. *Requests* the President of the General Assembly to continue to prepare detailed summaries following relevant discussions related to the annual report of the Security Council, on the use of the veto or General Assembly resolution [377 A \(V\)](#) or [76/262](#), including recommendations for action based on such discussions;

7. *Decides* to support credible, timely and decisive action by the Security Council in exercise of its primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security, and in this regard calls upon Member States to refrain from measures impeding action to prevent or end the commission of genocide, crimes against humanity or war crimes;

8. *Recognizes* the continued relevance and potential of special reports mandated by Article 15, paragraph 1, and Article 24, paragraph 3, of the Charter, when necessary, and invites the Security Council to continue this practice and to submit such reports, including in connection with the use of the veto;

9. *Reaffirms* the obligation of all Members to fully implement and adhere to all provisions of the Charter as they relate to the decision-making process in the Security Council;

10. *Recalls* that, under Article 24, paragraph 1, of the Charter, the Security Council acts on behalf of the entire membership, and emphasizes that the consideration of the annual report of the Security Council contributes to enhanced transparency on matters relating to the maintenance of international peace and security, and includes an account of the measures that the Council has decided upon or taken to maintain international peace and security as provided for under Article 15, paragraph 1, of the Charter;

11. *Welcomes* the efforts of the Security Council in producing a more comprehensive annual report and the inclusion of a chapter on special reports on the use of the veto in the annual report of the Security Council, as well as the additional information provided in the introduction regarding the use of the veto, reiterates the importance of the Security Council continuing its efforts to improve its annual report to the General Assembly, and in addition welcomes the practice of convening an informal meeting, with due notice, every January to allow Member States and observers to the General Assembly to express their views ahead of the completion of the introduction to the annual report of the Security Council to the General Assembly, and requests the continuation of this practice;

12. *Takes note* of the issuance of the digital handbook¹ on past practices, data and recommendations for the fulfilment of the functions and powers of the General Assembly as outlined in Chapter IV of the Charter, as mandated in resolution 77/335, and encourages its annual update and its wider dissemination among Member States;

13. *Recalls* Article 96 of the Charter and recognizes the contribution of the International Court of Justice, as the principal judicial organ of the United Nations, including through its advisory opinions, and reaffirms the obligation of all States to undertake to comply with the decisions of the International Court of Justice in cases to which they are parties;

14. *Recognizes* the role played by the Special Committee on the Charter of the United Nations and on the Strengthening of the Role of the Organization, including in matters related to the maintenance of international peace and security and in further strengthening its role in accordance with paragraph 1 (a) (ii) of General Assembly resolution 3499 (XXX) of 15 December 1975;

Working methods

15. *Decides* to establish the Working Group on the Strengthening and Revitalizing of the Work of the General Assembly, with the mandate and composition of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly;

16. *Also decides* that the Working Group on the Strengthening and Revitalizing of the Work of the General Assembly will address the following clusters every three years, on a trial basis starting at the eighty-first session, while maintaining an ongoing focus on the implementation of mandates given by the General Assembly and continuing the practice of concurrent discussions of the clusters within each session:

(a) The role, authority and working methods of the General Assembly; the Office of the President of the General Assembly, at the eighty-first session and every three years thereafter;

¹ *Assembly for Peace: A Digital Handbook on the UN General Assembly's Past Practice on Peace and Security*. Available at <https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/4061002?ln=en&v=pdf>.

(b) The process for the selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads, at the eighty-second session and every three years thereafter;

17. *Further decides* that the Working Group will convene, starting from the eightieth session, to review the implementation of the present and past resolutions;

18. *Decides* that the Working Group will consider a resolution every three years, starting at the eighty-third session, except for instances where earlier consideration of a resolution is deemed necessary by the General Assembly, to align with specific timelines related to the work of the Assembly, and issue a report on its deliberations;

19. *Also decides* to review and assess during the eighty-third session the feasibility and impact of the triennial frequency of the resolution and the timetable of the Working Group;

20. *Further decides* to continue the practice of the convening of an annual interactive dialogue between Member States and the Secretariat by the President of the General Assembly;

21. *Strongly encourages* Member States, without prejudice to the sovereign right of Member States to submit resolutions and propose agenda items to the General Assembly and with a view to ensuring more focused work of its deliberations, to reduce the frequency, length and number of resolutions submitted to the Assembly;

22. *Acknowledges* the recurring nature of multiple resolutions adopted by the General Assembly that are substantially similar to their previous versions, and strongly encourages Member States, starting from the eighty-first session, to reintroduce any resolution of such nature only when operational adjustments are being made, without prejudice to the sovereign right of Member States to submit resolutions and with the exception of certain resolutions, including those resolutions relating to the peace and security agenda of the United Nations, which shall maintain their established frequency due to political or procedural character or requirements;

23. *Strongly urges* Member States to limit explanations of vote by delegations, both before and after the vote, to five minutes; written explanations of vote are not limited in length and will be reflected in their entirety in the official records;

24. *Decides*, starting from the eighty-first session, to limit the number of high-level meetings mandated by the General Assembly to be convened during high-level week to a maximum of three, with a view to allowing adequate space and time for delegations to focus on the general debate of the Assembly;

25. *Requests* each of the Main Committees to review their working methods during the eightieth session and submit concrete proposals to the General Committee on how to make their work more efficient and effective;

26. *Requests* the General Committee, based on the proposals received by each of the Main Committees and respecting the specificities and mandates of each Committee, to present, during the eighty-first session, concrete proposals for the consideration of the General Assembly on how to seek synergies and avoid duplication in the work of the Main Committees, with a view to streamlining the agenda of the General Assembly and making it more efficient;

27. *Looks forward* to receiving for the consideration of Member States, during the eightieth session and within the framework of the UN80 Initiative, concrete proposals from the Secretariat, taking into account the necessity to have clearly defined objectives and an evidence-based approach, and aiming at strengthening the impact of the United Nations and enhancing its agility, responsiveness and resilience

while addressing the issue of duplicative efforts and ensuring effective and efficient mandate delivery across all three pillars of the work of the United Nations;

28. *Decides* to simplify the adoption of draft resolutions and decisions recommended by a Main Committee in the General Assembly plenary, subject to the following provisions:

(a) The General Assembly plenary shall first take all votes, one by one, on draft resolutions and decisions recommended by the Main Committee and/or parts thereof where such votes were taken in the Committee; the plenary shall subsequently adopt without a vote in one gavel all other draft resolutions and decisions adopted by the Committee without a vote;

(b) The resolutions and decisions shall be numbered in the order listed in the report of the Main Committee, regardless of whether they were adopted with or without a vote, excluding proposals with programme budget implications;

(c) The procedure for action on proposals with programme budget implications shall remain unchanged, with action taken when the report of the Fifth Committee is available, pursuant to rule 153 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, with all separate and recorded votes taken as applicable;

29. *Requests* the General Committee, in consultation with all Member States, to submit to the General Assembly a proposal to repurpose the agenda to focus on shared priorities and to streamline it to allow for adequate time to consider items and achieve outcomes on items;

30. *Decides* to amend its rules of procedure, effective from the opening of the eightieth session, to read as reflected in annex I to the report of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly,² with a view to reflecting feminine pronouns and gender-specific nouns for women, in all six official languages, in accordance with that annex;

31. *Notes with concern* the significant increase in the number of proposals to proclaim international days, weeks, months, years or decades, and decides, on a trial basis, to put on hold consideration of new proposals for international days, weeks, months, years and decades during the eighty-first and eighty-second sessions, and requests the President of the General Assembly, effective from the eighty-first session, to group all proclamation requests for international commemoration into a single resolution per agenda item, where each proposed commemoration contains its own operative paragraph focused on its establishment;

32. *Decides* to review and assess during the eighty-third session the feasibility and impact of these measures on the efficiency and effectiveness of the work of the General Assembly;

33. *Notes* an increase in the submission of resolutions with a regional scope to the General Assembly, and in this regard calls upon Member States to refrain from submitting such resolutions, with a view to streamlining the work of the Assembly and to make it more focused and impactful;

34. *Reaffirms* that all decisions and resolutions of the General Assembly shall be consistent with the Charter of the United Nations as well as with the financial regulations and rules of the Organization;

² A/79/995.

35. *Decides* to continue the established pattern of geographical rotation of the Chairs of the Main Committees, as contained in the annex to General Assembly resolution [72/313](#) of 17 September 2018, starting with the eighty-fourth session;

36. *Acknowledges* the need for continued work on accessibility of both digital and physical platforms, and in this regard welcomes the roll-out of the iGov platform, recognizing the contribution to transparency and efficiency of the work of the General Assembly and its subsidiary bodies, and requests its extension to publicly available information related to the work of the subsidiary bodies including the Economic and Social Council and the Security Council, to consolidate already available information from different sources;

37. *Takes note* of the organization of Action Days in the lead-up to the high-level week of the general debate, emphasizes that this format contributes to freeing up attention and space for the general debate itself, and encourages its continuation in future sessions of the General Assembly;

Selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads

38. *Reaffirms* the important role played by the Secretary-General in the context of current global challenges and in the implementation of the three pillars of the United Nations, namely peace and security, human rights and development;

39. *Recalls* its resolutions [69/321](#) of 11 September 2015, [70/305](#) of 13 September 2016, [71/323](#) of 8 September 2017, [72/313](#) and [77/335](#), which introduced significant improvements to the selection and appointment process of the Secretary-General, and reaffirms that the process should be guided by the principles set out in the present resolution and previous resolutions;

40. *Underlines* the importance for candidates to embody the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity, and a firm commitment to the purposes and principles of the Charter;

41. *Recalls* paragraph 59 of resolution [77/335](#), and reaffirms previous resolutions on continued efforts towards achieving equal and fair distribution in terms of the gender and geographical balance with regard to appointments of executive heads of the Organization, including the Secretary-General, while meeting the highest possible standards;

42. *Decides*, without prejudice to the prerogatives of the Security Council, and in strict compliance with Article 97 of the Charter, that, starting with the eightieth session, the process for the selection and appointment of the Secretary-General should include the following steps:

(a) The selection process should be formally initiated in the last quarter of the year preceding the end of the incumbent's term through a joint letter of the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council addressed to Member States, announcing the start of the selection process and inviting candidates to be presented, after which nominations of candidates are expected;

(b) The joint letter should invite nominations from Member States and outline the principles of the selection process and notional events, inviting the nomination of candidates;

(c) Noting with regret that no woman has ever held the position of Secretary-General, encourages Member States to strongly consider nominating women as candidates;

(d) The candidates should be nominated by one Member State or by a group of Member States; each Member State may nominate only one candidate, individually or jointly with other Member States;

(e) The President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council will jointly inform Member States as candidatures are being submitted;

(f) A nominating Member State may withdraw a candidate at any time during the process; the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council should be notified of the withdrawal of the candidate submitted anytime during the process and the candidate should be considered automatically withdrawn; if a candidate withdraws, the nominating Member State may subsequently nominate another candidate;

(g) Each candidate should provide a vision statement at the time of the nomination, which will be publicized on the dedicated United Nations web page; each candidate should be given the opportunity to present her or his vision statement; the President of the General Assembly will convene webcast interactive dialogues with all candidates, in accordance with paragraph 42 of resolution [69/321](#); the President of the General Assembly will engage closely, in a transparent and inclusive manner, with Member States;

(h) Each candidate should disclose her or his sources of funding at the time of the nomination;

(i) Candidates holding positions in the United Nations system should consider suspending their work in the United Nations system during the campaign, with a view to avoiding any conflict of interest that may arise from their functions and adjacent advantages;

(j) The President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council should jointly maintain and regularly update a public list of candidates, including the name, nominating State(s), vision statement, curriculum vitae and campaign financing disclosures, published on a dedicated United Nations web page;

(k) The Secretary General shall be appointed by the General Assembly upon the recommendation of the Security Council, in accordance with Article 97 of the Charter;

(l) The selection process should end with the swearing into office of the Secretary-General-designate, as detailed in annex I to resolution [77/335](#), during the last quarter of the year prior to assuming office, bearing in mind the need to allow the Secretary-General-designate sufficient time to prepare for her or his term in office;

(m) In the event of an unforeseen interruption in the term of office of the Secretary-General, the General Assembly and the Security Council should, upon notification from the Executive Office of the Secretary-General, convene without delay to initiate an expedited selection and appointment process in accordance with Article 97 of the Charter and the procedures set out in the present and previous resolutions;

(n) The Secretariat is requested to continue to regularly update the repository of information on past Secretary-General selection processes;

43. *Reiterates its request* to the Secretary-General to continue the ongoing efforts to ensure equitable geographical distribution in the Secretariat and to ensure as wide a geographical distribution of staff as possible in all departments and offices and at all levels, of geographic posts, including at the Director and higher levels of the Secretariat, as set out in resolution [77/335](#);

44. *Reiterates* the need to ensure equal and fair distribution based on gender parity and as wide a geographical basis as possible, while also being diverse from a multilingual perspective, and in this regard recalls its resolutions [46/232](#) of 2 March 1992, [51/241](#) of 31 July 1997, [71/263](#) of 23 December 2016, [72/254](#) of 24 December 2017 and [77/278](#) of 18 April 2023, adopted without a vote, which contain the principles that the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity are the paramount considerations in the recruitment and performance of international civil servants, and that candidates' independence should be considered;

45. *Commends* the creation and further development of the Senior Leadership Talent Pool and the Senior Leadership Vacancies portal, requests the Secretariat to continue the practice of regularly updating these online platforms, calls upon Member States to submit the names and résumés of nationals who may be considered for positions of executive heads and senior management of the Secretariat, and requests the Secretariat to ensure that there is a preliminary public call for candidates in all senior appointments and to share on a regular basis with Member States a list of upcoming vacancies of senior-level posts;

46. *Urges* the Secretary-General and all United Nations entities to firmly uphold a zero-tolerance policy against all types of misconduct;

Strengthening of the accountability, transparency and institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly

47. *Emphasizes* the important role of the President of the General Assembly in the strategic guidance and the overall success of the work of the General Assembly, and thus the United Nations, recognizes that the activities and mandates assigned to the President have increased in recent years, recalls the provisions regarding the support for the Office of the President of the General Assembly in previous resolutions and the annexes to resolution [70/305](#), and expresses continued support to the Office;

48. *Recalls* paragraph 81 of resolution [77/335](#) and notes with concern that only five women have been elected as President of the General Assembly up until the seventy-ninth session and welcomes with appreciation the appointment of the fifth woman, presiding over the General Assembly for its eightieth session, calls upon Member States to continue to nominate women as candidates for this position and further calls upon Member States to explore measures to address the disparity and to also explore concrete steps at the eighty-first session;

49. *Requests* the President of the General Assembly to present to the General Assembly recommendations to strengthen the efficiency, accountability, transparency and institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly;

50. *Stresses* the utmost importance of ensuring a smooth transition between the outgoing and incoming Presidents of the General Assembly, and in this connection emphasizes the critical role of close interaction and coordination between the Offices of the incoming and outgoing Presidents, including the transmission of a handover report, as well as expeditious provision of personnel and financial support through voluntary contributions by Member States to the Office of the incoming President of the General Assembly;

51. *Acknowledges* the efforts of Member States aimed at strengthening and providing the Office of the President of the General Assembly and the President with the adequate means to perform their increasing functions, including thorough voluntary contributions to the trust fund, and strongly encourages more countries to contribute;

52. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to provide to the President of the General Assembly adequate administrative, technical, technological, logistical and protocol-related support necessary to effectively execute the mandates entrusted to the President of a principal organ of the United Nations;

53. *Invites* Member States to consider funding for the President of the General Assembly Fellowship Programme.

Annex I

Amendments to the rules of procedure in all six official languages

Arabic

المادة 4

لأي عضو من أعضاء الأمم المتحدة أن يطلب، قبل التاريخ المحدد لافتتاح الدورة العادية بما لا يقل عن مائة وعشرين يوما، عقد هذه الدورة في مكان غير مقر الأمم المتحدة. ويقوم الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة على الفور بإبلاغ هذا الطلب، مشفوعا بتوصياته/هو بتوصيات، إلى سائر أعضاء الأمم المتحدة. فإذا وافقت أغلبية الأعضاء على الطلب خلال ثلاثين يوما من تاريخ هذا الإبلاغ، تعقد الدورة في المكان المطلوب.

المادة 5

يُشعر الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة أعضاء الأمم المتحدة بتاريخ افتتاح الدورة العادية قبل هذا التاريخ بما لا يقل عن ستين يوما.

المادة 8⁽¹⁾

(أ) تتعقد الجمعية العامة في دورة استثنائية خلال خمسة عشر يوما اعتبارا من تلقي الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة من مجلس الأمن أو من أغلبية أعضاء الأمم المتحدة طلبا بعقد مثل هذه الدورة، أو اعتبارا من تلقيه موافقة أغلبية الأعضاء على الطلب وفقا لنص المادة 9.

(ب) تتعقد الجمعية العامة في دورة استثنائية طارئة وفقا لقرارها 377 ألف (د-5)، خلال أربع وعشرين ساعة من تلقي الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة طلبا من مجلس الأمن طلبا بعقد مثل هذه الدورة يكون قد نال أصوات أي تسعة من أعضائه، أو تلقيه طلبا من أغلبية أعضاء الأمم المتحدة أعربت عنه بالتصويت في "اللجنة المؤقتة" أو على نحو آخر، أو تلقيه موافقة أغلبية الأعضاء وفقا لنص المادة 9.

المادة 9⁽²⁾

(أ) لأي عضو من أعضاء الأمم المتحدة أن يطلب من الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة دعوة الجمعية العامة إلى الانعقاد في دورة استثنائية. ويقوم الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة على الفور بإعلام سائر الأعضاء بهذا الطلب ~~وسألهم عما إذا كانوا يوافقون عليه~~ والسؤال عن موافقتهم عليه. فإذا وافقت أغلبية الأعضاء على هذا الطلب خلال ثلاثين يوما من تاريخ رسالة الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة، تُدعى الجمعية العامة إلى الانعقاد في دورة استثنائية وفق أحكام المادة 8.

(ب) تنطبق هذه المادة أيضا على طلب أي عضو من أعضاء الأمم المتحدة عقد دورة استثنائية طارئة وفقا للقرار 377 ألف (د-5). وفي هذه الحالة، يتصل الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة بسائر الأعضاء بأسرع سبل الاتصال المتاحة له.

(1) انظر المقدمة، الفقرتين 13 و 27.

(2) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 13.

المادة 10⁽⁵⁾

يُشعر الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة أعضاء الأمم المتحدة بموعد افتتاح الدورة الاستثنائية قبل أربعة عشر يوما منه على الأقل إذا تقرر عقدها بناء على طلب مجلس الأمن، وقبل عشرة أيام منه على الأقل إذا تقرر عقدها بناء على طلب أغلبية الأعضاء أو بناء على موافقة الأغلبية على طلب أحد الأعضاء. وفي حالة الدورة الاستثنائية الطارئة التي تُعقد وفق أحكام المادة 8 (ب)، يُشعر الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة الأعضاء بموعد افتتاحها قبل اثنتي عشرة ساعة منه على الأقل.

المادة 12

يعد الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة بإعداد جدول الأعمال المؤقت للدورة العادية ويبلغه وإبلاغه إلى أعضاء الأمم المتحدة قبل موعد افتتاح الدورة بستين يوما على الأقل.

المادة 13

يتضمن جدول الأعمال المؤقت للدورة العادية:

- (أ) تقرير الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة عن أعمال المنظمة؛
- (ب) تقارير مجلس الأمن، والمجلس الاقتصادي والاجتماعي، ومجلس الوصاية، ومحكمة العدل الدولية، والهيئات الفرعية للجمعية العامة، والوكالات المتخصصة (إذا اقتضت الاتفاقات المعقودة معها تقديم هذه التقارير)؛
- (ج) كل البنود التي تكون الجمعية العامة قد قررت في دورة سابقة إدراجها فيه؛
- (د) كل البنود التي تقترحها سائر هيئات الأمم المتحدة الرئيسية؛
- (هـ) كل البنود التي يقترحها أي عضو من أعضاء الأمم المتحدة⁽³⁾.
- (و) كل البنود المتعلقة بميزانية السنة المالية التالية والتقرير المتعلق بحسابات السنة المالية المنتهية؛
- (ز) كل البنود التي يرى الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة ضرورة عرضها على الجمعية العامة؛
- (ح) كل البنود التي تقترحها دول من غير أعضاء الأمم المتحدة وفقا لأحكام الفقرة 2 من المادة 35 من الميثاق.

المادة 14

لأي عضو من أعضاء الأمم المتحدة أو لأية هيئة من هيئاتها الرئيسية أو للأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة طلب إدراج بنود تكميلية في جدول الأعمال وذلك قبل الموعد المحدد لافتتاح الدورة العادية بما لا يقل عن ثلاثين يوما⁽⁵⁾. وتوضع بهذه البنود قائمة تكميلية تبلغ إلى الأعضاء قبل افتتاح الدورة بما لا يقل عن عشرين يوما.

(3) انظر المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 18، والمرفق السادس، الفقرة 2.

المادة 18

لأي عضو من أعضاء الأمم المتحدة أو لأية هيئة من هيئاتها الرئيسية أو للأمين العام/لأمين/ة العام/ة طلب إدراج بنود تكميلية في جدول الأعمال وذلك قبل الموعد المحدد لافتتاح الدورة الاستثنائية بما لا يقل عن أربعة أيام. وتوضع بهذه البنود قائمة تكميلية تُبلغ إلى الأعضاء في أقرب وقت ممكن.

المادة 23⁽¹¹⁾

حين يكون المكتب قد أوصى بإدراج بند ما في جدول الأعمال، تُقصر المناقشة في أمر إدراجه على ثلاثة متكلمين مؤيدين وثلاثة معارضين. ورئيس/ولرئاسة الجمعية العامة أن يحدد تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلمين بمقتضى هذه المادة.

المادة 26

للممثل المناوب أن يتولى مهام الممثل بناء على تسمية رئيس الوفد يجوز للممثل المناوب أو للممثلة المناوبة تولي المهام التمثيلية بناء على تسمية رئاسة الوفد.

المادة 27

تقدم وثائق تفويض الممثلين وأسماء أعضاء الوفد إلى الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة قبل موعد افتتاح الدورة بما لا يقل عن أسبوع إن أمكن. وتصدر وثائق التفويض إما عن رئيس الدولة أو رئيس الحكومة وإما عن وزير الخارجية رئيس/ة الدولة أو رئيس/ة الحكومة وإما عن وزير/ة الخارجية.

المادة 28

تُعين، في بداية كل دورة، لجنة لوثائق التفويض تتألف من تسعة أعضاء تُعينهم الجمعية العامة بناء على اقتراح للرئيس/الرئاسة. وتنتخب اللجنة أعضاء مكتبها بنفسها، وتخصص أوراق اعتماد الممثلين وتقدم تقريرها دون إبطاء.

المادة 29

كل ممثل اعترض أحد الأعضاء على اشتراكه في الدورة كل من كان اشتراكه من الممثلين في الدورة محل اعتراض عضو من الأعضاء يُسمح له بالجلوس بصورة مؤقتة متمتعاً بما يتمتع به سائر الممثلين من حقوق ريثما تقدم لجنة وثائق التفويض تقريرها وتبت الجمعية العامة في الأمر.

خامسا - الرئيس ونواب الرئيس/ة ونواب الرئيس/ة

انتخاب الرئيس ونواب الرئيس/ة ونواب الرئيس/ة

المادة 30⁽⁴⁾

تنتخب الجمعية العامة رئيساً أو رئيسة وواحداً وعشرين نائباً للرئيس⁽⁵⁾ قبل افتتاح الدورة التي سيرأسونها بثلاثة أشهر على الأقل ما لم تقرر خلاف ذلك. ولا يمارس الرئيس ونواب الرئيس الرئيس أو الرئيسة ونوابهما المنتخبون على هذا النحو وظائفهم إلا في بداية الدورة التي انتخبوا لها ويتولون مناصبهم حتى اختتام تلك الدورة⁽⁶⁾. ويجري انتخاب نواب الرئيس النواب بعد انتخاب رؤساء اللجان الرئيسية الست المشار إليها في المادة 98. ويُراعى في انتخابهم كفالة الطابع التمثيلي للمكتب.

الرئيس المؤقت الرئيس/ة المؤقت/ة

المادة 31⁽⁷⁾

لدى افتتاح كل دورة من دورات الجمعية العامة، يتولى الرئاسة إذا لم يكن رئيس تلك الدورة قد انتخب بعد، وفقاً للمادة 30 أعلاه، رئيس الدورة السابقة أو رئيس الوفد الذي انتخب منه رئيس الدورة السابقة، وذلك حتى تنتخب الجمعية رئيساً للدورة الجديدة. لدى افتتاح كل دورة من دورات الجمعية العامة، يتولى الرئاسة إذا لم يكن قد انتُخب من يتولاها بعد، وفقاً للمادة 30 أعلاه، الشخص الذي تولى رئاسة الدورة السابقة أو رئيس/ة الوفد الذي انتخب منه الشخص الذي ترأس الدورة السابقة، وذلك حتى تنتخب الجمعية من يتولى رئاسة الدورة الجديدة.

(4) انظر المقدمة، الفقرات 21 و 22 و 26 و 42 و 52 (أ).

(5) في مرفق القرار 138/33 المؤرخ 19 كانون الأول/ديسمبر 1978 قررت الجمعية العامة ما يلي:

"1 - يُراعى، في انتخاب رئيس الجمعية العامة، المناوبة في شغل هذا المنصب مناوبة جغرافية عادلة بين المناطق المذكورة في الفقرة 4 أدناه.

"2 - يُنتخب نواب رئيس الجمعية العامة الواحد والعشرون وفقاً للنمط التالي، وذلك مع مراعاة أحكام الفقرة 3 أدناه:

"(أ) ستة ممثلين من الدول الأفريقية؛

"(ب) خمسة ممثلين من الدول الآسيوية؛

"(ج) ممثل واحد من إحدى دول أوروبا الشرقية؛

"(د) ثلاثة ممثلين من دول أمريكا اللاتينية؛

"(هـ) ممثلان من دول أوروبا الغربية والدول الأخرى؛

"(و) خمسة ممثلين من أعضاء مجلس الأمن الدائمين.

"3 - غير أن انتخاب رئيس الجمعية العامة يترتب عليه إنقاص واحد من عدد مناصب نواب الرئيس المخصصة للمنطقة التي يُنتخب منها الرئيس.

(6) مادة تستند مباشرة إلى نص وارد في الميثاق (المادة 21، الجملة الثانية).

(7) انظر المقدمة، الفقرات 21 و 22 و 26 و 52 (ب).

الرئيس بالنيابةالرئيس/ة بالنيابة**المادة 32 [105]**

إذا وجد الرئيس ضرورة لتغيبه عن إحدى الجلسات أو عن جزء منها يسمي أحد نواب الرئيس ليقوم مقامه. إذا لم يكن للرئيس/ة بُدٌّ من التغيب عن إحدى الجلسات أو عن جزء منها، تعيّن تسمية من يقوم مقامه من بين النواب.

المادة 33 [105]

لنائب الرئيس، الذي يتولى مهام الرئيس، ما للرئيس من سلطات، وعليه ما على الرئيس من واجبات. يكون لمن يتولى مهام الرئاسة من النواب، ما للرئيس أو الرئيسة من سلطات، وعليه ما عليه أو عليها من واجبات.

تغيير الرئيستغيير الرئيس/ة**المادة 34 [105]**

في حالة عدم استطاعة الرئيس أداء مهام وظيفته يُنتخب رئيس جديد لما تبقى من مدة. في حالة عدم استطاعة الرئيس/ة أداء مهام الرئاسة، يُنتخب شخص جديد لتوليها لما تبقى من مدة.

سلطات الرئيس العامةالسلطات العامة المخولة للرئيس/ة**المادة 35⁽⁸⁾ [106]**

يقوم الرئيس بتتولى الرئاسة، بالإضافة إلى ممارسة السلطات المخولة لها في مواضع أخرى من هذا النظام، بإعلان إعلان افتتاح واختتام كل جلسة عامة من جلسات الدورة، وإدارة المناقشات في الجلسات العامة، وكفالة مراعاة أحكام هذا النظام، وإعطاء الحق في الكلام وطرح الأسئلة وإعلان القرارات. وهي تبت في نقاط نظام ويكون له لها، مع مراعاة أحكام هذا النظام، كامل السيطرة على سير كل جلسة وحفظ النظام فيها. وللرئيس أن يقترح ويجوز للرئاسة أن تقترح على الجمعية العامة، أثناء مناقشة بند ما، تحديد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلمين، وتحديد عدد المرات التي يجوز لكل ممثل أن يتكلم فيها للممثلين تناول الكلمة فيها، وإقفال قائمة المتكلمين أو إقفال باب المناقشة، وله أيضاً أن يقترح ويجوز لها أيضاً أن تقترح تعليق الجلسة أو رفعها أو تأجيل مناقشة البند قيد البحث.

المادة 36⁽¹⁷⁾ [107]

يظل الرئيس، في ممارسته مهام وظيفته، يظل الرئيس/ة، في ممارسته مهام هذه الوظيفة، تحت سلطة الجمعية العامة.

(8) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الأول، الفقرة 39، والمرفق الثالث، الفقرة (ز)، والمرفق الرابع، الفقرتين 39 و 67، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرة 3، والمرفق السادس، الفقرة 7.

الرئيس لا يشترك في التصويت**لا اشتراك للرئيس/ة في التصويت****المادة 37 [104]**

لا يشترك الرئيس، أو نائب الرئيس الذي يتولى مهام الرئيس، في التصويت بل يسمي عضواً آخر من أعضاء وفده للتصويت بدلاً منه لا يجوز للرئيس/ة أو لمن يتولى مهام الرئاسة بالنيابة الاشتراك في التصويت بل يتعين تسمية عضو آخر من أعضاء الوفد للقيام بذلك.

المادة 38⁽⁹⁾

يتكون المكتب من رئيس الجمعية العامة، الذي يتولى رئاسته، ومن نواب الرئيس الواحد والعشرين ورؤساء اللجان الرئيسية الست. يتكون المكتب من رئيس/ة الجمعية العامة ومن نواب الرئيس/ة الواحد والعشرين ورؤساء اللجان الرئيسية الست. ويتولى الرئيس/ة رئاسة المكتب. ولا يجوز أن ينتمي أي اثنين من أعضاء المكتب إلى وفد واحد، ويراعى في تشكيله كفالة طابعه التمثيلي، أما رؤساء اللجان الأخرى التي يحق لكل الأعضاء أن يمثلوا فيها، والتي تنشئها الجمعية العامة لتجتمع خلال الدورة، فلهم حضور جلسات المكتب والاشتراك في المناقشة دون أن يكون لهم حق التصويت.

المادة 39⁽¹⁰⁾

إذا وجد أحد نواب رئيس الجمعية العامة ضرورة لتغيّبه عن إحدى جلسات المكتب، فله أن يسمي أحد أعضاء وفده ليقوم مقامه. أما إذا تغيب رئيس لجنة رئيسية، فعليه أن يسمي أحد نائبيه ليقوم مقامه. ولا يتمتع نائب رئيس اللجنة بحق التصويت إذا كان من وفد ينتمي إليه أي عضو آخر من أعضاء المكتب. إذا لم يكن لفرد من نواب رئيس/ة الجمعية العامة بُدٌّ من التغيب عن إحدى جلسات المكتب، يجوز له تسمية عضو من أعضاء وفده ليقوم مقامه. أما إذا تعيّن على فرد من رؤساء اللجان الرئيسية التغيب، فعليه تسمية من يقوم مقامه من بين نوابه في رئاسة اللجنة. ولا يكون لمن ينوب عن رئيس/ة اللجنة حق التصويت إذا كان من وفد ينتمي إليه أي عضو آخر من أعضاء المكتب.

المادة 41⁽²⁰⁾

يقدم المكتب إلى الجمعية العامة توصيات بشأن تاريخ اختتام الدورة. وهو يساعد الرئيس الرئاسة والجمعية العامة في إعداد جدول أعمال كل جلسة عامة. وفي تقرير الأولويات بين بنوده، وفي تنسيق أعمال كل لجان الجمعية، كما يساعد الرئيس الرئاسة في القيام عموماً بتصريف ما يقع في نطاق اختصاص الرئيس اختصاصها من أعمال الجمعية العامة، على أنه لا يجوز للمكتب أن يبت في أية مسألة سياسية.

(9) انظر المقدمة، الفقرات 11 و 19 و 21 و 22 و 26 و 42 و 48.

(10) انظر المقدمة، الفقرات 19 و 21 و 34؛ وانظر أيضاً المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 10.

المادة 42⁽¹¹⁾

يجتمع المكتب بصورة دورية، أثناء كل دورة، لاستعراض تقدم أعمال الجمعية العامة ولجانها، وإصدار التوصيات الرامية إلى زيادة هذا التقدم. ويجتمع المكتب أيضا كلما رأى الرئيس رأت الرئاسة ضرورة اجتماعه أو بناء على طلب أي عضو آخر من أعضائه.

واجبات الأمين العام

واجبات الأمين/ة العام/ة

المادة 45

يتولى الأمين العام أعماله بصفته هذه في كل اجتماعات الجمعية العامة⁽²²⁾ ولجانها ولجانها الفرعية، وله أن يسمي أحد موظفي الأمانة العامة ليقوم بمقامه في هذه الاجتماعات. يتولى الأمين/ة العام/ة أعماله بهذه الصفة في كل اجتماعات الجمعية العامة⁽¹²⁾ ولجانها ولجانها الفرعية، ويجوز تسمية من يقوم بمقامه في هذه الاجتماعات من بين موظفي الأمانة العامة.

المادة 46

يوفر الأمين العام الأمين/ة العام/ة الموظفين اللازمين للجمعية العامة أو لأية لجان أو أية هيئات فرعية تنشئها ويتولى الإشراف عليهم.

واجبات الأمانة العامة

تقرير الأمين العام الأمين/ة العام/ة عن أعمال المنظمة

المادة 48

يُقدم الأمين العام الأمين/ة العام/ة إلى الجمعية العامة تقريرا سنويا وما يلزم من التقارير التكميلية عن أعمال المنظمة⁽¹²⁾، ويبلغ التقرير السنوي إلى أعضاء الأمم المتحدة قبل موعد افتتاح الدورة بما لا يقل عن خمسة وأربعين يوما.

المادة 49⁽¹³⁾

يقوم الأمين العام الأمين/ة العام/ة، بموافقة مجلس الأمن، بإخطار الجمعية العامة في كل دورة بأية مسائل متصلة بحفظ السلم والأمن الدوليين تكون محل نظر مجلس الأمن، وكذلك بإخطار الجمعية العامة، أو أعضاء الأمم المتحدة إذا لم تكن الجمعية العامة منعقدة، فور انقطاع مجلس الأمن عن النظر في تلك المسائل.

(11) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الأول، الفقرة 20، والمرفق الثالث، الفقرة (و)، والمرفق الرابع، الفقرتين 13 و 14، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرة 2، والمرفق السادس، الفقرة 4، والمرفق السابع، الفقرة 5.

(12) مادة تستند مباشرة إلى نص وارد في الميثاق (المادة 98).

(13) مادة منقولة عن نص وارد في الميثاق (المادة 12، الفقرة 2).

المادة 53⁽²⁸⁾

لأي ممثل أن يتكلم يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة التكلم بلغة غير لغات الجمعية العامة. وفي هذه الحالة يكون عليه هو أن يترتب عليه أو عليها ترتيب أمر الترجمة الشفوية لكلمته إلى إحدى لغات الجمعية العامة أو اللجنة المعنية. وعلى المترجمين الشفويين التابعين للأمانة العامة، لدى ترجمتها إلى بقية لغات الجمعية العامة أو اللجنة المعنية، أن يستندوا الاستناد إلى تلك الترجمة الشفوية المقدمة باللغة الأولى.

المادة 58⁽¹⁴⁾

(أ) تعد الأمانة العامة محاضر حرفية لجلسات الجمعية العامة ولجلسات لجنة نزع السلاح والأمن الدولي (اللجنة الأولى) وتقدمها إلى كل من هاتين الهيئتين بعد اعتمادها من رئيسها رئاستها. وتقرر الجمعية العامة شكل المحاضر التي تعد لجلسات اللجان الرئيسية الأخرى، وإذا لزم الأمر، لجلسات الهيئات الفرعية والاجتماعات والمؤتمرات الخاصة. ولا يجوز أن تعد لأية هيئة من هيئات الجمعية العامة محاضر حرفية ومحاضر موجزة في آن معا.

(ب) تُعد الأمانة العامة تسجيلات صوتية لجلسات الجمعية العامة واللجان الرئيسية. وتُعد مثل هذه التسجيلات أيضا لمداولات الهيئات الفرعية والاجتماعات والمؤتمرات الخاصة متى قررت هذه ذلك.

المادة 59

يبلغ الأمين العام الأمين العام/ة القرارات التي تتخذها الجمعية العامة إلى أعضاء الأمم المتحدة في غضون خمسة عشر يوما من اختتام الدورة.

المادة 61

كل قرارات الجمعية العامة المتخذة في جلسة سرية تُعلن في جلسة علنية تتلوها بوقت قريب. ولدى انتهاء كل جلسة سرية من جلسات اللجان الرئيسية وغيرها من اللجان واللجان الفرعية، يجوز لرئيس اللجنة المعنية أن يصدر بلاغا بواسطة الأمين العام يجوز لرئاسة اللجنة المعنية أن تصدر بلاغا بواسطة الأمين العام/ة.

المادة 62⁽¹⁵⁾

فور افتتاح أول جلسة عامة وقبل اختتام آخر جلسة عامة مباشرة، في كل دورة من دورات الجمعية العامة، يدعو الرئيس الرئيس/ة الممثلين إلى التزام الصمت دقيقة واحدة تُكرس للصلاة أو التأمل.

المادة 63⁽¹⁶⁾

خلافًا لأحكام أية مادة أخرى من مواد هذا النظام وما لم تُقرر الجمعية العامة خلاف ذلك، تقتصر اجتماعات الجمعية، في حال انعقادها في دورة استثنائية طارئة، على الجلسات العامة؛ وتتصرف الجمعية مباشرة إلى النظر في البند المقترح نظره في طلب عقد الدورة المذكورة، وذلك دون إحالته مُسبقًا إلى مكتبها

(14) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 34؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 108، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرة 27.

(15) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11.

(16) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 13.

أو إلى أية لجنة أخرى؛ ويكون رئيس الوفد الذي انتُخب منه رئيس الدورة السابقة رئيساً للدورة الاستثنائية الطارئة، ورؤساء الوفود التي انتُخب منها نواب رئيس الدورة السابقة نواباً لرئيس الدورة الاستثنائية الطارئة ويتراأس الدورة الاستثنائية الطارئة رئيس/ة الوفد الذي انتُخب منه رئيس/ة الدورة السابقة، ويكون رؤساء الوفود التي انتُخب منها نواب رئيس/ة الدورة السابقة نواباً لرئيس/ة الدورة الاستثنائية الطارئة.

تقرير الأمين العام

تقرير الأمين/ة العام/ة

المادة 64

تبت الجمعية العامة في المقترحات الرامية إلى إحالة أي جزء من تقرير الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة إلى إحدى اللجان الرئيسية من غير مناقشة وذلك دون إحالة هذه المقترحات مسبقاً إلى مكتبها.

المادة 67⁽¹⁷⁾ [108]

لرئيس أن يعلن افتتاح الجلسة وأن يسمح للرئيس/ة إعلان افتتاح الجلسة والسماح بسير المناقشة عند حضور ثلث أعضاء الجمعية العامة على الأقل. ويلزم حضور أغلبية الأعضاء لاتخاذ أي قرار.

المادة 68⁽¹⁸⁾ [109]

لا يجوز لأي ممثل أن يتكلم في الجمعية العامة دون الحصول مسبقاً على إذن من الرئيس. ويدعو الرئيس المتكلمين إلى الكلام حسب ترتيب إبدائهم الرغبة في الكلام. وللرئيس أن يُنبه المتكلم إلى مراعاة النظام إذا خرجت أقواله عن الموضوع قيد المناقشة.

لا يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة التكلم في الجمعية العامة دون الحصول مسبقاً على إذن من الرئاسة. وتدعو الرئاسة المتكلمين إلى الكلام حسب ترتيب إبدائهم الرغبة في تناول الكلمة. وللرئاسة أن تُنبه أيّاً من المتكلمين إلى مراعاة النظام إذا خرجت أقواله عن الموضوع قيد المناقشة.

المادة 70 [112]

للأمين العام، أو لأي عضو في الأمانة العامة يسميه الأمين العام ممثلاً له، أن يُدلي بجوز للأمين/ة العام/ة، أو لعضو يسميه لتمثيله من بين أعضاء الأمانة العامة، الإدلاء في أي وقت ببيانات شفوية أو كتابية في الجمعية العامة بشأن أية مسألة تكون قيد نظرها.

المادة 71⁽¹⁹⁾ [113]

لأي ممثل أن يُثير نقطة نظام أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، ويبت الرئيس في نقطة النظام هذه فوراً. وفقاً لأحكام النظام الداخلي، وللممثل أن يطعن في قرار الرئيس، فيُطرح الطعن للتصويت فوراً، ويبقى قرار الرئيس قائماً ما لم تُبطله أغلبية الحاضرين المصوتين. ولا يجوز للممثل الذي يتكلم في نقطة نظام أن يتكلم في غضون المسألة قيد المناقشة. يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة إثارة نقطة نظام أثناء مناقشة أية

(17) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 34؛ وانظر أيضاً المرفق الثالث، الفقرة (ز) '1'. والمرفق الرابع، الفقرة 67، والمرفق السادس، الفقرة 7.

(18) انظر المرفق الثالث، الفقرة (ز) '2'، والمرفق الرابع، الفقرات 69-71، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرة 17.

(19) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11؛ وانظر أيضاً المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 79.

مسألة، وتبت الرئاسة في نقطة النظام هذه فوراً، وفقاً لأحكام النظام الداخلي، ويجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة الطعن في قرار الرئاسة، فيطرح الطعن للتصويت فوراً؛ ويبقى قرار الرئاسة قائماً ما لم تُبطله أغلبية الأعضاء الحاضرين المصوتين. ولا يجوز لمن تناول الكلمة من الممثلين في إطار نقطة نظام التكلم في مضمون المسألة قيد المناقشة.

المادة 72⁽²⁰⁾ [114]

للجمعية العامة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به لكل متكلم وعدد المرات التي يجوز فيها لكل ممثل أن يتكلم للمتكلمين وعدد المرات التي يجوز فيها للممثلين التكلم في مسألة بعينها. وقبل البت في أي اقتراح بفرض مثل هذه القيود، يُسمح لاثنتين من الممثلين بالكلام في تأييده، ولاثنتين من الممثلين بالكلام في معارضته، فإذا خُددت مدة المناقشة، وتجاوز أحد الممثلين الوقت المخصص له، كان على الرئيس أن يُبهره وتجاوز أي ممثل أو ممثلة الوقت المخصص للتكلم، كان على الرئاسة أن تصدر تنبيهاً في الحال إلى وجوب مراعاة النظام.

المادة 73⁽²¹⁾ [115]

لرئيس، أثناء المناقشة، أن يعلن قائمة المتكلمين؛ كما يجوز له، بموافقة الجمعية العامة، أن يعلن إقفال القائمة. إلا أن له أن يعطي حق الرد لأي عضو من الأعضاء إذا دعت كلمة أُلقيت بعد إعلان إقفال القائمة إلى استصواب ذلك. يجوز للرئاسة، أثناء المناقشة، أن تعلن قائمة المتكلمين؛ كما يجوز لها، بموافقة الجمعية العامة، أن تعلن إقفال القائمة. لكن يجوز للرئاسة إعطاء حق الرد لأي عضو من الأعضاء إذا استصوبت ذلك عقب كلمة أُلقيت بعد إعلانها إقفال القائمة.

المادة 74⁽²²⁾ [116]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة، أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، اقتراح تأجيل مناقشة البند قيد البحث. ويجوز لممثلين اثنين لممثلين أو ممثلتين، بالإضافة إلى مقدم من قدم الاقتراح، أن يتكلموا بالتكلم في تأييد الاقتراح ولممثلين اثنين ولممثلتين أو ممثلتين أن يتكلموا بالتكلم في معارضته، ثم يُطرح الاقتراح فوراً للتصويت، وللرئيس أن يحدد ويجوز للرئاسة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلمين بمقتضى هذه المادة.

المادة 75⁽³⁸⁾ [117]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة، في أي وقت، اقتراح إقفال باب مناقشة المسألة قيد البحث سواء وجد أم لم يوجد ممثل آخر أبدى من بين الممثلين الآخرين من أبدى رغبته في الكلام. ولا يُسمح بالكلام في مسألة إقفال باب المناقشة لغير متكلمين اثنين يعارضان الإقفال، ثم يُطرح الاقتراح فوراً للتصويت. فإذا أيدت الجمعية العامة الإقفال، يعلن الرئيس إقفال باب المناقشة، وللرئيس أن يحدد تُعلن الرئاسة إقفال باب المناقشة، ويجوز لها أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلمين بمقتضى هذه المادة.

(20) انظر المقدمة، الفقرتين 11 و 34.

(21) انظر المرفق الرابع، الفقرات 46 و 69 و 77 و 78، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرات 8-11.

(22) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11.

المادة 76⁽³⁸⁾ [118]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة، أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، اقتراح تعليق الجلسة أو رفعها، ولا يكون مثل هذا الاقتراح محل مناقشة بل يُطرح للتصويت على الفور. وللرئيس أن يحدد ويجوز للرئاسة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلم الذي لمن يقترح من المتكلمين تعليق الجلسة أو رفعها.

المادة 78⁽²³⁾ [120]

تُقدم الاقتراحات والتعديلات، في العادة، كتابة إلى الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة الذي يقوم بتعميم نسخ منها على الوفود. ولا يجوز، كقاعدة عامة، مناقشة أي اقتراح أو طرحه للتصويت في أية جلسات من جلسات الجمعية العامة ما لم تكن قد عُمت نسخ منه على جميع الوفود في موعد لا يتأخر عن اليوم السابق ليوم انعقاد تلك الجلسة. إلا أن للرئيس أن يأذن لكن يجوز للرئاسة الآن بمناقشة وبحث التعديلات أو الاقتراحات الإجرائية، حتى إن لم تكن هذه التعديلات والاقتراحات قد عُمت على الوفود أو إن لم تكن قد عُمت إلا في اليوم نفسه.

المادة 80 [122]

لصاحب الاقتراح أن يسحبه يجوز لمن أدلى بالاقتراح سحبَه في أي وقت شاء قبل بدء التصويت عليه، شرط ألا يكون الاقتراح قد أصبح محل تعديل. ولأي عضو من الأعضاء أن يُعيد تقديم الاقتراح المسحوب على هذه الصورة.

المادة 87⁽²⁴⁾ [127]

(أ) تصوت الجمعية العامة عادة برفع الأيدي أو بالوقوف، ولكن لأي ممثل أن يطلب يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة طلب التصويت بندااء الأسماء. ويجري نداء الأسماء حسب الترتيب الهجائي الإنكليزي لأسماء الأعضاء، ابتداء بالعضو الذي يسحب الرئيس/الرئيس/ة اسمه بالفرقة. وفي كل تصويت بندااء الأسماء، ينادى كل عضو باسمه، فيردّ أحد ممثليه الشخص الذي يمثلُه بـ "نعم" أو "لا" أو "ممتنع". وتُنبت نتيجة التصويت في المحضر حسب الترتيب الهجائي الإنكليزي لأسماء الأعضاء.

(ب) لدى تصويت الجمعية العامة بواسطة الجهاز الآلي، يحل التصويت غير المسجل محل التصويت برفع الأيدي أو بالوقوف ويحل التصويت المسجل محل التصويت بندااء الأسماء. ولأي ممثل أن يطلب ويجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة طلب التصويت المسجل. وفي حالة التصويت المسجل، تستغني الجمعية العامة عن إجراء نداء أسماء الأعضاء ما لم يطلب أحد الممثلين ممثل أو ممثلة خلاف ذلك؛ على أن نتيجة التصويت تنبث في المحضر على غرار إثبات نتيجة التصويت بندااء الأسماء.

(23) انظر المرفق الرابع، الفقرتين 87 و 88.

(24) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 28؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 84، والمرفق السابع، الفقرة 2.

المادة 88⁽²⁵⁾ [128]

بعد أن يُعلن الرئيس بدء عملية التصويت، لا يجوز لأي ممثل أن يقطع التصويت إلا لإثارة نقطة نظام تتعلق بطريقة إجراء التصويت. وللرئيس أن يأذن للأعضاء بتعليق تصويتهم إما قبل التصويت أو بعده، إلا عندما يكون التصويت بالاقتراع السري. وللرئيس أن يحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به لتعليق التصويت. ولا يجوز للرئيس أن يأذن لمصاحب اقتراح أو تعديل بأن يعطل تصويته على الاقتراح أو التعديل الذي قدمه. بعد أن تُعلن الرئاسة بدء عملية التصويت، لا يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة قطع التصويت إلا لإثارة نقطة نظام تتعلق بطريقة إجراء التصويت. ويجوز للرئاسة الإذن للأعضاء بتعليق تصويتهم إما قبل التصويت أو بعده، إلا عندما يكون التصويت بالاقتراع السري. ويجوز لها أيضا تحديد الوقت الذي يُسمح به لتعليق التصويت. ولا يجوز للرئاسة الإذن لمن قدم اقتراحا أو تعديلا بتعليق تصويته على الاقتراح أو التعديل الذي قدمه.

المادة 89⁽²⁶⁾ [129]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة اقتراح إجراء تصويت مستقل على أجزاء من اقتراح أو من تعديل. وإذا أثير اعتراض على طلب التجزئة يُطرح اقتراح التجزئة للتصويت. ولا يُسمح بالكلام في اقتراح التجزئة لغير متكلمين اثنين يؤيدانه ومتكلمين اثنين يعارضانه. فإذا قُبِلَ اقتراح التجزئة فإن أجزاء الاقتراح أو التعديل التي تُعتمد تُطرح للتصويت عليها مجتمعة. وإذا رُفضت جميع أجزاء منطوق الاقتراح أو التعديل، يُعتبر الاقتراح أو التعديل مرفوضا بمجموعه.

المادة 93 [132]

إذا أُريدَ انتخاب شخص واحد أو عضو واحد فقط ولم يحصل أيُّ مرشح أي مرشح أو مرشحة في الاقتراع الأول على الأغلبية اللازمة، يجري اقتراح ثان يقتصر على المرشحين الشخصيين اللذين حصلا من بين المرشحين على أكبر عدد من الأصوات. فإذا انقسمت الأصوات بالتساوي في الاقتراع الثاني، وكان الأمر يتطلب الأغلبية، يفصل الرئيس/الرئيسة بين هذين المرشحين بينهما بالقرعة. أما إذا كان الأمر يتطلب أغلبية الثلثين، فيواصل الاقتراع حتى يحصل أحدهما على أغلبية ثلثي الأصوات المدلى بها؛ على أنه يجوز، بعد ثالث اقتراح غير حاسم، التصويت لأي شخص أو عضو تتوفر فيه شروط الانتخاب. فإذا أُجريت ثلاثة من هذه الاقتراعات غير المقيدة دون أن تسفر عن نتيجة حاسمة، تُقصر الاقتراعات الثلاثة التي تليها على المرشحين الشخصيين اللذين حصلا من بين المرشحين على أكبر عدد من الأصوات في ثالث اقتراح غير مقيد، وتكون الاقتراعات الثلاثة التي تلي هذه مقيدة، وهلم جرا، حتى يتم انتخاب شخص أو عضو. ولا تخل أحكام هذه المادة بتطبيق المواد 143 و 144 و 146 و 148.

المادة 101

للمستشارين أو المستشارين الفنيين أو الخبراء أو من هم في حكمهم من الأشخاص، لدى تسميتهم من قبل رئيس رئيسة الوفد، أن يعملوا بصفة أعضاء في اللجان على أنه لا يجوز انتخاب أمثال هؤلاء

(25) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الرابع، الفقرات 74-76، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرات 6 و 7 و 11.

(26) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11.

الأشخاص رؤساء للجان أو نوابا لرؤسائها أو مقررين لها، أو لشغل مقاعد في الجمعية العامة، ما لم يعينوا بصفة ممثلين مناوبين.

المادة 103⁽²⁷⁾ [92]

~~تنتخب كل لجنة رئيسية رئيسا لها، وثلاثة نواب للرئيس، ومقررا. أما اللجان الأخرى فتنتخب كل منها رئيسا، ونائبا للرئيس أو أكثر، ومقررا. ويتم انتخاب أعضاء المكتب هؤلاء على أساس التوزيع الجغرافي العادل، والخبرة، والكفاءة الشخصية. ويجري الانتخاب بالاقتراع السري، إلا إذا قررت اللجنة غير ذلك حين لا يكون هناك سوى مرشح واحد. ويقتصر على متكلم واحد لتقديم كل مرشح، ثم تنتقل اللجنة فورا إلى إجراء الانتخاب. تنتخب كل لجنة رئيسية عضوا يتولى رئاستها وثلاثة نواب يقومون مقامه، كما تنتخب مقررا أو مقررة. أما اللجان الأخرى فتنتخب كل منها عضوا يتولى رئاستها، وواحدا أو أكثر من النواب للقيام مقامه، كما تنتخب مقررا أو مقررة. ويتم انتخاب أعضاء المكتب هؤلاء على أساس التوزيع الجغرافي العادل، والخبرة، والكفاءة الشخصية. ويجري الانتخاب بالاقتراع السري، إلا إذا قررت اللجنة غير ذلك حين لا يكون هناك من المرشحين سوى واحد أو واحدة. ولا يتناول الكلمة لتقديم كل مرشح أو مرشحة إلا شخص واحد، ثم تنتقل اللجنة فورا إلى إجراء الانتخاب.~~

~~رئيس اللجنة الرئيسية لا يشترك في التصويت~~

~~لا اشترك لرئيس/ة اللجنة الرئيسية في التصويت~~

المادة 104 [37]

~~لا يشترك رئيس اللجنة الرئيسية لا يجوز لرئيس/ة اللجنة الرئيسية الاشتراك في التصويت، ولكن يجوز لعضو آخر من أعضاء وفده التصويت بدلا منه.~~

المادة 105⁽²⁸⁾ [32-34]

~~إذا وجد الرئيس ضرورة لتغيبه عن إحدى الجلسات أو عن جزء منها، يُسمى أحد نائبي الرئيس ليقوم مقامه. ولنائب الرئيس الذي يتولى مهام الرئيس ما للرئيس من سلطات وعليه ما على الرئيس من واجبات. إذا لم يكن للرئيس/ة بُدٌّ من التغيب عن إحدى الجلسات أو عن جزء منها، تُعين تسمية أحد نائبي أو إحدى نائبي الرئيس/ة للقيام مقامه. ويكون لمن يتولى مهام الرئاسة من بين هاتين ما للرئيس~~

(27) انظر المقدمة، الفقرتين 34 و 49؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الرابع، الفقرات 40 و 54 إلى 57. والمرفق الخامس، الفقرات 18 إلى 20، والمعلومات الواردة في الحاشية 14.

وقررت الجمعية العامة، بقرارها 313/72 المؤرخ 17 أيلول/سبتمبر 2018، أن تحدد نمط تناوب رؤساء اللجان الرئيسية في الدورة الرابعة والسبعين إلى الدورة الثالثة والثمانين، على النحو الوارد في مرفق القرار.

انظر أيضا قرار الجمعية العامة 307/68، المؤرخ 10 أيلول/سبتمبر 2014، الذي ينص على انتخاب مقرر اللجنة الرئيسية من المجموعة الإقليمية التي تولت رئاسة اللجنة في الدورة السابقة (المرفق، الفقرة 4).

(28) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 34.

أو الرئيسة من سلطات وعليه ما عليه أو عليها من واجبات. وفي حالة عدم استطاعة أحد أعضاء مكتب اللجنة أداء مهام وظيفته ينتخب عضو جديد لما تبقى من مدة ولايته.

وظائف رئيس اللجنة

وظائف رئيس/ة اللجنة

المادة 106⁽²⁹⁾ [35]

يقوم الرئيس تقوم رئاسة اللجنة بإعلان افتتاح واختتام كل جلسة من جلسات اللجنة جلساتها، وإدارة المناقشات، وكفالة مراعاة أحكام هذا النظام، وإعطاء الحق في الكلام وطرح الأسئلة وإعلان القرارات، ويبت الرئيس وتبث الرئاسة في نقاط نظام ويكون له لها، مع مراعاة أحكام هذا النظام، كامل السيطرة على سير كل جلسة وحفظ النظام فيها، وللرئيس أن يقترح وللرئاسة أن تقترح على اللجنة، أثناء مناقشة بند ما، تحديد الوقت الذي يسمح به للمتكلمين، وتحديد عدد المرات التي يجوز لكل ممثل أن يتكلم فرد من الممثلين التكلم فيها، وإقفال قائمة المتكلمين أو إقفال باب المناقشة. وله ولها أيضا أن يقترح تعليق الجلسة أو رفعها أو تأجيل مناقشة البند قيد البحث.

المادة 107⁽⁵²⁾ [36]

يظل الرئيس الرئيس/ة، في ممارسته مهام وظيفته هذه الوظيفة، تحت سلطة اللجنة.

المادة 108⁽³⁰⁾ [67]

للرئيس أن يعلن للرئاسة أن تعلن افتتاح الجلسة وأن يسمح تسمح بسير المناقشة عند حضور ربع أعضاء اللجنة على الأقل. ويلزم حضور أغلبية الأعضاء لاتخاذ أي قرار.

المادة 109⁽³¹⁾ [68]

لا يجوز لأي ممثل أن يتكلم في اللجنة دون الحصول مسبقا على إذن من الرئيس، ويدعو الرئيس المتكلمين إلى الكلام حسب ترتيب إبدائهم الرغبة في الكلام. وللرئيس أن ينبه المتكلم لا يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة التكلم في اللجنة دون الحصول مسبقا على إذن من الرئاسة، وتدعو الرئاسة المتكلمين إلى الكلام حسب ترتيب إبدائهم الرغبة في الكلام. وللرئاسة أن تنبه المتكلمين إلى مراعاة النظام إذا خرجت أقواله في حال الخروج عن الموضوع قيد المناقشة.

(29) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11، وانظر أيضا المرفق الأول، الفقرة 39، والمرفق الثالث، الفقرة (ز)، والمرفق الرابع، الفقرتين 39 و 67، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرتين 3 و 22، والمرفق السادس، الفقرتين 6 و 7.

(30) انظر المقدمة، الفقرتين 11 و 34.

(31) انظر المرفق الثالث، الفقرة (ز) '2'، والمرفق الرابع، الفقرات 69-71، والمرفق السادس، الفقرة 6.

المادة 110⁽³²⁾

لا يتولى التعبير لا يقوم بالتعبير عن التهاني لأعضاء مكتب أية لجنة رئيسية إلا رئيسها من تولى رئاستها في الدورة السابقة أو - في حالة غيابه - أحد أعضاء وفده، وذلك بعد الانتهاء من انتخاب جميع أعضاء مكتب اللجنة المعنية.

المادة 111 [69]

يجوز إعطاء الأسبقية في الكلام لرئيس الرئيس/لجنة اللجنة أو اللجنة الفرعية ولمقررها ولمقرريها أو مقرريها بغية شرح النتائج التي خلصت إليها اللجنة أو اللجنة الفرعية.

المادة 112 [70]

للأمين العام، أو لأي عضو في الأمانة العامة يسميه الأمين العام ممثلاً له، أن يدلي بجوز للأمين/ة العام/ة، أو لعضو يسميه لتمثيله من بين أعضاء الأمانة العامة، الإدلاء في أي وقت ببيانات شفوية أو كتابية في أية لجنة أو لجنة فرعية بشأن أية مسألة تكون قيد نظرها.

المادة 113⁽³³⁾ [71]

لأي ممثل أن يشير نقطة نظام أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، ويبت الرئيس في هذه النقطة النظامية فوراً، وفقاً لأحكام النظام الداخلي، وللممثل أن يطعن في قرار الرئيس، فيطرح الطعن للتصويت فوراً، ويبقى قرار الرئيس قائماً ما لم تبطله أغلبية الأعضاء الحاضرين المصوتين. ولا يجوز للممثل الذي يتكلم في نقطة نظام أن يتكلم في مضمون المسألة قيد المناقشة. يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة إثارة نقطة نظام أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، وتبت الرئاسة في هذه النقطة النظامية فوراً، وفقاً لأحكام النظام الداخلي، ويجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة الطعن في قرار الرئاسة، فيطرح الطعن للتصويت فوراً، ويبقى قرار الرئاسة قائماً ما لم تبطله أغلبية الأعضاء الحاضرين المصوتين. ولا يجوز لمن تناول الكلمة من الممثلين في إطار نقطة نظام التكلم في مضمون المسألة قيد المناقشة.

المادة 114⁽³⁴⁾ [72]

للجنة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به لكل متكلم للمتكلمين وعدد المرات التي يجوز فيها لكل ممثل أن يتكلم للممثلين التكلم في مسألة بعينها، وقبل البت في أي اقتراح يفرض مثل هذه القيود، يُسمح لاثنتين من الممثلين بالكلام في تأييده ولاثنتين من الممثلين بالكلام في معارضته. فإذا حددت مدة المناقشة، وتجاوز أحد الممثلين الوقت المخصص له ممثل أو ممثلة الوقت المخصص للتكلم كان على الرئيس أن ينبهه الرئاسة أن تصدر تنبيهاً في الحال إلى وجوب مراعاة النظام.

(32) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 34.

(33) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11؛ وانظر أيضاً المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 79.

(34) انظر المقدمة، الفقرتين 11 و 34.

المادة 115⁽³⁵⁾ [73]

الرئيس، أثناء المناقشة، أن يُعلن قائمة المتكلمين، كما يجوز له، بموافقة اللجنة، أن يُعلن إقفال القائمة، إلا أن له أن يعطي حق الرد لأي عضو من الأعضاء إذا دعت كلمة أُلقيت بعد إعلان إقفال القائمة إلى استصواب ذلك. يجوز للرئاسة، أثناء المناقشة، أن تُعلن قائمة المتكلمين، كما يجوز لها، بموافقة اللجنة، أن تعلن إقفال القائمة، لكن يجوز للرئاسة إعطاء حق الرد لأي عضو من الأعضاء إذا استصوبت ذلك عقب كلمة أُلقيت بعد إعلانها إقفال القائمة.

المادة 116⁽³⁶⁾ [74]

لأي ممثل، أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، أن يقترح تأجيل مناقشة البند قيد البحث، ويجوز لممثلين اثنين، بالإضافة إلى مُقدم الاقتراح، أن يتكلموا في تأييد الاقتراح ولممثلين اثنين أن يتكلموا في معارضته، ثم يُطرح الاقتراح فوراً للتصويت. وللرئيس أن يُحدد الوقت الذي يسمح به للمتكلمين بمقتضى هذه المادة. يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة، أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، اقتراح تأجيل مناقشة البند قيد البحث، ويجوز لممثلين أو ممثنتين، بالإضافة إلى من قدم الاقتراح، التكلم في تأييد الاقتراح ولممثلين أو ممثنتين التكلم في معارضته، ثم يُطرح الاقتراح فوراً للتصويت. ويجوز للرئاسة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يسمح به للمتكلمين بمقتضى هذه المادة.

المادة 117⁽⁵⁹⁾ [75]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة، في أي وقت، اقتراح إقفال باب مناقشة المسألة قيد البحث سواء وُجد أم لم يوجد ممثل آخر من بين الممثلين الآخرين من أبدى رغبته في الكلام. ولا يُسمح بالكلام في مسألة إقفال باب المناقشة لغير متكلمين اثنين يعارضان الإقفال، ثم يُطرح الاقتراح فوراً للتصويت، فإذا أيدت اللجنة الإقفال، يُعلن الرئيس تعلن الرئاسة إقفال باب المناقشة. وللرئيس أن يحدد وللرئاسة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلمين بمقتضى هذه المادة.

المادة 118⁽⁵⁹⁾ [76]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة، أثناء مناقشة أية مسألة، اقتراح تعليق الجلسة أو رفعها. ولا يكون مثل هذا الاقتراح محل مناقشة، بل يُطرح للتصويت على الفور. وللرئيس أن يحدد وللرئاسة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به للمتكلم الذي يقترح لمن يقترح من المتكلمين تعليق الجلسة أو رفعها.

المادة 120⁽³⁷⁾ [78]

تُقدّم الاقتراحات والتعديلات، في العادة، كتابة إلى الأمين العام/الأمين/ة العام/ة الذي يقوم بتعميم نسخ منها على الوفود. ولا يجوز، كقاعدة عامة، مناقشة أي اقتراح أو طرحه للتصويت في أية جلسة من جلسات اللجنة ما لم تكن قد عُيِّنت نسخ منه على جميع الوفود في موعد لا يتأخر عن اليوم السابق ليوم انعقاد تلك الجلسة. إلا أن للرئيس أن يأذن للرئيس/ة الإذن بمناقشة وبحث التعديلات أو الاقتراحات

(35) انظر المرفق الرابع، الفقرات 69 و 77 و 78، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرات 8-10، والمرفق السادس، الفقرة 6.

(36) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11.

(37) انظر المرفق الرابع، الفقرتين 87 و 88.

الإجرائية، حتى إن لم تكن هذه التعديلات والاقتراحات قد عُصِمَت على الوفود أو إن لم تكن قد عُصِمَت إلا في اليوم نفسه.

المادة 122 [80]

لصاحب الاقتراح أن يسحب يجوز لمن قدم اقتراحا سحبه في أي وقت شاء قبل بدء التصويت عليه، شرط ألا يكون الاقتراح قد أصبح محل تعديل. ولأي عضو من الأعضاء أن يُعيد تقديم الاقتراح المسحوب على هذه الصورة.

المادة 127⁽³⁸⁾ [87]

(أ) تُصَوِّت اللجنة عادة برفع الأيدي أو بالوقوف، ولكن لأي ممثل أن يطلب يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة طلب التصويت بندا الأسماء. ويجري نداء الأسماء حسب الترتيب الهجائي الإنكليزي لأسماء الأعضاء، ابتداء بالعضو الذي يسحب الرئيس الرئيسة اسمه بالقرعة. وفي كل تصويت بندا الأسماء يُنادى كل عضو باسمه، فيزد ممثل الفرد الذي يمثل به "نعم" أو "لا" أو "ممتنع". وتثبت نتيجة التصويت في المحضر حسب الترتيب الهجائي الإنكليزي لأسماء الأعضاء؛

(ب) لدى تصويت اللجنة بواسطة الجهاز الآلي، يحل التصويت غير المسجل محل التصويت برفع الأيدي أو بالوقوف ويحل التصويت المسجل محل التصويت بندا الأسماء. ولأي ممثل أن يطلب ويجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة طلب التصويت المسجل. وفي حالة التصويت المسجل، تستغني اللجنة عن إجراء نداء أسماء الأعضاء ما لم يطلب أحد ممثل أو ممثلة خلاف ذلك؛ على أن نتيجة التصويت تُثبت في المحضر على غرار إثبات نتيجة التصويت بندا الأسماء.

المادة 128⁽³⁹⁾ [88]

بعد أن يعلن الرئيس بدء عملية التصويت، لا يجوز لأي ممثل أن يقطع التصويت إلا لإثارة نقطة نظام تتعلق بطريقة إجراء التصويت. وللرئيس أن يأذن للأعضاء بتعليق تصويتهم إما قبل التصويت أو بعده. إلا عندما يكون التصويت بالاقتراع السري. وللرئيس أن يُحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به لتعليق التصويت. ولا يجوز للرئيس أن يأذن لصاحب اقتراح أو تعديل بأن يُعلن تصويته على الاقتراح أو التعديل الذي قدمه. بعد أن تعلن الرئاسة بدء عملية التصويت، لا يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة قطع التصويت إلا لإثارة نقطة نظام تتعلق بطريقة إجراء التصويت. ويجوز للرئاسة أن تأذن للأعضاء بتعليق تصويتهم إما قبل التصويت أو بعده، إلا عندما يكون التصويت بالاقتراع السري. ويجوز للرئاسة أن تحدد الوقت الذي يُسمح به لتعليق التصويت. ولا يجوز لها أن تأذن لمن قدم اقتراحا أو تعديلا بتعليق تصويته على الاقتراح أو التعديل المقدم.

المادة 129⁽⁴⁰⁾ [89]

لأي ممثل أن يقترح يجوز لأي ممثل أو ممثلة اقتراح إجراء تصويت مستقل على أجزاء من اقتراح أو من تعديل. وإذا أُثير اعتراض على طلب التجزئة يُطرح اقتراح التجزئة للتصويت. ولا يُسمح بالكلام في اقتراح التجزئة لغير متكلمين اثنين يؤيدانه ومتكلمين اثنين يعارضانه متكلمين أو متكلمتين ممن يؤيدونه

(38) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 28؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الرابع، الفقرة 84، والمرفق السابع، الفقرة 2.

(39) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11؛ وانظر أيضا المرفق الرابع، الفقرات 74-76، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرتين 6 و 7.

(40) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 11.

ومتكلمين أو متكلمتين ممن يعارضونه. فإذا قُبل اقتراح التجزئة فإن أجزاء الاقتراح أو التعديل التي تُعتمد تُطرح للتصويت عليها مجتمعة. وإذا رُفضت جميع أجزاء منطوق الاقتراح أو التعديل، يُعتبر الاقتراح أو التعديل مرفوضاً بمجموعه.

المادة 132 [93]

إذا أُريد انتخاب شخص واحد أو عضو واحد فقط ولم يحصل أي مرشح أي مرشح أو مرشحة في الاقتراح الأول على الأغلبية اللازمة، يجري اقتراح ثان يقتصر على المرشحين الشخصيين اللذين حصلوا من بين المرشحين على أكبر عدد من الأصوات. فإذا انقسمت الأصوات بالتساوي في الاقتراح الثاني، وكان الأمر يتطلب الأغلبية، يفصل الرئيس الرئيس/ة بين هذين المرشحين المرشحين أو المرشحتين بالقرعة.

المادة 134⁽⁴¹⁾

تُقدم كل دولة ترغب في عضوية الأمم المتحدة إلى الأمين العام الأمين العام أو الأمانة العامة طلباً يتضمن تصريحاً مثبتاً في وثيقة رسمية يُفيد أن الدولة المعنية تقبل بالالتزامات الواردة في الميثاق.

المادة 135⁽⁶⁵⁾

يُرسل الأمين العام الأمين العام أو الأمانة العامة، للعلم، نسخة من الطلب إلى الجمعية العامة، أو إلى أعضاء الأمم المتحدة إذا لم تكن الجمعية منعقدة.

المادة 138⁽⁶⁵⁾

يُعلم الأمين العام الأمين العام أو الأمانة العامة الدولة صاحبة الطلب بقرار الجمعية العامة. وإذا قُبل الطلب، يبدأ نفاذ العضوية من التاريخ الذي تتخذ فيه الجمعية العامة قرارها في الطلب.

الأمين العام الأمين العام أو الأمانة العامة

تعيين الأمين العام الأمين العام أو الأمانة العامة

المادة 141

متى قدم مجلس الأمن توصيته بشأن تعيين الأمين العام الأمين العام أو الأمانة العامة، تنتظر الجمعية العامة في التوصية وتصوت عليها بالاقتراح السري في جلسة سرية.

المادة 153⁽⁴²⁾

لا توصي أية لجنة الجمعية العامة باعتماد أي قرار ينطوي على نفقات ما لم يكن مشفوعاً بتقدير للنفقات معد من الأمين العام الأمين العام/ة. ولا تصوت الجمعية العامة على أي قرار يتوقع الأمين العام الأمين العام/ة أن تترتب بشأنه نفقات حتى تُتاح للجنة الإدارة والميزانية (اللجنة الخامسة) فرصة تبيان أثر القرار المقترح على مشروع ميزانية الأمم المتحدة.

(41) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 8.

(42) انظر المرفق الرابع، الفقرتين 97 و 98، والمرفق الخامس، الفقرتين 12 و 13.

المادة 154⁽⁷⁵⁾

يواصل الأمين العام الأمين/ة العام/ة إعلام جميع اللجان بتفاصيل النفقات المقدرة لجميع القرارات التي أوصت اللجان باعتمادها من قبل الجمعية العامة.

المادة 156⁽⁴³⁾

يُختار أعضاء اللجنة الاستشارية لشؤون الإدارة والميزانية، الذين يكون كل واحد عضو منهم من جنسية غير جنسية الآخر، على أساس التمثيل الجغرافي الواسع والمؤهلات الشخصية والخبرة، وتكون مدة عضويتهم ثلاث سنوات مطابقة لثلاث سنوات تقويمية. وينسحب الأعضاء بالتناوب ويجوز أن يُعاد تعيينهم. ولا يجوز انسحاب الخبراء الماليين الثلاثة في وقت واحد. وتعين الجمعية العامة أعضاء اللجنة الاستشارية أثناء الدورة العادية السابقة مباشرة لانتهاء مدة عضوية الأعضاء؛ أما في حالة شغور مقاعد، فإنها تعينهم في الدورة اللاحقة لشغورها.

المادة 157⁽⁴⁴⁾

تتولى اللجنة الاستشارية لشؤون الإدارة والميزانية أمر التدقيق الفني للميزانية البرنامجية للأمم المتحدة، كما تقوم بمساعدة لجنة الإدارة والميزانية (اللجنة الخامسة). وتُقدم إلى الجمعية العامة، في بداية كل دورة عادية تُبحث فيها الميزانية البرنامجية المقترحة لفترة السنتين التالية، تقريراً مفصلاً عن الميزانية البرنامجية المقترحة لفترة السنتين المذكورة. وتقوم أيضاً بتقديم تقرير عن حسابات الأمم المتحدة وجميع الكيانات التابعة للأمم المتحدة التي يضطلع الأمين العام/ة الأمين/ة العام/ة بالمسؤولية الإدارية عنها، في المواعيد التي تحددها أحكام النظام المالي والقواعد المالية السارية في الأمم المتحدة⁽⁴⁵⁾ وتقوم، نيابة عن الجمعية العامة، بتدقيق الميزانيات الإدارية للوكالات المتخصصة والمقترحات المتعلقة بالترتيبات المالية وترتيبات الميزانية مع هذه الوكالات. وتؤدي ما يناط بها من واجبات أخرى وفق أحكام النظام المالي للأمم المتحدة.

المادة 159⁽⁴⁶⁾

يختار أعضاء لجنة الاشتراكات، الذين يكون كل واحد عضو منهم من جنسية غير جنسية الآخر، على أساس التمثيل الجغرافي الواسع والمؤهلات الشخصية والخبرة. وتكون مدة عضويتهم ثلاث سنوات مطابقة لثلاث سنوات تقويمية. وينسحب الأعضاء بالتناوب ويجوز أن يعاد تعيينهم. وتعين الجمعية العامة أعضاء لجنة الاشتراكات في الدورة العادية السابقة مباشرة لانتهاء مدة عضوية الأعضاء؛ أما في حالة شغور مقاعد، فإنها تعينهم في الدورة اللاحقة لشغورها.

(43) انظر المقدمة، الفقرتين 23 و 40. وانظر أيضاً الفقرة 60 من المقدمة فيما يتعلق بتوزيع المقاعد فيما بين المجموعات الإقليمية.

(44) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 40.

(45) القراران 246/67؛ و ST/SGB/2013/4 و ST/SGB/2013/4/Amend.1.

(46) انظر المقدمة، الفقرة 41.

Chinese

第三十五条¹ [一〇六]

大会主席除行使本规则其他条款所赋予的权力外，应宣布本届会议每次全体会议的开会和散会、主持全体会议的讨论、确保对本规则的遵守、准许发言、把问题付诸表决并宣布决定。他大会主席应就程序问题作出裁决，并在遵守本规则的情况下全面掌握每次会议的进行和维持会场秩序。在讨论某一项目期间，他大会主席可向大会提议限制发言者的发言时间、限制每一代表发言的次数、截止发言报名或结束辩论。他大会主席并可提议停会或休会或暂停辩论所讨论的项目。

第三十七条[一〇四]

大会主席和代理主席的副主席不得参加表决，而应指定他其所属的代表团的另一成员代为投票。

第三十九条²

大会某一副主席因故不能出席总务委员会某次会议时，可指定他其所属的代表团成员一人代为出席。某一主要委员会主席因故缺席，应指定该委员会副主席一人代为出席。后述副主席如与总务委员会另一成员同属一个代表团，则无表决权。

第四十五条

秘书长在大会³及其委员会和小组委员会的所有会议上以秘书长的身份执行职务。他秘书长可指定一位秘书处人员在这些会议上代行他的秘书长职务。

第五十三条²⁸

任何代表可用大会语文以外的一种语文发言。在此情况下，他该代表应自行安排，将发言口译成大会或有关委员会的语文之一。秘书处口译人员可根据口译成的第一种此种语文，将发言口译成大会或有关委员会的其他语文。

第六十八条⁴ [一〇九]

任何代表事先未得主席允许，不得在大会发言。主席应按代表请求发言的先后次序请他们发言。如发言者的言论与所讨论的议题无关，主席可敦促他该发言者遵守规则。

¹ 见引言第 11 段；另见附件一第 39 段，附件三(g)段，附件四第 39 和 67 段，附件五第 3 段，附件六第 7 段。

² 见引言第 15、17 和 30 段；另见附件四第 10 段。

³ 本条直接依据《宪章》的规定(第九十八条)。

⁴ 见附件三(g)段(一)，附件四第 69 至 71 段，附件五第 17 段。

第七十二条⁵ [一一四]

大会可限制每一发言者的发言时间和每一代表对任何问题的发言次数。在对规定上述限制的动议作出决定前，可由两名赞成和两名反对这个动议的代表发言。在有限制的辩论中，如某一代表发言超过规定的时间，主席应立即敦促他该代表遵守规则。

第一〇四条[三十七]

主要委员会的主席不得参加表决，但可由他其所属代表团的另一成员代为投票。

第一〇六条⁶ [三十五]

委员会主席应宣布委员会每次会议的开会和散会、主持会议的讨论、确保对本规则的遵守、准许发言、把问题付诸表决并宣布决定。他主席应就程序问题作出裁决，并在遵守本规则的情况下全面掌握每次会议的进行和维持会场秩序。在讨论某一项目期间，他主席可向委员会提议限制发言者的发言时间、限制每一代表发言的次数、截止发言报名或结束辩论。他主席并可提议停会或休会或暂停辩论所讨论的项目。

第一〇九条⁷ [六十八]

任何代表事先未得主席允许，不得在委员会发言。主席应按代表请求发言的先后次序请他们发言。如发言者的言论与所讨论的议题无关，主席可敦促他该发言者遵守规则。

第一一〇条⁸

在主要委员会主席团全体成员全部选出后，只由委员会上届主席向当选成员表示祝贺。委员会上届主席缺席时，则由他该主席所属代表团的一位成员表示祝贺。

第一一四条⁹ [七十二]

委员会可限制每一发言者的发言时间和每一代表对任何问题的发言次数。在对规定上述限制的动议作出决定前，可由两名赞成和两名反对这个动议的代表发言。在有限制的辩论中，如某一代表发言超过规定的时间，主席应立即敦促他该代表遵守规则。

⁵ 见引言第 7 和 30 段。

⁶ 见引言第 7 段；另见附件一第 39 段，附件三(g)段，附件四第 39 和 67 段，附件五第 3 和 22 段，附件六第 6 和 7 段。

⁷ 见附件三(g)段(□)，附件四第 69 至 71 段，附件六第 6 段。

⁸ 见引言第 34 段。

⁹ 见引言第 7 和 30 段。

English

Rule 4

Any Member of the United Nations may, at least one hundred and twenty days before the date fixed for the opening of a regular session, request that the session be held elsewhere than at the Headquarters of the United Nations. The Secretary-General shall immediately communicate the request, together with her or his recommendations, to the other Members of the United Nations. If within thirty days of the date of this communication a majority of the Members concur in the request, the session shall be held accordingly.

Rule 26

An alternate representative may act as a representative upon designation by the chair ~~chairman~~ of the delegation.

Rule 30¹

Unless the General Assembly decides otherwise, the General Assembly shall elect a President and twenty-one Vice-Presidents² at least three months before the opening of the session over which they are to preside. The President and the Vice-Presidents so elected will assume their functions only at the beginning of the session for which they are elected and shall hold office until the close of that session.³ The Vice-Presidents shall be elected after the election of the Chairs ~~Chairmen~~ of the six Main Committees referred to in rule 98, in such a way as to ensure the representative character of the General Committee.

Rule 31⁴

If, at the opening of a session of the General Assembly, the President for that session has not yet been elected, in accordance with rule 30 above, the President of the previous session, or the chair ~~chairman~~ of that delegation from which the President of the previous session was elected, shall preside until the Assembly has elected a President.

Rule 32 [105]

If the President finds it necessary to be absent during a meeting or any part thereof, she or he shall designate one of the Vice-Presidents to take her or his place.

¹ See introduction, paras. 21, 22, 26, 42 and 52 (a).

² In the annex to resolution 33/138 of 19 December 1978, the General Assembly decided as follows:

“1. In the election of the President of the General Assembly, regard shall be had for equitable geographical rotation of this office among the regions mentioned in paragraph 4 below.

“2. The twenty-one Vice-Presidents of the General Assembly shall be elected according to the following pattern, subject to paragraph 3 below:

“(a) Six representatives from African States;

“(b) Five representatives from Asian States;

“(c) One representative from an Eastern European State;

“(d) Three representatives from Latin American States;

“(e) Two representatives from Western European or other States;

“(f) Five representatives from the permanent members of the Security Council.

“3. The election of the President of the General Assembly will, however, have the effect of reducing by one the number of vice-presidencies allocated to the region from which the President is elected.”

³ Rule based directly on a provision of the Charter (Article 21, second sentence).

⁴ See introduction, paras. 21, 22, 26 and 52 (b).

Rule 34 [105]

If the President is unable to perform her or his functions, a new President shall be elected for the unexpired term.

Rule 35⁵ [106]

In addition to exercising the powers conferred upon the President ~~him~~ elsewhere by these rules, the President shall declare the opening and closing of each plenary meeting of the session, direct the discussions in plenary meeting, ensure observance of these rules, accord the right to speak, put questions and announce decisions. The President ~~He~~ shall rule on points of order and, subject to these rules, shall have complete control of the proceedings at any meeting and over the maintenance of order thereat. The President may, in the course of the discussion of an item, propose to the General Assembly the limitation of the time to be allowed to speakers, the limitation of the number of times each representative may speak, the closure of the list of speakers or the closure of the debate. The President ~~He~~ may also propose the suspension or the adjournment of the meeting or the adjournment of the debate on the item under discussion.

Rule 36¹⁷ [107]

The President, in the exercise of her or his functions, remains under the authority of the General Assembly.

Rule 37 [104]

The President, or a Vice-President acting as President, shall not vote but shall designate another member of her or his delegation to vote in her or his place.

Rule 38⁶

The General Committee shall comprise the President of the General Assembly, who shall preside, the twenty-one Vice-Presidents and the Chairs ~~Chairmen~~ of the six Main Committees. No two members of the General Committee shall be members of the same delegation, and it shall be so constituted as to ensure its representative character. Chairs ~~Chairmen~~ of other committees upon which all Members have the right to be represented and which are established by the General Assembly to meet during the session shall be entitled to attend meetings of the General Committee and may participate without vote in the discussions.

Rule 39⁷

If a Vice-President of the General Assembly finds it necessary to be absent during a meeting of the General Committee, the Vice-President ~~he~~ may designate a member of her or his delegation to take her or his place. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ of a Main Committee shall, in case of absence, designate one of the Vice-Chairs ~~Vice-Chairmen~~ of the Committee to take the Chair's ~~his~~ place. A Vice-Chair ~~Vice-Chairman~~ shall not have the right to vote if the Vice-Chair ~~he~~ is of the same delegation as another member of the General Committee.

⁵ See introduction, para. 11; see also annex I, para. 39, annex III, para. (g), annex IV, paras. 39 and 67, annex V, para. 3, and annex VI, para. 7.

⁶ See introduction, paras. 11, 19, 21, 22, 26, 42 and 48.

⁷ See introduction, paras. 19, 21 and 34; see also annex IV, para. 10.

Rule 45

The Secretary-General shall act in that capacity in all meetings of the General Assembly,⁸ its committees and its subcommittees. The Secretary-General ~~He~~ may designate a member of the Secretariat to act in her or his place at these meetings.

Rule 48

The Secretary-General shall make an annual report, and such supplementary reports as are required, to the General Assembly on the work of the Organization.²² The Secretary-General ~~He~~ shall communicate the annual report to the Members of the United Nations at least forty-five days before the opening of the session.

Rule 53²⁸

Any representative may make a speech in a language other than the languages of the General Assembly. In this case, the representative ~~he~~ shall ~~himself~~ provide for interpretation into one of the languages of the General Assembly or of the committee concerned. Interpretation into the other languages of the General Assembly or of the committee concerned by the interpreters of the Secretariat may be based on the interpretation given in the first such language.

Rule 61

All decisions of the General Assembly taken at a private meeting shall be announced at an early public meeting of the Assembly. At the close of each private meeting of the Main Committees, other committees and subcommittees, the Chair ~~Chairman~~ may issue a communiqué through the Secretary-General.

Rule 63⁹

Notwithstanding the provisions of any other rule and unless the General Assembly decides otherwise, the Assembly, in case of an emergency special session, shall convene in plenary meeting only and proceed directly to consider the item proposed for consideration in the request for the holding of the session, without previous reference to the General Committee or to any other committee; the President and Vice-Presidents for such emergency special sessions shall be, respectively, the chairs ~~chairmen~~ of those delegations from which were elected the President and Vice-Presidents of the previous session.

Rule 68¹⁰ [109]

No representative may address the General Assembly without having previously obtained the permission of the President. The President shall call upon speakers in the order in which they signify their desire to speak. The President may call a speaker to order if the speaker's ~~his~~ remarks are not relevant to the subject under discussion.

Rule 69 [111]

The Chair ~~Chairman~~ and the Rapporteur of a committee may be accorded precedence for the purpose of explaining the conclusions arrived at by their committee.

⁸ Rule based directly on a provision of the Charter (Article 98).

⁹ See introduction, para. 13.

¹⁰ See annex III, para. (g) (ii), annex IV, paras. 69–71, and annex V, para. 17.

Rule 70 [112]

The Secretary-General, or a member of the Secretariat designated by the Secretary-General ~~him~~ as her or his representative, may at any time make either oral or written statements to the General Assembly concerning any question under consideration by it.

Rule 72¹¹ [114]

The General Assembly may limit the time to be allowed to each speaker and the number of times each representative may speak on any question. Before a decision is taken, two representatives may speak in favour of, and two against, a proposal to set such limits. When the debate is limited and a representative exceeds her or his allotted time, the President shall call the representative ~~him~~ to order without delay.

Rule 73¹² [115]

During the course of a debate, the President may announce the list of speakers and, with the consent of the General Assembly, declare the list closed. The President ~~He~~ may, however, accord the right of reply to any member if a speech delivered after the President ~~he~~ has declared the list closed makes this desirable.

Rule 75³⁸ [117]

A representative may at any time move the closure of the debate on the item under discussion, whether or not any other representative has signified her or his wish to speak. Permission to speak on the closure of the debate shall be accorded only to two speakers opposing the closure, after which the motion shall be immediately put to the vote. If the General Assembly is in favour of the closure, the President shall declare the closure of the debate. The President may limit the time to be allowed to speakers under this rule.

Rule 88¹³ [128]

After the President has announced the beginning of voting, no representative shall interrupt the voting except on a point of order in connection with the actual conduct of the voting. The President may permit members to explain their votes, either before or after the voting, except when the vote is taken by secret ballot. The President may limit the time to be allowed for such explanations. The President shall not permit the proposer of a proposal or of an amendment to explain her or his vote on her or his own proposal or amendment.

Rule 99¹⁴

(a) All the Main Committees shall, at least three months before the opening of the session, elect a Chair ~~Chairman~~. Elections of the other officers provided for in rule 103 shall be held at the latest by the end of the first week of the session;

(b) Each Main Committee, taking into account the closing date for the session fixed by the General Assembly on the recommendation of the General Committee, shall adopt its own priorities and meet as may be necessary to complete the

¹¹ See introduction, paras. 11 and 34.

¹² See annex IV, paras. 46, 69, 77 and 78, and annex V, paras. 8–11.

¹³ See introduction, para. 11; see also annex IV, paras. 74–76, and annex V, paras. 6, 7 and 11.

¹⁴ See introduction, paras. 11, 19, 34 and 51; see also annex V, paras. 21 and 23. See also, with regard to the election of other officers at least three months before the opening of the session, resolution 58/126 of 19 December 2003.

consideration of the items referred to it. It shall at the beginning of the session adopt a programme of work indicating, if possible, a target date for the conclusion of its work, the approximate dates of consideration of items and the number of meetings to be allocated to each item.

Rule 101

Upon designation by the ~~chair~~ ~~chairman~~ of the delegation, advisers, technical advisers, experts or persons of similar status may act as members of committees. Persons of this status shall not, however, unless designated as alternate representatives, be eligible for election as Chairs ~~Chairmen~~, Vice-Chairs ~~Vice Chairmen~~ or Rapporteurs of committees or for seats in the General Assembly.

Rule 103¹⁵ [92]

Each Main Committee shall elect a Chair ~~Chairman~~, three Vice-Chairs ~~Vice Chairmen~~ and a Rapporteur. In the case of other committees, each shall elect a Chair ~~Chairman~~, one or more Vice-Chairs ~~Vice Chairmen~~ and a Rapporteur. These officers shall be elected on the basis of equitable geographical distribution, experience and personal competence. The elections shall be held by secret ballot unless the committee decides otherwise in an election where only one candidate is standing. The nomination of each candidate shall be limited to one speaker, after which the committee shall immediately proceed to the election.

The Chair ~~Chairman~~ of a Main Committee shall not vote

Rule 104 [37]

The Chair ~~Chairman~~ of a Main Committee shall not vote, but another member of the Chair's ~~his~~ delegation may vote in her or his place.

Absence of officers

Rule 105¹⁶ [32–34]

If the Chair ~~Chairman~~ finds it necessary to be absent during a meeting or any part thereof, the Chair ~~he~~ shall designate one of the Vice-Chairs ~~Vice Chairmen~~ to take the Chair's ~~his~~ place. A Vice-Chair ~~Vice Chairman~~ acting as Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall have the same powers and duties as the Chair ~~Chairman~~. If any officer of the committee is unable to perform her or his functions, a new officer shall be elected for the unexpired term.

¹⁵ See introduction, paras. 34 and 49; see also annex IV, paras. 40 and 54–57, and annex V, paras. 18–20, as well as the information contained in footnote 14.

In its resolution 72/313 of 17 September 2018, the General Assembly decided to establish the pattern for the rotation of the Chairs of the Main Committees for the seventy-fourth to the eighty-third session, as contained in the annex to the resolution.

See also General Assembly resolution 68/307 of 10 September 2014, which provides that the Rapporteur of a Main Committee should be elected from the regional group that held the chairmanship of the Committee at the previous session (annex, para. 4).

¹⁶ See introduction, para. 34.

Functions of the Chair ~~Chairman~~

Rule 106¹⁷ [35]

The Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall declare the opening and closing of each meeting of the committee, direct its discussions, ensure observance of these rules, accord the right to speak, put questions and announce decisions. The Chair ~~He~~ shall rule on points of order and, subject to these rules, shall have complete control of the proceedings at any meeting and over the maintenance of order thereat. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may, in the course of the discussion of an item, propose to the committee the limitation of the time to be allowed to speakers, the limitation of the number of times each representative may speak, the closure of the list of speakers or the closure of the debate. The Chair ~~He~~ may also propose the suspension or the adjournment of the meeting or the adjournment of the debate on the item under discussion.

Rule 107⁵² [36]

The Chair ~~Chairman~~, in the exercise of her or his functions, remains under the authority of the committee.

Rule 108¹⁸ [67]

The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may declare a meeting open and permit the debate to proceed when at least one quarter of the members of the committee are present. The presence of a majority of the members shall be required for any decision to be taken.

Rule 109¹⁹ [68]

No representative may address the committee without having previously obtained the permission of the Chair ~~Chairman~~. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall call upon speakers in the order in which they signify their desire to speak. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may call a speaker to order if the speaker's ~~his~~ remarks are not relevant to the subject under discussion.

Rule 110²⁰

Congratulations to the officers of a Main Committee shall not be expressed except by the Chair ~~Chairman~~ of the previous session – or, in her or his absence, by a member of her or his delegation – after all the officers of the Committee have been elected.

Rule 111 [69]

The Chair ~~Chairman~~ and the Rapporteur of a committee or subcommittee may be accorded precedence for the purpose of explaining the conclusions arrived at by their committee or subcommittee.

Rule 112 [70]

The Secretary-General, or a member of the Secretariat designated by the Secretary-General ~~him~~ as her or his representative, may at any time make either oral

¹⁷ See introduction, para. 11; see also annex I, para. 39, annex III, para. (g), annex IV, paras. 39 and 67, annex V, paras. 3 and 22, and annex VI, paras. 6 and 7.

¹⁸ See introduction, paras. 11 and 34.

¹⁹ See annex III, para. (g), (ii), annex IV, paras. 69–71, and annex VI, para. 6.

²⁰ See introduction, para. 34.

or written statements to any committee or subcommittee concerning any question under consideration by it.

Rule 113²¹ [71]

During the discussion of any matter, a representative may rise to a point of order, and the point of order shall be immediately decided by the Chair ~~Chairman~~ in accordance with the rules of procedure. A representative may appeal against the ruling of the Chair ~~Chairman~~. The appeal shall be immediately put to the vote, and the Chair's ~~Chairman's~~ ruling shall stand unless overruled by a majority of the members present and voting. A representative rising to a point of order may not speak on the substance of the matter under discussion.

Rule 114²² [72]

The committee may limit the time to be allowed to each speaker and the number of times each representative may speak on any question. Before a decision is taken, two representatives may speak in favour of, and two against, a proposal to set such limits. When the debate is limited and a representative exceeds her or his allotted time, the Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall call the representative ~~him~~ to order without delay.

Rule 115²³ [73]

During the course of a debate, the Chair ~~Chairman~~ may announce the list of speakers and, with the consent of the committee, declare the list closed. The Chair ~~He~~ may, however, accord the right of reply to any member if a speech delivered after the Chair ~~he~~ has declared the list closed makes this desirable.

Rule 116²⁴ [74]

During the discussion of any matter, a representative may move the adjournment of the debate on the item under discussion. In addition to the proposer of the motion, two representatives may speak in favour of, and two against, the motion, after which the motion shall be immediately put to the vote. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may limit the time to be allowed to speakers under this rule.

Rule 117⁵⁹ [75]

A representative may at any time move the closure of the debate on the item under discussion, whether or not any other representative has signified her or his wish to speak. Permission to speak on the closure of the debate shall be accorded only to two speakers opposing the closure, after which the motion shall be immediately put to the vote. If the committee is in favour of the closure, the Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall declare the closure of the debate. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may limit the time to be allowed to speakers under this rule.

Rule 118⁵⁹ [76]

During the discussion of any matter, a representative may move the suspension or the adjournment of the meeting. Such motions shall not be debated but shall be immediately put to the vote. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may limit the time to be allowed to the speaker moving the suspension or adjournment of the meeting.

²¹ See introduction, para. 11; see also annex IV, para. 79.

²² See introduction, paras. 11 and 34.

²³ See annex IV, paras. 69, 77 and 78, annex V, paras. 8–10, and annex VI, para. 6.

²⁴ See introduction, para. 11.

Rule 120²⁵ [78]

Proposals and amendments shall normally be submitted in writing to the Secretary-General, who shall circulate copies to the delegations. As a general rule, no proposal shall be discussed or put to the vote at any meeting of the committee unless copies of it have been circulated to all delegations not later than the day preceding the meeting. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may, however, permit the discussion and consideration of amendments, or of motions as to procedure, even though such amendments and motions have not been circulated or have only been circulated the same day.

Rule 127²⁶ [87]

(a) The committee shall normally vote by show of hands or by standing, but any representative may request a roll-call. The roll-call shall be taken in the English alphabetical order of the names of the members, beginning with the member whose name is drawn by lot by the Chair ~~Chairman~~. The name of each member shall be called in any roll-call, and its representative shall reply “yes”, “no” or “abstention”. The result of the voting shall be inserted in the record in the English alphabetical order of the names of the members.

(b) When the committee votes by mechanical means, a non-recorded vote shall replace a vote by show of hands or by standing and a recorded vote shall replace a roll-call vote. Any representative may request a recorded vote. In the case of a recorded vote, the committee shall, unless a representative requests otherwise, dispense with the procedure of calling out the names of the members; nevertheless, the result of the voting shall be inserted in the record in the same manner as that of a roll-call vote.

Rule 128²⁷ [88]

After the Chair ~~Chairman~~ has announced the beginning of voting, no representative shall interrupt the voting except on a point of order in connection with the actual conduct of the voting. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may permit members to explain their votes, either before or after the voting, except when the vote is taken by secret ballot. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ may limit the time to be allowed for such explanations. The Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall not permit the proposer of a proposal or of an amendment to explain her or his vote on her or his own proposal or amendment.

Rule 132 [93]

When only one person or Member is to be elected and no candidate obtains in the first ballot the majority required, a second ballot shall be taken, which shall be restricted to the two candidates obtaining the largest number of votes. If in the second ballot the votes are equally divided, and a majority is required, the Chair ~~Chairman~~ shall decide between the candidates by drawing lots.

²⁵ See annex IV, paras. 87 and 88.

²⁶ See introduction, para. 28; see also annex IV, para. 84, and annex VII, para. 2.

²⁷ See introduction, para. 11; see also annex IV, paras. 74–76, and annex V, paras. 6 and 7.

French

Article 4

Tout Membre de l'Organisation des Nations Unies peut, cent vingt jours au moins avant la date fixée pour l'ouverture d'une session ordinaire, demander que la session ait lieu ailleurs qu'au Siège de l'Organisation. La ou le ~~le~~ Secrétaire général communique immédiatement la demande aux autres Membres de l'Organisation, en y joignant ses recommandations. Si, dans les trente jours qui suivent la date de cette communication, la majorité des Membres a donné son agrément, la session se tient à l'endroit demandé.

Article 5

Les Membres de l'Organisation sont avisés par la ou le Secrétaire général, au moins soixante jours par avance, de l'ouverture d'une session ordinaire.

Article 8¹

a) L'Assemblée générale se réunit en session extraordinaire dans les quinze jours qui suivent la réception par la ou le Secrétaire général d'une demande à cet effet émanant soit du Conseil de sécurité, soit de la majorité des Membres de l'Organisation, ou qui suivent la date à laquelle la majorité des Membres a donné son agrément comme il est prévu à l'article 9.

b) L'Assemblée générale se réunit en session extraordinaire d'urgence, conformément à sa résolution 377 A (V), dans les vingt-quatre heures qui suivent la réception par la ou le Secrétaire général d'une demande à cet effet émanant soit du Conseil de sécurité, à la suite d'un vote affirmatif de neuf de ses membres, soit de la majorité des Membres de l'Organisation exprimée au cours d'un vote de la Commission intérimaire ou autrement, ou qui suivent la date à laquelle la majorité des Membres a donné son agrément comme il est prévu à l'article 9.

Article 9²

a) Tout Membre de l'Organisation peut demander à la ou au Secrétaire général de convoquer l'Assemblée générale en session extraordinaire. La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général informe immédiatement de cette demande les autres Membres et s'enquiert si celle-ci rencontre leur agrément. Si, dans les trente jours qui suivent la date de la communication de la ou du Secrétaire général, la majorité des Membres a donné son agrément, l'Assemblée générale est convoquée en session extraordinaire conformément aux dispositions de l'article 8.

b) Le présent article s'applique également à la demande d'un Membre de l'Organisation relative à la convocation d'une session extraordinaire d'urgence conformément à la résolution 377 A (V). Dans ce cas, la ou le Secrétaire général se met en relation avec les autres Membres par les moyens de communication les plus rapides ~~dont il dispose~~ à sa disposition.

Article 10⁵

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général avise les Membres de l'Organisation de l'ouverture d'une session extraordinaire au moins quatorze jours par avance si cette session est convoquée à la demande du Conseil de sécurité, et au moins dix jours par avance si elle est convoquée à la demande de la majorité des Membres ou à la demande d'un Membre si cette demande a recueilli l'agrément de la majorité. Lorsqu'une session extraordinaire d'urgence est convoquée en vertu des dispositions de l'alinéa *b* de l'article 8, la ou le Secrétaire général avise les Membres douze heures au moins avant l'ouverture de la session.

Article 12

L'ordre du jour provisoire d'une session ordinaire est établi par la ou le Secrétaire général et communiqué aux Membres de l'Organisation soixante jours au moins avant l'ouverture de la session.

¹ Voir introduction, par. 13 et 27.

² Voir introduction, par. 13.

Article 13

L'ordre du jour provisoire d'une session ordinaire comporte :

- a) Le rapport de la ou du Secrétaire général sur l'activité de l'Organisation ;
- b) Les rapports du Conseil de sécurité, du Conseil économique et social, du Conseil de tutelle, de la Cour internationale de Justice, des organes subsidiaires de l'Assemblée générale et des institutions spécialisées (quand les accords conclus avec celles-ci en prévoient la présentation) ;
- c) Toutes questions que l'Assemblée générale, lors d'une session précédente, a décidé d'inscrire à son ordre du jour ;
- d) Toutes questions proposées par les autres organes principaux de l'Organisation des Nations Unies ;
- e) Toutes questions proposées par tout Membre de l'Organisation³ ;
- f) Toutes questions relatives au budget de l'exercice suivant et le rapport sur les comptes de l'exercice écoulé ;
- g) Toutes questions que la ou le Secrétaire général juge nécessaire de soumettre à l'Assemblée générale ;
- h) Toutes questions proposées par des États non membres de l'Organisation en vertu du paragraphe 2 de l'Article 35 de la Charte.

Article 14

Tout Membre ou organe principal de l'Organisation ou la ou le Secrétaire général peut, trente jours au moins avant la date fixée pour l'ouverture d'une session ordinaire, demander l'inscription de questions supplémentaires à l'ordre du jour⁶. Ces questions figurent sur une liste supplémentaire qui est communiquée aux Membres vingt jours au moins avant l'ouverture de la session.

Article 18

Tout Membre ou organe principal de l'Organisation ou la ou le Secrétaire général peut, quatre jours au moins avant la date fixée pour l'ouverture d'une session extraordinaire, demander l'inscription de questions supplémentaires à l'ordre du jour. Ces questions figurent sur une liste supplémentaire qui est communiquée aux Membres aussitôt que possible.

Article 23¹¹

Quand le Bureau a recommandé l'inscription d'une question à l'ordre du jour, seuls trois orateurs ou oratrices pour et trois ~~orateurs~~ contre peuvent prendre la parole lors du débat sur l'inscription de cette question. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée des interventions permises aux orateurs et oratrices en vertu du présent article.

Article 25⁴

La délégation d'un Membre comprend cinq représentantes ou représentants et cinq représentantes ou représentants suppléants au plus, et autant de conseillers ou conseillères, de conseillers et conseillères techniques, d'experts ou d'expertes et de personnes de catégorie analogue qu'elle juge nécessaire.

Suppléance ~~Suppléants~~

Article 26

Une représentante ou un ~~Un~~ représentant suppléant peut agir en qualité de représentante ou représentant sur désignation de la ou du chef de la délégation intéressée.

³ Voir annexe IV, par. 18, et annexe VI, par. 2.

⁴ Article reposant directement sur une disposition de la Charte (Article 9, par. 2). Voir annexe IV, par. 44.

Article 27

Les pouvoirs des représentants et représentantes et les noms des membres d'une délégation sont communiqués à la ou au Secrétaire général, si possible au moins une semaine avant l'ouverture de la session. Les pouvoirs doivent émaner soit de la ou du chef de l'État ou ~~du chef~~ du gouvernement, soit de la ou du ministre des affaires étrangères.

Article 28

Une Commission de vérification des pouvoirs est nommée au début de chaque session. Elle comprend neuf membres, nommés par l'Assemblée générale sur proposition de la présidence ~~du Président~~. La Commission élit elle-même son bureau. Elle examine les pouvoirs des représentants et représentantes et fait immédiatement son rapport.

Article 29

Tout représentant ou représentante à l'admission de laquelle ou duquel un Membre a fait objection siège provisoirement avec les mêmes droits que les autres ~~représentants~~ jusqu'à ce que la Commission de vérification des pouvoirs ait présenté son rapport et que l'Assemblée générale ait statué.

V. PRÉSIDENTE ET VICE-PRÉSIDENTES ~~PRÉSIDENT ET VICE PRÉSIDENTS~~

Article 30⁵

À moins qu'elle n'en décide autrement, l'Assemblée générale élit un président ou une présidente et vingt et un vice-présidents ou vice-présidentes⁶ trois mois au moins avant l'ouverture de la session ~~qu'ils doivent à~~ présider. Les ~~personnes~~ Président et les vice-présidents ainsi élus ne prennent leurs fonctions qu'au début de la session pour laquelle elles ~~ils~~ sont élus et restent en fonctions jusqu'à la clôture de cette session⁷. Les vice-présidents et vice-présidentes sont élus après ~~les élections à la présidence des présidents~~ des six grandes commissions mentionnées à l'article 98, de façon à assurer le caractère représentatif du Bureau.

Présidence ~~Président~~ provisoire

Article 31⁸

Si, à l'ouverture d'une session de l'Assemblée générale, le président ou la présidente de cette session n'a pas encore été élu, conformément à l'article 30 ci-dessus, le Président ou la Présidente de la session précédente, ou le ou la chef de la délégation à laquelle appartenait le Président ou la Présidente de la session précédente, assume la présidence jusqu'à ce que l'Assemblée ait élu un président ou une présidente.

⁵ Voir introduction, par. 21, 22, 26, 42 et 52, al. a.

⁶ Dans l'annexe à la résolution 33/138 du 19 décembre 1978, l'Assemblée générale a décidé ce qui suit :

« 1. Lors de l'élection du Président de l'Assemblée générale, il sera tenu compte de la nécessité de procéder, par roulement, à l'attribution de ce poste suivant une répartition géographique équitable entre les régions mentionnées au paragraphe 4 ci-après.

2. Les vingt et un vice-présidents de l'Assemblée générale sont élus d'après les critères suivants, sous réserve du paragraphe 3 ci-après :

- a) Six représentants d'États d'Afrique ;
- b) Cinq représentants d'État d'Asie ;
- c) Un représentant d'un État d'Europe orientale ;
- d) Trois représentants d'États d'Amérique latine ;
- e) Deux représentants d'États d'Europe occidentale ou d'autres États ;
- f) Cinq représentants des membres permanents du Conseil de sécurité.

3. Par suite de l'élection du Président de l'Assemblée générale, il est attribué toutefois une vice-présidence de moins à la région à laquelle appartient le Président de l'Assemblée. »

⁷ Article reposant directement sur une disposition de la Charte (Article 21, deuxième phrase).

⁸ Voir introduction, par. 21, 22, 26 et 52 al. b.

Présidence ~~Président~~ par intérim

Article 32 [105]

Si le Président ou la Présidente estime nécessaire de s'absenter pendant une séance ou une partie de séance, il ou elle désigne un vice-président ou une vice-présidente ~~des vice-présidents en remplacement pour le remplacer.~~

Article 33 [105]

Un vice-président ou une vice-présidente agissant en qualité de président ou présidente a les mêmes pouvoirs et les mêmes devoirs que le Président ou la Présidente.

Remplacement de la présidence ~~du Président~~

Article 34 [105]

Si le Président ou la Présidente se trouve dans l'impossibilité de s'acquitter de ses fonctions, un nouveau président ou une nouvelle présidente est élu pour le reste de la durée du mandat.

Pouvoirs généraux de la présidence ~~du Président~~

Article 35⁹ [106]

Outre l'exercice des pouvoirs qui lui sont conférés en vertu d'autres dispositions du présent Règlement, ~~le Président~~ la présidence prononce l'ouverture et la clôture de chaque séance plénière de la session, dirige les discussions en séance plénière, assure l'application du présent Règlement, donne la parole, met les questions aux voix et proclame les décisions. ~~Il~~ Elle statue sur les motions d'ordre et, sous réserve des dispositions du présent Règlement, règle entièrement les débats à chaque séance et y assure le maintien de l'ordre. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut proposer à l'Assemblée générale, au cours de la discussion d'une question, la limitation du temps de parole, la limitation du nombre d'interventions de chaque représentant ou représentante, la clôture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices ou la clôture des débats. ~~Il~~ Elle peut également proposer la suspension ou l'ajournement de la séance ou l'ajournement du débat sur la question en discussion.

Article 36¹⁷ [107]

La présidence ~~Le Président~~, dans l'exercice de ses fonctions, demeure sous l'autorité de l'Assemblée générale.

La présidence ~~Le Président~~ ne prend pas part aux votes

Article 37 [104]

Le Président ou la Présidente, ou un vice-président ou une vice-présidente agissant en sa qualité de président, ne prend pas part aux votes, mais désigne un autre membre de sa délégation pour voter à sa place.

Article 38¹⁰

Le Bureau comprend le Président ou la Présidente de l'Assemblée générale, qui le préside, les vingt et un vice-présidents ou vice-présidentes et les présidents et présidentes des six grandes commissions. Tous les membres du Bureau appartiennent à des délégations différentes et sont choisis de façon à assurer son caractère représentatif. Les présidents et présidentes d'autres commissions au sein desquelles tous les Membres ont le droit d'être représentés et qui sont créées par l'Assemblée générale pour siéger au cours de la session ont le droit d'assister aux séances du Bureau et peuvent participer aux débats sans droit de vote.

⁹ Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe I, par. 39, annexe III, al. g, annexe IV, par. 39 et 67, annexe V, par. 3, et annexe VI, par. 7.

¹⁰ Voir introduction, par. 11, 19, 21, 22, 26, 42 et 48.

*Remplaçants Remplacement***Article 39¹¹**

Si l'un ou l'une des vice-présidents de l'Assemblée générale estime nécessaire de s'absenter pendant une séance du Bureau, il ou elle peut désigner un membre de sa délégation en remplacement ~~pour le remplacer~~. Lorsque le Président ou la Présidente d'une grande commission s'absente, il ou elle désigne un ou une des vice-présidents de la Commission en remplacement ~~pour le remplacer~~. Lorsqu'un vice-président ou une vice-présidente d'une commission appartient à la même délégation qu'un autre membre du Bureau, il ou elle n'a pas le droit de vote.

Article 41²⁰

Le Bureau fait des recommandations à l'Assemblée générale relativement à la date de clôture de la session. Il aide ~~le Président~~ la présidence et l'Assemblée générale à élaborer l'ordre du jour de chaque séance plénière, à établir l'ordre de priorité des questions qui y figurent et à coordonner les travaux de toutes les commissions de l'Assemblée. Il assiste ~~le Président~~ la présidence dans la conduite générale des travaux de l'Assemblée générale qui relèvent de la compétence ~~du Président~~ de la présidence. Toutefois, il ne prend de décision sur aucune question politique.

Article 42¹²

Le Bureau se réunit périodiquement, au cours de chaque session, pour examiner le progrès des travaux de l'Assemblée générale et de ses commissions et pour formuler des recommandations tendant à favoriser ce progrès. Le Bureau se réunit également chaque fois que ~~le Président~~ la présidence le juge nécessaire ou à la demande d'un autre de ses membres.

*Fonctions de la ou du Secrétaire général***Article 45**

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général agit en cette qualité à toutes les réunions de l'Assemblée générale¹³, de ses commissions et de ses sous-commissions ~~et~~ il peut désigner un membre du Secrétariat en remplacement ~~pour le remplacer~~ à ces réunions.

Article 46

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général fournit et dirige le personnel nécessaire à l'Assemblée générale et aux commissions et organes subsidiaires créés par elle.

*Rapport de la ou du Secrétaire général sur l'activité de l'Organisation***Article 48**

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général présente à l'Assemblée générale un rapport annuel et tous rapports supplémentaires utiles sur l'activité de l'Organisation²² ~~et~~ il communique le rapport annuel aux Membres de l'Organisation quarante-cinq jours au moins avant l'ouverture de la session.

Article 49¹⁴

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général, avec l'assentiment du Conseil de sécurité, porte à la connaissance de l'Assemblée générale, lors de chaque session, les affaires relatives au maintien de la paix et de la sécurité internationales dont s'occupe le Conseil de sécurité ~~et~~ il avise de même l'Assemblée générale ou, si

¹¹ Voir introduction, par. 19, 21 et 34 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 10.

¹² Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe I, par. 20, annexe III, al. f, annexe IV, par. 13 et 14, annexe V, par. 2, annexe VI, par. 4, et annexe VII, par. 5.

¹³ Article reposant directement sur une disposition de la Charte (Article 98).

¹⁴ Cet article reproduit textuellement une disposition de la Charte (Article 12, par. 2).

l'Assemblée générale ne siège pas, les Membres de l'Organisation, dès que le Conseil de sécurité cesse de s'occuper desdites affaires.

Article 53²⁸

Tout représentant ou représentante peut prendre la parole dans une langue autre que les langues de l'Assemblée générale. Dans ce cas, il ou elle assure l'interprétation dans l'une des langues de l'Assemblée générale ou de la commission intéressée. Les interprètes du Secrétariat peuvent prendre pour base de leur interprétation dans les autres langues de l'Assemblée générale ou de la commission intéressée celle qui aura été faite dans la première de ces langues.

Article 58¹⁵

a) Le Secrétariat établit un compte rendu *in extenso* des séances de l'Assemblée générale et de la Commission des questions de désarmement et de la sécurité internationale (Première Commission), qui est soumis à ces organes après avoir reçu l'approbation de leur ~~président~~ présidence. L'Assemblée générale décide de la forme des comptes rendus des séances des autres grandes commissions et, le cas échéant, des organes subsidiaires et des réunions et conférences spéciales. Aucun organe de l'Assemblée générale ne peut faire établir à la fois des comptes rendus *in extenso* et des comptes rendus analytiques.

b) Des enregistrements sonores des séances de l'Assemblée générale et des grandes commissions sont établis par le Secrétariat. Il est également établi des enregistrements sonores des débats des organes subsidiaires et des réunions et conférences spéciales lorsque ceux-ci en décident ainsi.

Article 59

Les résolutions adoptées par l'Assemblée générale sont communiquées par la ou le Secrétaire général aux Membres de l'Organisation dans les quinze jours qui suivent la clôture de la session.

Article 61

L'Assemblée générale fait connaître lors d'une de ses prochaines séances publiques toutes les décisions prises en séance privée. À la fin de chaque séance privée des grandes commissions et des autres commissions et sous-commissions, ~~le Président~~ la présidence peut faire publier un communiqué par l'intermédiaire de la ou du Secrétaire général.

Article 62¹⁶

Immédiatement après l'ouverture de la première séance plénière et immédiatement avant la clôture de la dernière séance plénière de chaque session de l'Assemblée générale, ~~le Président~~ la présidence invite les représentantes et représentants à observer une minute de silence consacrée à la prière ou à la méditation.

Article 63¹⁷

Nonobstant les dispositions de tout autre article du présent Règlement, et à moins que l'Assemblée générale n'en décide autrement, l'Assemblée, lors d'une session extraordinaire d'urgence, se réunit en séance plénière seulement et procède directement à l'examen de la question proposée dans la demande de convocation de la session, sans renvoi préalable au Bureau ni à aucune autre commission ; les chefs des délégations auxquelles appartenaient le Président ou la Présidente et les vice-présidents et vice-présidentes de la session précédente sont respectivement Président ou Présidente et vice-présidents et vice-présidentes de la session extraordinaire d'urgence.

¹⁵ Voir introduction, par. 34 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 108, et annexe V, par. 27.

¹⁶ Voir introduction, par. 13.

¹⁷ Voir introduction, par. 9.

*Rapport de la ou du Secrétaire général***Article 64**

L'Assemblée générale se prononce, sans renvoi préalable au Bureau, sur les propositions tendant au renvoi sans discussion à l'une des grandes commissions d'une partie quelconque du rapport de la ou du Secrétaire général.

Article 67¹⁸ [108]

~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut déclarer la séance ouverte et permettre le déroulement du débat lorsqu'un tiers au moins des membres de l'Assemblée générale sont présents. La présence de la majorité des membres est requise pour la prise de toute décision.

Article 68¹⁹ [109]

Aucun ~~et aucune des~~ représentants ne peut prendre la parole à l'Assemblée générale sans avoir, au préalable, obtenu l'autorisation ~~du Président de la présidence~~. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence donne la parole aux orateurs ~~et oratrices~~ dans l'ordre où ils l'ont demandée. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut rappeler à l'ordre un orateur ~~ou une oratrice~~ dont les remarques n'ont pas trait au sujet en discussion.

Article 69 [111]

Un tour de priorité peut être accordé au Président ou à la Présidente et au Rapporteur ou à la Rapporteuse d'une commission pour expliquer les conclusions de leur commission.

Article 70 [112]

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général, ou un membre du Secrétariat ~~désigné~~ par elle ou lui ~~désigné~~ comme son représentant ou sa représentante, peut, à tout moment, faire des déclarations orales ou écrites à l'Assemblée générale sur toute question soumise à l'examen de l'Assemblée.

Article 71²⁰ [113]

Au cours de la discussion d'une question, un représentant ou une représentante peut présenter une motion d'ordre et ~~le Président~~ la présidence statue immédiatement sur cette motion conformément au Règlement. Tout représentant ou représentante peut en appeler de la décision ~~du Président de la présidence~~. L'appel est immédiatement mis aux voix et, si elle n'est pas annulée par la majorité des membres présents et votants, la décision ~~du Président de la présidence~~ est maintenue. Un représentant ou une représentante qui présente une motion d'ordre ne peut, dans son intervention, traiter du fond de la question en discussion.

Article 72²¹ [114]

L'Assemblée générale peut limiter le temps de parole de chaque orateur ou oratrice et le nombre des interventions de chaque représentant ou représentante sur une même question. Avant qu'une décision n'intervienne, deux orateurs ou oratrices peuvent prendre la parole en faveur d'une proposition tendant à fixer de telles limites, et deux contre. Lorsque les débats sont limités et qu'un orateur ou une oratrice dépasse le temps qui lui est alloué, ~~le Président~~ la présidence le ou la rappelle immédiatement à l'ordre.

*Clôture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices, droit de réponse***Article 73²² [115]**

Au cours d'un débat, ~~le Président~~ la présidence peut donner lecture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices, avec l'assentiment de l'Assemblée générale, déclarer cette liste close. Elle ~~Il~~ peut cependant accorder le droit de

¹⁸ Voir introduction, par. 34 ; voir également annexe III, al. g, i, annexe IV, par. 67, et annexe VI, par. 7.

¹⁹ Voir annexe III, al. g, ii, annexe IV, par. 69 à 71, et annexe V, par. 17.

²⁰ Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 79.

²¹ Voir introduction, par. 11 et 34.

²² Voir annexe IV, par. 46, 69, 77 et 78, et annexe V, par. 8 à 11.

réponse à un membre lorsqu'un discours prononcé après la clôture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices rend cette décision opportune.

Article 74²³ [116]

Au cours de la discussion d'une question, un représentant ou une représentante peut demander l'ajournement du débat sur la question en discussion. Outre la personne qui est l'auteur de la motion, deux orateurs ou oratrices peuvent prendre la parole en faveur de l'ajournement, et deux contre, après quoi la motion est immédiatement mise aux voix. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée des interventions permises aux orateurs et oratrices en vertu du présent article.

Article 75³⁸ [117]

À tout moment, un représentant ou une représentante peut demander la clôture du débat sur la question en discussion, même si d'autres ~~représentants~~ ont manifesté le désir de prendre la parole. L'autorisation de prendre la parole au sujet de la clôture du débat n'est accordée qu'à deux orateurs ou oratrices opposés à la clôture, après quoi la motion est immédiatement mise aux voix. Si l'Assemblée générale approuve la motion, ~~le Président~~ la présidence prononce la clôture du débat. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée des interventions permises aux orateurs et oratrices en vertu du présent article.

Article 76³⁸ [118]

Au cours de la discussion d'une question, un représentant ou une représentante peut demander la suspension ou l'ajournement de la séance. Les motions en ce sens ne sont pas discutées, mais sont immédiatement mises aux voix. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée de l'intervention de l'orateur ou de l'oratrice qui propose la suspension ou l'ajournement de la séance.

Article 78²⁴ [120]

Les propositions et amendements sont normalement présentés par écrit à la ou au Secrétaire général, qui en assure la distribution aux délégations. En règle générale, aucune proposition n'est discutée ni mise aux voix, à une séance de l'Assemblée générale, si le texte n'en a pas été distribué à toutes les délégations au plus tard la veille de la séance. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut cependant autoriser la discussion et l'examen d'amendements ou de motions de procédure, même si ces amendements et motions n'ont pas été distribués ou ne l'ont été que le jour même.

Article 80 [122]

Une motion qui n'a pas encore été mise aux voix peut, à tout moment, être retirée par la délégation qui en l'auteur ~~son auteur~~, à condition qu'elle n'ait pas fait l'objet d'un amendement. Une motion qui est ainsi retirée peut être présentée à nouveau par tout membre.

Article 81 [123]

Lorsqu'une proposition est adoptée ou rejetée, elle ne peut être examinée à nouveau au cours de la même session, sauf décision contraire de l'Assemblée générale prise à la majorité des deux tiers des membres présents et votants. L'autorisation de prendre la parole à l'occasion d'une motion tendant à un nouvel examen n'est accordée qu'à deux orateurs ou oratrices opposés à la motion, après quoi elle est immédiatement mise aux voix.

Article 87²⁵ [127]

a) L'Assemblée générale vote normalement à main levée ou par assis et levé, mais tout représentant ou représentante peut demander le vote par appel nominal. L'appel est fait dans l'ordre alphabétique anglais des noms des membres en commençant par le membre dont le nom est tiré au sort par ~~le Président~~ la présidence. Dans le vote par appel nominal, on appelle chaque membre et un ou une de ses représentants répond « oui », « non » ou « abstention ». Les résultats du vote sont consignés au compte rendu, suivant l'ordre alphabétique anglais des noms des membres.

²³ Voir introduction, par. 11.

²⁴ Voir annexe IV, par. 87 et 88.

²⁵ Voir introduction, par. 28 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 84, et annexe VII, par. 2.

b) Lorsque l'Assemblée générale vote à l'aide du dispositif mécanique, un vote non enregistré remplace un vote à main levée ou par assis et levé, et un vote enregistré remplace un vote par appel nominal. Tout représentant ou représentante peut demander un vote enregistré. Dans le cas d'un vote enregistré, il n'est pas procédé, à moins qu'un représentant ou une représentante n'en fasse la demande, à l'appel des noms des membres ; toutefois, les résultats du vote sont consignés au compte rendu de la même manière que les résultats d'un vote par appel nominal.

Article 88²⁶ [128]

Lorsque ~~le Président~~ la présidence a annoncé que le vote commence, aucun représentant et aucune représentante ne peut interrompre le vote, sauf pour présenter une motion d'ordre ayant trait à la manière dont s'effectue le vote. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut permettre aux membres de donner des explications sur leur vote, soit avant soit après le vote, sauf lorsque celui-ci a lieu au scrutin secret. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée de ces explications. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence ne peut pas autoriser le membre qui est l'auteur d'une proposition ou d'un amendement à expliquer son vote sur sa proposition ou sur son amendement.

Article 89²⁷ [129]

Tout représentant ou représentante peut demander que des parties d'une proposition ou d'un amendement soient mises aux voix séparément. S'il est fait objection à la demande de division, la motion de division est mise aux voix. L'autorisation de prendre la parole au sujet de la motion de division n'est accordée qu'à deux orateurs ou oratrices pour et deux ~~orateurs~~ contre. Si la motion de division est acceptée, les parties de la proposition ou de l'amendement qui ont été adoptées sont ensuite mises aux voix en bloc. Si toutes les parties du dispositif d'une proposition ou d'un amendement ont été rejetées, la proposition ou l'amendement est considéré comme rejeté dans son ensemble.

Article 93 [132]

Lorsqu'il s'agit d'élire une seule personne ou un seul Membre et qu'aucun candidat ni aucune candidate ne recueille au premier tour la majorité requise, il est procédé à un deuxième tour de scrutin, mais le vote ne porte plus que sur les deux ~~candidats~~ candidatures ayant obtenu le plus grand nombre de voix. Si, au deuxième tour, il y a partage égal des voix et si la majorité est requise, ~~le Président~~ la présidence décide entre les ~~candidats~~ candidatures en tirant au sort. Dans le cas où la majorité des deux tiers est requise, le scrutin continue jusqu'à ce qu'un ou une des candidats recueille les deux tiers des suffrages exprimés ; toutefois, après le troisième tour de scrutin non décisif, les membres ont le droit de voter pour toute personne ou Membre éligible. Si trois tours de scrutin libre ne donnent pas de résultat, les trois scrutins suivants ne portent plus que sur les deux ~~candidats~~ candidatures ayant obtenu le plus grand nombre de voix au troisième tour de scrutin libre ; les trois scrutins suivants sont libres, et ainsi de suite jusqu'à ce qu'une personne ou un Membre soit élu. Les dispositions du présent article ne portent pas atteinte à l'application des articles 143, 144, 146 et 148.

Article 94

Quand deux ou plusieurs postes doivent être pourvus par voie d'élection en même temps et dans les mêmes conditions, les candidats ou candidates qui, au premier tour, obtiennent la majorité requise sont élus. Si le nombre de ~~candidats~~ candidatures obtenant cette majorité est inférieur au nombre des personnes ou des Membres à élire, il est procédé à d'autres tours de scrutin afin de pourvoir les postes encore vacants, le vote ne portant que sur les candidats ou candidates qui ont obtenu le plus grand nombre de suffrages au scrutin précédent et qui ne doivent pas être en nombre supérieur au double de celui des postes restant à pourvoir ; toutefois, après le troisième tour de scrutin non décisif, les membres ont le droit de voter pour toute personne ou Membre éligible. Si trois tours de scrutin libre ne donnent pas de résultat, les trois scrutins suivants ne portent plus que sur les ~~candidats~~ candidatures qui ont obtenu le plus grand nombre de voix au troisième tour de scrutin libre et qui ne doivent pas être en nombre supérieur au double de celui des postes restant à pourvoir ; les trois scrutins suivants sont libres,

²⁶ Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 74 à 76, et annexe V, par. 6, 7 et 11.

²⁷ Voir introduction, par. 11.

et ainsi de suite jusqu'à ce que tous les postes aient été pourvus. Les dispositions du présent article ne portent pas atteinte à l'application des articles 143, 144, 146 et 148.

Article 99²⁸

a) Toutes les grandes commissions élisent ~~un président~~ une personne à la présidence trois mois au moins avant l'ouverture de la session. L'élection des autres membres du Bureau prévue à l'article 103 a lieu au plus tard avant la fin de la première semaine de la session.

b) Chacune des grandes commissions, eu égard à la date fixée par l'Assemblée générale, sur recommandation du Bureau, pour la clôture de la session, décide de l'ordre de priorité des questions qui lui sont renvoyées et tient les réunions nécessaires pour achever l'examen de ces questions. Elle adopte, au début de la session, un programme de travail indiquant, si possible, la date retenue comme objectif pour l'achèvement de ses travaux, les dates approximatives de l'examen des questions et le nombre de séances à consacrer à chacune d'elles.

Article 100

Chaque Membre peut être représenté par une personne à chacune des grandes commissions, ainsi qu'à toute autre commission qui peut être créée et à laquelle tous les Membres ont le droit d'être représentés. Il peut aussi affecter à ces commissions des conseillers et conseillères, conseillers et conseillères techniques, experts et expertes ou personnes de catégorie analogue.

Article 101

Sur désignation de la ou du chef de la délégation intéressée, les conseillers et conseillères, conseillers et conseillères techniques, experts et expertes ou personnes de catégorie analogue peuvent agir en qualité de membres des commissions. Toutefois, les personnes de cette catégorie ne peuvent être élues présidentes, vice-présidentes ou rapporteur rapporteuses de commission ni siéger à l'Assemblée générale, à moins qu'elles n'aient été désignées comme représentantes suppléantes.

Article 103²⁹ [92]

Chacune des grandes commissions élit un président ou une présidente, trois personnes à la vice-présidence ~~vice-présidents~~ et un rapporteur ou une rapporteuse. Les autres commissions élisent chacune un président ou une présidente, un ou une ou plusieurs vice-présidents et un rapporteur ou une rapporteuse. Le bureau est élu en tenant compte d'une répartition géographique équitable, de l'expérience et de la compétence personnelle des candidats et des candidates. Les élections ont lieu au scrutin secret, à moins que la commission n'en décide autrement dans le cas d'une élection à un poste ne faisant l'objet que d'une seule candidature. La présentation de chaque candidature donne lieu à l'intervention d'un seul orateur ou d'une seule oratrice, après quoi la commission procède immédiatement à l'élection.

Le Président ou la Présidente d'une grande commission ne prend pas part aux votes

Article 104 [37]

Le Président ou la Présidente d'une grande commission ne prend pas part aux votes, mais un autre membre de sa délégation peut voter à sa place.

²⁸ Voir introduction, par. 11, 19, 34 et 51 ; voir également annexe V, par. 21 et 23. Voir aussi, en ce qui concerne l'élection d'autres membres du Bureau trois mois au moins avant l'ouverture de la session, la résolution 58/126 du 19 décembre 2003.

²⁹ Voir introduction, par. 34 et 49 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 40 et 54 à 57, et annexe V, par. 18 à 20, et les informations figurant dans la note de bas de page 14.

Par sa résolution 72/313 du 17 septembre 2018, l'Assemblée générale a décidé de définir la répartition des présidences des grandes commissions pour ses soixante-quatorzième à quatre-vingt-troisième sessions, selon les dispositions prévues dans l'annexe de ladite résolution.

Voir également la résolution 68/307 du 10 septembre 2014, qui dispose que le rapporteur ou la rapporteuse de chaque grande commission est élu au sein du groupe régional du président ou de la présidente de cette commission à la session précédente (annexe, par. 4).

Article 105³⁰ [32-34]

Si le Président ou la Présidente estime nécessaire de s'absenter pendant une séance ou une partie de séance, il ou elle désigne un ou une des vice-présidents en remplacement ~~pour le remplacer~~. Un vice-président ou vice-présidente agissant en qualité de président ou de présidente a les mêmes pouvoirs et les mêmes devoirs que le Président ou la Présidente. Si un membre du bureau d'une commission se trouve dans l'impossibilité de s'acquitter de ses fonctions, un nouveau membre est élu pour le reste de la durée du mandat.

*Fonctions de la présidence ~~du Président~~***Article 106³¹ [35]**

~~Le Président~~ La présidence prononce l'ouverture et la clôture de chaque séance de la commission, dirige les discussions, assure l'application du présent Règlement, donne la parole, met les questions aux voix et proclame les décisions. ~~Elle~~ statue sur les motions d'ordre et, sous réserve des dispositions du présent Règlement, règle entièrement les débats à chaque séance et y assure le maintien de l'ordre. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut proposer à la commission, au cours de la discussion d'une question, la limitation du temps de parole, la limitation du nombre d'interventions de chaque représentant ou représentante, la clôture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices ou la clôture des débats. ~~Elle~~ peut également proposer la suspension ou l'ajournement de la séance ou l'ajournement du débat sur la question en discussion.

Article 107⁵² [36]

~~Le Président~~ La présidence, dans l'exercice de ses fonctions, demeure sous l'autorité de la commission.

Article 108³² [67]

~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut déclarer la séance ouverte et permettre le déroulement du débat lorsqu'un quart au moins des membres de la commission sont présents. La présence de la majorité des membres est requise pour la prise de toute décision.

Article 109³³ [68]

Aucun et aucune des représentants ne peut prendre la parole en commission sans avoir, au préalable, obtenu l'autorisation ~~du Président~~ de la présidence. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence donne la parole aux orateurs et oratrices dans l'ordre où ils l'ont demandée. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut rappeler à l'ordre un orateur ou une oratrice dont les remarques n'ont pas trait au sujet en discussion.

Article 110³⁴

Les félicitations adressées aux membres du bureau d'une grande commission ne sont présentées que par le Président ou la Présidente de la session précédente – ou, en son absence, par un membre de sa délégation – après que tous les membres du bureau de ladite commission ont été élus.

Article 111 [69]

Un tour de priorité peut être accordé au Président ou à la Présidente et au Rapporteur ou à la Rapporteuse d'une commission ou d'une sous-commission pour expliquer les conclusions de leur commission ou sous-commission.

³⁰ Voir introduction, par. 34.

³¹ Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe I, par. 39, annexe III, al. g, annexe IV, par. 39 et 67, annexe V, par. 3 et 22, et annexe VI, par. 6 et 7.

³² Voir introduction, par. 11 et 34.

³³ Voir annexe III, al. g, ii, annexe IV, par. 69 à 71, et annexe VI, par. 6.

³⁴ Voir introduction, par. 34.

Article 112 [70]

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général, ou un membre du Secrétariat ~~désigné~~ par elle ou lui ~~désigné~~ comme son représentant ou sa représentante, peut, à tout moment, faire des déclarations orales ou écrites à toute commission ou sous-commission sur toute question soumise à l'examen de cette commission ou sous-commission.

Article 113³⁵ [71]

Au cours de la discussion d'une question, un représentant ou une représentante peut présenter une motion d'ordre et ~~le Président~~ la présidence statue immédiatement sur cette motion conformément au Règlement. Tout représentant ou représentante peut en appeler de la décision ~~du Président~~ de la présidence. L'appel est immédiatement mis aux voix et, si elle n'est pas annulée par la majorité des membres présents et votants, la décision ~~du Président~~ de la présidence est maintenue. Un représentant ou une représentante qui présente une motion d'ordre ne peut, dans son intervention, traiter du fond de la question en discussion.

Article 114³⁶ [72]

La commission peut limiter le temps de parole de chaque orateur et oratrice et le nombre des interventions de chaque représentant ou représentante sur une même question. Avant qu'une décision n'intervienne, deux orateurs ou oratrices peuvent prendre la parole en faveur d'une proposition tendant à fixer de telles limites, et deux contre. Lorsque les débats sont limités et qu'un orateurs ou une oratrice dépasse le temps qui lui est alloué, ~~le Président~~ la présidence le rappelle immédiatement à l'ordre.

Clôture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices, droit de réponse

Article 115³⁷ [73]

Au cours d'un débat, ~~le Président~~ la présidence peut donner lecture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices, et avec l'assentiment de la commission, déclarer cette liste close. ~~Elle~~ peut cependant accorder le droit de réponse à un membre lorsqu'un discours prononcé après la clôture de la liste des orateurs et oratrices rend cette décision opportune.

Article 116³⁸ [74]

Au cours de la discussion d'une question, un représentant ou une représentante peut demander l'ajournement du débat sur la question en discussion. Outre la personne qui est l'auteur de la motion, deux orateurs ou oratrices peuvent prendre la parole en faveur de l'ajournement, et deux contre, après quoi la motion est immédiatement mise aux voix. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée des interventions permises aux orateurs et oratrices en vertu du présent article.

Article 117⁵⁹ [75]

À tout moment, un représentant ou une représentante peut demander la clôture du débat sur la question en discussion, même si d'autres ~~représentants~~ ont manifesté le désir de prendre la parole. L'autorisation de prendre la parole au sujet de la clôture du débat n'est accordée qu'à deux orateurs ou oratrices opposés à la clôture, après quoi la motion est immédiatement mise aux voix. Si la commission approuve la motion, ~~le Président~~ la présidence prononce la clôture du débat. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée des interventions permises aux orateurs et oratrices en vertu du présent article.

Article 118⁵⁹ [76]

Au cours de la discussion d'une question, un représentant ou une représentante peut demander la suspension ou l'ajournement de la séance. Les motions en ce sens ne sont pas discutées, mais sont immédiatement mises aux

³⁵ Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 79.

³⁶ Voir introduction, par. 11 et 34.

³⁷ Voir annexe IV, par. 69, 77 et 78, annexe V, par. 8 à 10, et annexe VI, par. 6.

³⁸ Voir introduction, par. 11.

voix. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée de l'intervention de l'orateur ou de l'oratrice qui propose la suspension ou l'ajournement de la séance.

Article 120³⁹ [78]

Les propositions et amendements sont normalement présentés par écrit à la ou au Secrétaire général, qui en assure la distribution aux délégations. En règle générale, aucune proposition n'est discutée ni mise aux voix, à une séance de la commission, si le texte n'en a pas été distribué à toutes les délégations au plus tard la veille de la séance. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut cependant autoriser la discussion et l'examen d'amendements ou de motions de procédure, même si ces amendements et motions n'ont pas été distribués ou ne l'ont été que le jour même.

Article 122 [80]

Une motion qui n'a pas encore été mise aux voix peut, à tout moment, être retirée par ~~son~~ le membre qui en est l'auteur, à condition qu'elle n'ait pas fait l'objet d'un amendement. Une motion qui est ainsi retirée peut être présentée à nouveau par tout membre.

Article 123 [81]

Lorsqu'une proposition est adoptée ou rejetée, elle ne peut être examinée à nouveau au cours de la même session, sauf décision contraire de la commission prise à la majorité des deux tiers des membres présents et votants. L'autorisation de prendre la parole à l'occasion d'une motion tendant à un nouvel examen n'est accordée qu'à deux orateurs ou oratrices opposés à la motion, après quoi elle est immédiatement mise aux voix.

Article 127⁴⁰ [87]

a) La commission vote normalement à main levée ou par assis et levé, mais tout représentant ou représentante peut demander le vote par appel nominal. L'appel est fait dans l'ordre alphabétique anglais des noms des membres, en commençant par le membre dont le nom est tiré au sort par ~~le Président~~ la présidence. Dans le vote par appel nominal, on appelle chaque membre et son représentant ou sa représentante répond « oui », « non » ou « abstention ». Les résultats du vote sont consignés au compte rendu, suivant l'ordre alphabétique anglais des noms des membres.

b) Lorsque la commission vote à l'aide du dispositif mécanique, un vote non enregistré remplace un vote à main levée ou par assis et levé, et un vote enregistré remplace un vote par appel nominal. Tout représentant ou représentante peut demander un vote enregistré. Dans le cas d'un vote enregistré, il n'est pas procédé, à moins qu'un représentant ou une représentante n'en fasse la demande, à l'appel des noms des membres ; toutefois, les résultats du vote sont consignés au compte rendu de la même manière que les résultats d'un vote par appel nominal.

Article 128⁴¹ [88]

Lorsque ~~le Président~~ la présidence a annoncé que le vote commence, aucun ni aucune des représentants ne peut interrompre le vote, sauf pour présenter une motion d'ordre ayant trait à la manière dont s'effectue le vote. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut permettre aux membres de donner des explications sur leur vote, soit avant soit après le vote, sauf lorsque celui-ci a lieu au scrutin secret. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence peut limiter la durée de ces explications. ~~Le Président~~ La présidence ne peut pas autoriser une délégation qui est l'auteur d'une proposition ou d'un amendement à expliquer son vote sur sa proposition ou sur son amendement.

Article 129⁴² [89]

Tout représentant ou représentante peut demander que des parties d'une proposition ou d'un amendement soient mises aux voix séparément. S'il est fait objection à la demande de division, la motion de division est mise aux voix. L'autorisation de prendre la parole au sujet de la motion de division n'est accordée qu'à deux orateurs

³⁹ Voir annexe IV, par. 87 et 88.

⁴⁰ Voir introduction, par. 28 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 84, et annexe VII, par. 2.

⁴¹ Voir introduction, par. 11 ; voir également annexe IV, par. 74 à 76, et annexe V, par. 6 et 7.

⁴² Voir introduction, par. 11.

ou oratrices pour et deux ~~orateurs~~ contre. Si la motion de division est acceptée, les parties de la proposition ou de l'amendement qui ont été adoptées sont ensuite mises aux voix en bloc. Si toutes les parties du dispositif d'une proposition ou d'un amendement ont été rejetées, la proposition ou l'amendement est considéré comme rejeté dans son ensemble.

Article 132 [93]

Lorsqu'il s'agit d'élire une seule personne ou un seul Membre et qu'aucun candidat ni aucune candidate ne recueille au premier tour la majorité requise, il est procédé à un second tour de scrutin, mais le vote ne porte plus que sur les deux ~~candidats~~ candidatures ayant obtenu le plus grand nombre de voix. Si au second tour il y a partage égal des voix et si la majorité est requise, le ~~Président~~ la présidence décide entre les ~~candidats~~ candidatures en tirant au sort.

Article 134⁴³

Tout État qui désire devenir Membre de l'Organisation des Nations Unies adresse une demande à la ou au Secrétaire général. Cette demande doit contenir une déclaration, faite dans un instrument formel, par laquelle ledit État accepte les obligations de la Charte.

Article 135⁶⁵

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général adresse, à titre d'information, une copie de la demande à l'Assemblée générale ou, si celle-ci n'est pas en session, aux Membres de l'Organisation.

Article 138⁶⁵

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général communique la décision de l'Assemblée générale à l'État intéressé. S'il est fait droit à la demande, l'admission de l'État intéressé prend effet à la date à laquelle l'Assemblée générale prend sa décision sur ladite demande.

SECRÉTAIRE GÉNÉRAL SECRÉTAIRE GÉNÉRALE

Nomination de la ou du Secrétaire général

Article 141

Lorsque le Conseil de sécurité a transmis sa recommandation sur la nomination de la ou du Secrétaire général, l'Assemblée générale examine cette recommandation et se prononce à son sujet au scrutin secret, en séance privée.

Article 151

Toute séance de l'Assemblée générale tenue, conformément au Statut de la Cour internationale de Justice, pour procéder à l'élection de membres de la Cour se poursuit jusqu'à ce que la majorité absolue des voix soit allée, en un ou plusieurs tours de scrutin, à autant de ~~candidats~~ candidatures qu'il est nécessaire pour que tous les sièges vacants soient pourvus.

Article 153⁴⁴

Aucune commission ne recommande à l'Assemblée générale, pour approbation, de résolution impliquant des dépenses sans que cette résolution soit accompagnée d'une prévision des dépenses établie par la ou le Secrétaire général. L'Assemblée générale ne vote aucune résolution dont la ou le Secrétaire général prévoit qu'elle entraînera des dépenses tant que la Commission des questions administratives et budgétaires (Cinquième Commission) n'a pas eu la possibilité d'indiquer les incidences de la proposition sur les prévisions budgétaires de l'Organisation.

⁴³ Voir introduction, par. 8.

⁴⁴ Voir annexe IV, par. 97 et 98, et annexe V, par. 12 et 13.

Article 154⁷⁵

La ou le ~~Le~~ Secrétaire général tient toutes les commissions au courant des prévisions détaillées des frais qu'entraînent les résolutions dont les commissions recommandent l'approbation par l'Assemblée générale.

Article 155⁴⁵

L'Assemblée générale nomme un Comité consultatif pour les questions administratives et budgétaires comprenant vingt et un membres, dont trois au moins sont des expertes ou experts financiers d'une compétence reconnue.

Article 156⁴⁶

Les membres du Comité consultatif pour les questions administratives et budgétaires, tous de nationalité différente, sont choisis de façon à assurer une large représentation géographique et en tenant compte de leurs titres et de leur expérience personnels ; la durée de leur mandat est de trois ans, correspondant à trois années civiles. Les membres se retirent par roulement et peuvent être nommés à nouveau. Les trois expertes ou experts financiers ne doivent pas se retirer en même temps. L'Assemblée générale nomme les membres du Comité consultatif au cours de la session ordinaire précédant immédiatement l'expiration du mandat des membres ou, si des sièges deviennent vacants, au cours de la session suivante.

Article 157⁴⁷

Le Comité consultatif pour les questions administratives et budgétaires est chargé de soumettre le budget-programme de l'Organisation à un examen technique et d'assister la Commission des questions administratives et budgétaires (Cinquième Commission). Au début de chaque session ordinaire au cours de laquelle le projet de budget-programme pour l'exercice biennal suivant doit être examiné, il soumet à l'Assemblée générale un rapport détaillé sur le projet de budget-programme pour ledit exercice biennal. Il présente également, aux dates spécifiées dans les dispositions pertinentes du Règlement financier et des règles de gestion financière de l'Organisation des Nations Unies⁴⁸, un rapport sur les comptes de l'Organisation et de toutes les entités de l'Organisation pour lesquelles la ou le Secrétaire général exerce une responsabilité administrative. Il examine, au nom de l'Assemblée générale, les budgets administratifs des institutions spécialisées et les propositions relatives aux arrangements financiers et budgétaires à conclure avec ces institutions. Il remplit toutes autres fonctions qui peuvent lui être assignées aux termes du roulement financier de l'Organisation.

⁴⁵ Voir introduction, par. 23, 35, 40 et 60.

⁴⁶ Voir introduction, par. 23 et 40. Voir également, en ce qui concerne la répartition des sièges entre les groupes régionaux, introduction, par. 60.

⁴⁷ Voir introduction, par. 40.

⁴⁸ Résolution 67/246 et ST/SGB/2013/4 et ST/SGB/2013/4/Amend.1.

Russian

Правило 9¹

а) Любой член Организации Объединенных Наций может потребовать у Генерального секретаря созыва специальной сессии Генеральной Ассамблеи. Генеральный секретарь извещает немедленно других членов Организации об этом требовании и запрашивает их, присоединяются ли они к нему. Если в течение тридцати дней, считая с даты извещения Генерального секретаря, большинство членов Организации присоединится к этому требованию, то в соответствии с правилом 8 созывается специальная сессия Генеральной Ассамблеи.

б) Настоящее правило применяется также к требованию любого члена Организации Объединенных Наций о созыве чрезвычайной специальной сессии в соответствии с резолюцией 377 A (V). В этом случае Генеральный секретарь сносится с остальными членами Организации, пользуясь самыми быстрыми средствами связи, которые имеются в ~~его~~ распоряжении.

Правило 31²

Если к моменту открытия сессии Генеральной Ассамблеи Председатель данной сессии еще не был избран в соответствии с правилом 30, выше, функции Председателя до ~~его~~ избрания Председателя Ассамблеи исполняет Председатель предыдущей сессии или глава той делегации, из состава которой был избран Председатель предыдущей сессии Ассамблеи.

Правило 32 [105]

Если Председатель считает необходимым не присутствовать на заседании или на части заседания, ~~он~~ Председатель назначает на свое место одного из заместителей.

Правило 35³ [106]

Помимо осуществления прав, предоставленных ~~ему~~ Председателю другими постановлениями настоящих правил, Председатель открывает и закрывает каждое пленарное заседание сессии, руководит прениями на пленарных заседаниях, следит за соблюдением настоящих правил, предоставляет слово, ставит вопросы на голосование и объявляет решения. Председатель ~~Он~~ выносит постановления по порядку ведения заседания и в соответствии с настоящими правилами полностью осуществляет руководство ходом каждого заседания и поддерживает порядок на заседании. Во время обсуждения любого пункта Председатель может предложить Генеральной Ассамблее ограничить время, предоставляемое ораторам, ограничить число выступлений каждого представителя, прекратить запись ораторов или прекратить прения. Председатель ~~Он~~ может также предложить прервать или закрыть заседание или предложить прервать прения по обсуждаемому пункту.

Правило 37 [104]

Председатель или заместитель Председателя, исполняющий обязанности Председателя, не участвует в голосовании, а поручает другому члену своей делегации голосовать вместо себя ~~него~~.

Правило 39⁴

Если один из заместителей Председателя Генеральной Ассамблеи считает необходимым не присутствовать на заседании Генерального комитета, ~~он-этот заместитель Председателя~~ может назначить своим заместителем одного из членов своей делегации. Председатель одного из главных комитетов назначает в случае отсутствия своим заместителем заместителя Председателя Комитета. Заместитель

¹ См. п. 13 введения.

² См. пп. 21, 22, 26 и 52 b) введения.

³ См. п. 11 введения; см. также п. 39 приложения I, п. g) приложения III, пп. 39 и 67 приложения IV, п. 3 приложения V и п. 7 приложения VI.

⁴ См. пп. 19, 21 и 34 введения; см. также п. 10 приложения IV.

Председателя, который является членом той же делегации, что и другой член Генерального комитета, не имеет права участвовать в голосовании.

Правило 45

Генеральный секретарь действует в этом качестве на всех заседаниях Генеральной Ассамблеи⁵, ее комитетов и подкомитетов. Генеральный секретарь ~~Он~~ может поручить одному из сотрудников Секретариата замещать себя ~~его~~ на этих заседаниях.

Правило 48

Генеральный секретарь представляет Генеральной Ассамблее ежегодный доклад о работе Организации и дополнительные доклады, которые могут потребоваться²². Свой ежегодный доклад Генеральный секретарь ~~он~~ рассылает членам Организации Объединенных Наций не менее чем за сорок пять дней до открытия сессии.

Правило 53²⁸

Каждый представитель может произносить речь на любом другом языке, помимо языков Генеральной Ассамблеи. В этих случаях ~~он сам~~ представители принимают меры к тому, чтобы ~~его~~ их речь была переведена на один из языков Генеральной Ассамблеи или ее соответствующего комитета. Устный переводчик Секретариата при переводе на другие языки Генеральной Ассамблеи или соответствующего комитета может принять за основу устный перевод на первый такой язык.

Правило 68⁶ [109]

Никто из представителей не может выступать в Генеральной Ассамблее, не получив предварительного разрешения Председателя. Председатель предоставляет слово ораторам в том порядке, в каком они заявили о своем желании выступить. Председатель может призвать ~~оратора~~ ораторов к порядку, если ~~его~~ их замечания не относятся к обсуждаемому вопросу.

Правило 70 [112]

Генеральный секретарь или назначенный ~~им~~ Генеральным секретарем в качестве своего представителя сотрудник Секретариата может в любое время сделать Генеральной Ассамблее устное или письменное заявление, касающееся любого рассматриваемого ею вопроса.

Правило 71⁷ [113]

Во время обсуждения любого вопроса каждый представитель может взять слово по порядку ведения заседания, и поднятый ~~им~~ представителем вопрос немедленно решается Председателем в соответствии с правилами процедуры. Представитель может опротестовать постановление Председателя. Протест немедленно ставится на голосование, и постановление Председателя остается в силе, если оно не будет отклонено большинством присутствующих и участвующих в голосовании членов Организации. Представитель, выступающий по порядку ведения заседания, не может говорить по существу обсуждаемого вопроса.

Правило 72⁸ [114]

Генеральная Ассамблея может ограничить время, предоставляемое каждому оратору, и число выступлений каждого представителя по какому-либо вопросу. До принятия решения два представителя могут высказаться за предложение об установлении таких ограничений, а два — против него. Если прения

⁵ Правило, непосредственно вытекающее из положений Устава (статья 98).

⁶ См. п. g) ii) приложения III, пп. 69–71 приложения IV и п. 17 приложения V.

⁷ См. п. 11 введения; см. также п. 79 приложения IV.

⁸ См. пп. 11 и 34 введения.

были ограничены и представитель превысил предоставленное ~~ему~~ время, Председатель немедленно призывает представителя ~~его~~ к порядку.

Правило 73⁹ [115]

Во время прений Председатель может огласить список ораторов и, с согласия Генеральной Ассамблеи, объявить о прекращении записи ораторов. ~~Он-Председатель~~ может, однако, предоставить слово для ответа любому члену Организации, если речь, произнесенная после прекращения записи ораторов, дает для этого основания.

Правило 88¹⁰ [128]

После того как Председатель объявит о начале голосования, ни один представитель не может прерывать голосования, кроме как выступая по порядку ведения заседания в связи с проведением данного голосования. Председатель может разрешить членам Организации высказаться по мотивам голосования как до, так и после голосования, за исключением случаев, когда проводится тайное голосование. Председатель может ограничить время, предоставляемое для таких выступлений. Председатель не должен разрешать ~~автору-авторам~~ предложения или поправки высказываться по мотивам голосования по ~~его-их~~ собственному предложению или поправке.

Правило 105¹¹ [32–34]

Если Председатель сочтет необходимым не присутствовать на заседании или на части заседания, ~~он~~ Председатель назначает вместо себя одного из заместителей Председателя. Заместитель Председателя, исполняющий обязанности Председателя, имеет те же права и обязанности, что и Председатель. Если кто-либо из должностных лиц комитета не может выполнять свои функции, то на остающийся срок избирается другое лицо.

Правило 106¹² [35]

Председатель открывает и закрывает каждое заседание комитета, руководит прениями, следит за соблюдением настоящих правил, предоставляет слово, ставит вопросы на голосование и объявляет решения. ~~Он-Председатель~~ выносит постановления по порядку ведения заседания и в соответствии с настоящими правилами полностью осуществляет руководство работой комитета и поддерживает порядок на его заседаниях. Во время обсуждения любого пункта Председатель может предложить комитету ограничить время, предоставляемое ораторам, ограничить число выступлений каждого представителя, прекратить запись ораторов или прекратить прения. ~~Он-Председатель~~ может также предложить прервать или закрыть заседание или предложить прервать прения по обсуждаемому пункту.

Правило 109¹³ [68]

Никто из представителей не может выступать в комитетах, не получив предварительно разрешения Председателя. Председатель предоставляет слово ораторам в том порядке, в каком они заявили о своем желании выступить. Председатель может призвать ~~оратора-ораторов~~ к порядку, если ~~его-их~~ замечания не относятся к обсуждаемому вопросу.

⁹ См. пп. 46, 69, 77 и 78 приложения IV и пп. 8–11 приложения V.

¹⁰ См. п. 11 введения; см. также пп. 74–76 приложения IV и пп. 6, 7 и 11 приложения V.

¹¹ См. п. 34 введения.

¹² См. п. 11 введения; см. также п. 39 приложения I, п. г) приложения III, пп. 39 и 67 приложения IV, пп. 3 и 22 приложения V и пп. 6 и 7 приложения VI.

¹³ См. п. г) ii) приложения III, пп. 69–71 приложения IV и п. 6 приложения VI.

Правило 110¹⁴

С приветствиями в адрес должностных лиц главного комитета выступает только Председатель предыдущей сессии — или, в случае ~~его~~—отсутствия Председателя, один из членов ~~его~~—делегации Председателя — после того, как будут избраны все должностные лица данного комитета.

Правило 112 [70]

Генеральный секретарь или назначенный Генеральным секретарем ~~им~~ в качестве своего представителя сотрудник Секретариата может в любое время сделать в любом комитете или подкомитете устное или письменное заявление, касающееся любого рассматриваемого ими вопроса.

Правило 113¹⁵ [71]

Во время обсуждения любого вопроса каждый представитель может взять слово по порядку ведения заседания и поднятый ~~им~~ представителем вопрос немедленно решается Председателем в соответствии с правилами процедуры. Представитель может опротестовать постановление Председателя. Протест должен быть немедленно поставлен на голосование, и постановление Председателя остается в силе, если оно не будет отклонено большинством присутствующих и участвующих в голосовании членов комитета. Представитель, выступающий по порядку ведения заседания, не может говорить по существу обсуждаемого вопроса.

Правило 114¹⁶ [72]

Комитет может ограничить время, предоставляемое каждому оратору, и число выступлений каждого представителя по какому-либо вопросу. До принятия решения два представителя могут высказаться в поддержку предложения об установлении таких ограничений и два — против. Если прения были ограничены и представитель превысил предоставленное ~~ему~~ время, Председатель немедленно призывает представителя ~~его~~ к порядку.

Правило 115¹⁷ [73]

Во время прений Председатель может огласить список ораторов и с согласия комитета объявить о прекращении записи ораторов. ~~Он~~ Председатель может, однако, предоставить слово для ответа любому члену комитета, если речь, произнесенная после прекращения записи ораторов, дает для этого основание.

Правило 128¹⁸ [88]

После того как Председатель объявит о начале голосования, ни один представитель не может прерывать голосования, за исключением случаев выступления по порядку ведения заседания в связи с проведением данного голосования. Председатель может разрешить членам комитета высказаться по мотивам голосования как до, так и после голосования, за исключением случаев, когда проводится тайное голосование. Председатель может ограничить время, предоставляемое для таких выступлений. Председатель не должен разрешать ~~автору~~ авторам предложения или поправки высказываться по мотивам голосования по ~~его~~ их собственному предложению или поправке.

¹⁴ См. п. 34 ведения.

¹⁵ См. п. 11 введения; см. также п. 79 приложения IV.

¹⁶ См. пп. 11 и 34 введения.

¹⁷ См. пп. 69, 77 и 78 приложения IV, пп. 8–10 приложения V и п. 6 приложения VI.

¹⁸ См. п. 11 введения; см. также пп. 74–76 приложения IV и пп. 6 и 7 приложения V.

Spanish

Artículo 4

Cualquier Miembro de las Naciones Unidas podrá pedir, por lo menos ciento veinte días antes de la fecha fijada para la apertura de un período ordinario de sesiones, que se celebre dicho período de sesiones en un lugar distinto del de la Sede de las Naciones Unidas. El/la Secretario/a General comunicará inmediatamente dicha petición, junto con sus recomendaciones, a los demás Miembros de las Naciones Unidas. Si dentro de los treinta días siguientes a la fecha de esta comunicación la mayoría de los Miembros manifiesta su conformidad con la petición, el período de sesiones se celebrará en el lugar propuesto.

Artículo 5

El/la Secretario/a General notificará a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas, por lo menos con sesenta días de antelación, la apertura de cada período ordinario de sesiones.

Artículo 8¹

a) La Asamblea General se reunirá en período extraordinario de sesiones dentro de los quince días siguientes a la fecha en que el/la Secretario/a General haya recibido una petición en ese sentido del Consejo de Seguridad o de la mayoría de los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas, o siguientes a la fecha en que se haya manifestado la conformidad de la mayoría de los Miembros, con arreglo a lo previsto en el artículo 9.

b) En cumplimiento de su resolución 377 A (V), la Asamblea General se reunirá en período extraordinario de sesiones de emergencia dentro de las veinticuatro horas siguientes a la recepción por el/la Secretario/a General de una petición a tal efecto del Consejo de Seguridad, formulada por el voto de nueve de cualesquiera de sus miembros, o de una petición de la mayoría de los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas, expresada mediante votación efectuada en la Comisión Interina o de otra manera, o de la conformidad de la mayoría de los Miembros con arreglo a lo previsto en el artículo 9.

Artículo 9²

a) Cualquier Miembro de las Naciones Unidas podrá pedir al/a la Secretario/a General que convoque a la Asamblea General a un período extraordinario de sesiones. El/la Secretario/a General comunicará inmediatamente la petición a los demás Miembros y les preguntará si están de acuerdo con ella. Si dentro de los treinta días siguientes a la fecha de la comunicación del/de la Secretario/a General la mayoría de los Miembros manifiesta su conformidad con la petición, se convocará a la Asamblea a un período extraordinario de sesiones, con arreglo a las disposiciones del artículo 8.

b) El presente artículo se aplicará también a una petición hecha por cualquier Miembro de las Naciones Unidas para que se celebre un período extraordinario de sesiones de emergencia, en cumplimiento de la resolución 377 A (V). En tal caso, el/la Secretario/a General se pondrá en contacto con los otros Miembros, valiéndose de los medios de comunicación más rápidos de que disponga.

¹ Véase la introducción, párrs. 13 y 27.

² Véase la introducción, párr. 13.

Artículo 10⁵

El/la Secretario/a General notificará a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas, por lo menos con catorce días de antelación, la apertura de un período extraordinario de sesiones convocado a petición del Consejo de Seguridad, y por lo menos con diez días de antelación en el caso de un período de sesiones convocado a petición de la mayoría de los Miembros, o de uno de ellos si la petición ha obtenido la conformidad de la mayoría. En caso de que, conforme al párrafo **b)** del artículo 8, se convoque a un período extraordinario de sesiones de emergencia, el/la Secretario/a General lo notificará a los Miembros por lo menos doce horas antes de la apertura del período de sesiones.

Artículo 12

El/la Secretario/a General elaborará el programa provisional de cada período ordinario de sesiones y lo comunicará a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas, por lo menos sesenta días antes de la apertura del período de sesiones.

Artículo 13

El programa provisional de cada período ordinario de sesiones deberá incluir:

- a) La memoria del/de la Secretario/a General sobre la labor de la Organización;
- b) Los informes del Consejo de Seguridad, del Consejo Económico y Social, del Consejo de Administración Fiduciaria, de la Corte Internacional de Justicia, de los órganos subsidiarios de la Asamblea General y de los organismos especializados (cuando los acuerdos celebrados con estos prevean la presentación de tales informes);
- c) Todos los temas cuya inclusión haya sido ordenada por la Asamblea General en un período de sesiones anterior;
- d) Todos los temas propuestos por los demás órganos principales de las Naciones Unidas;
- e) Todos los temas propuestos por cualquier Miembro de las Naciones Unidas³;
- f) Todos los temas relativos al presupuesto para el ejercicio económico siguiente y el informe sobre las cuentas correspondientes al último ejercicio económico;
- g) Todos los temas que el/la Secretario/a General juzgue necesario someter a la consideración de la Asamblea General;
- h) Todos los temas propuestos por Estados no miembros de las Naciones Unidas, con arreglo a lo dispuesto en el párrafo 2 del Artículo 35 de la Carta.

Artículo 14

Cualquier Miembro u órgano principal de las Naciones Unidas o el/la Secretario/a General podrá solicitar, por lo menos treinta días antes de la fecha fijada para la apertura de un período ordinario de sesiones, la inclusión de temas suplementarios en el programa⁶. Estos temas serán consignados en una lista suplementaria, que se comunicará a los Miembros por lo menos veinte días antes de la apertura del período de sesiones.

³ Véanse el anexo IV, párr. 18, y el anexo VI, párr. 2.

Artículo 18

Cualquier Miembro u órgano principal de las Naciones Unidas o el/la Secretario/a General podrá solicitar, por lo menos cuatro días antes de la fecha fijada para la apertura de un período extraordinario de sesiones, la inclusión de temas suplementarios en el programa. Estos temas serán consignados en una lista suplementaria, que se comunicará a los Miembros tan pronto como sea posible.

Artículo 23¹¹

El debate sobre la inclusión de un tema en el programa, cuando la inclusión de tal tema haya sido recomendada por la Mesa, quedará limitado a tres oradores/as en favor de la inclusión y tres en contra de ella. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones ~~de los oradores~~ en virtud del presente artículo.

Artículo 25⁴

La delegación de cada Miembro se compondrá de cinco representantes y cinco suplentes, como máximo, y de tantos consejeros/as, asesores/as técnicos/as, expertos/as y personas de categoría similar como juzgue necesarios la delegación.

Artículo 26

Los/as suplentes podrán actuar como representantes, por designación ~~del jefe de la jefatura~~ de la delegación.

Artículo 27

Las credenciales de los/as representantes y los nombres de los/as miembros de cada delegación deberán ser comunicados al/a la Secretario/a General, a ser posible por lo menos una semana antes de la apertura del período de sesiones. Las credenciales deberán ser expedidas por ~~el Jefe~~ la Jefatura del Estado o del Gobierno, o por el ~~Ministro~~ Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores.

Artículo 28

Al principio de cada período de sesiones se nombrará una Comisión de Verificación de Poderes. Estará integrada por nueve miembros, ~~nombrados por que~~ nombrará la Asamblea General a propuesta ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~. La Comisión elegirá a su propia mesa. Examinará las credenciales de ~~los~~ cada representantes e informará inmediatamente.

Artículo 29

~~Todo~~ Cualquier representante cuya admisión haya impugnado un Miembro ocupará un lugar provisionalmente con los mismos derechos que ~~los demás representantes~~ el resto, hasta que la Comisión de Verificación de Poderes haya presentado su informe y la Asamblea General haya tomado una decisión al respecto.

⁴ Artículo basado directamente en una disposición de la Carta (Artículo 9, párr. 2). Véase el anexo IV, párr. 44.

V. ~~PRESIDENTE-PRESIDENCIA Y VICEPRESIDENTES~~ VICEPRESIDENCIAS

Artículo 30⁵

A menos que la Asamblea General disponga otra cosa, la Asamblea General elegirá ~~un Presidente a una Presidencia y veintiún Vicepresidentes~~ Vicepresidencias⁶ por lo menos tres meses antes de la apertura del período de sesiones que habrán de presidir. ~~El Presidente-La Presidencia y los Vicepresidentes-las Vicepresidencias que así se elegidos-elijan~~ asumirán sus funciones únicamente al principio del período de sesiones para el que hayan sido ~~elegidos-elegidas~~ y desempeñarán sus cargos hasta la clausura de ese período de sesiones⁷. ~~Los Vicepresidentes-Las Vicepresidencias~~ serán ~~elegidos-elegidas~~ después de la elección de ~~los Presidentes-las Presidencias~~ de las seis Comisiones Principales mencionadas en el artículo 98, de modo que quede asegurado el carácter representativo de la Mesa.

~~Presidente-Presidencia provisional~~

Artículo 31⁸

Si al abrirse un período de sesiones de la Asamblea General no se ha elegido aún ~~el Presidente a la Presidencia~~ para ese período de sesiones de conformidad con el artículo 30 *supra*, ~~el Presidente-la Presidencia~~ del período de sesiones anterior, o ~~el jefe-la jefatura~~ de la delegación a que haya pertenecido la persona elegida ~~como Presidente-para ocupar la Presidencia~~ durante el período de sesiones anterior, presidirá hasta que la Asamblea haya elegido ~~el Presidente a la Presidencia~~.

~~Presidente interino~~ *Presidencia interina*

Artículo 32 [105]

Cuando ~~el Presidente-la Presidencia~~ estime necesario ausentarse durante una sesión o parte de ella, designará a ~~uno de los Vicepresidentes-una de las Vicepresidencias~~ para que lo ~~la~~ sustituya.

⁵ Véase la introducción, párrs. 21, 22, 26, 42 y 52 a).

⁶ En el anexo de la resolución 33/138, de 19 de diciembre de 1978, la Asamblea General decidió lo siguiente:

“1. En la elección ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~ de la Asamblea General se tendrá en cuenta la rotación geográfica equitativa de ese cargo entre las regiones mencionadas en el párrafo 4 *infra*.

2. ~~Los veintiún Vicepresidentes-Las veintiún Vicepresidencias~~ de la Asamblea General serán ~~elegidos-elegidas~~ conforme a la siguiente distribución, con sujeción a lo estipulado en el párrafo 3 *infra*:

- a) Seis representantes de Estados de África;
- b) Cinco representantes de Estados de Asia;
- c) Un representante de un Estado de Europa oriental;
- d) Tres representantes de Estados de América Latina;
- e) Dos representantes de Estados de Europa occidental o de otros Estados;
- f) Cinco representantes de los miembros permanentes del Consejo de Seguridad.

3. Sin embargo, la elección ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~ de la Asamblea General tendrá por efecto reducir en uno el número de vicepresidencias asignadas a la región a la cual pertenezca ~~el Presidente-la Presidencia~~.”

⁷ Artículo basado directamente en una disposición de la Carta (Artículo 21, segunda oración).

⁸ Véase la introducción, párrs. 21, 22, 26 y 52 b).

Artículo 33 [105]

Cuando ~~un Vicepresidente~~ una Vicepresidencia actúe como ~~Presidente~~ Presidencia, tendrá las mismas atribuciones y obligaciones que ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia.

Sustitución ~~del Presidente~~ de la Presidencia

Artículo 34 [105]

Cuando ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia se halle en la imposibilidad de ejercer sus funciones, se elegirá ~~un nuevo Presidente~~ una nueva Presidencia por el tiempo que quede hasta la expiración del mandato.

Atribuciones generales ~~del Presidente~~ de la Presidencia

Artículo 35⁹ [106]

Además de ejercer las atribuciones que le confieren otras disposiciones de este Reglamento, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia abrirá y levantará cada una de las sesiones plenarias del período de sesiones, dirigirá los debates en las sesiones plenarias, velará por la aplicación de este Reglamento, concederá la palabra, someterá a votación los asuntos y proclamará las decisiones. Decidirá sobre las cuestiones de orden y, con sujeción a este Reglamento, tendrá plena autoridad para dirigir las deliberaciones en cada una de las sesiones y para mantener el orden en ellas. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá proponer a la Asamblea General, durante la discusión de un asunto, la limitación del tiempo de uso de la palabra, la limitación del número de intervenciones de cada representante, el cierre de la lista de oradores/as o el cierre de los debates. También podrá proponer la suspensión o el levantamiento de la sesión, o el aplazamiento del debate sobre el asunto que se esté discutiendo.

Artículo 36¹⁷ [107]

~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia, en el ejercicio de sus funciones, queda ~~supeditado~~ supeditada a la autoridad de la Asamblea General.

~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia *no participará en las votaciones*

Artículo 37 [104]

~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia o ~~el Vicepresidente~~ la Vicepresidencia que ejerza las funciones de ~~Presidente~~ Presidencia no participará en las votaciones, pero designará a ~~otro miembro~~ otra persona de su delegación para que vote en su lugar.

Artículo 38¹⁰

La Mesa de la Asamblea estará integrada por ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia de la Asamblea General, que la presidirá, ~~los las veintiún Vicepresidentes~~ Vicepresidencias y ~~los Presidentes~~ las Presidencias de las seis Comisiones Principales. ~~Todos los~~ Cada miembros de la Mesa de la Asamblea pertenecerán a ~~delegaciones~~ una delegación diferentes y ~~serán elegidos~~ se elegirá de modo que quede asegurado el carácter representativo de la Mesa. ~~Los Presidentes~~ Las Presidencias de otras comisiones en las cuales tengan derecho a estar representados todos los Miembros, y que hayan sido creadas por la Asamblea para reunirse durante el período de sesiones, tendrán derecho

⁹ Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véanse también el anexo I, párr. 39, el anexo III, párr. g), el anexo IV, párrs. 39 y 67, el anexo V, párr. 3, y el anexo VI, párr. 7.

¹⁰ Véase la introducción, párrs. 11, 19, 21, 22, 26, 42 y 48.

a asistir a las sesiones de la Mesa de la Asamblea y podrán participar, sin voto, en los debates.

~~Sustitutos~~ Sustituciones

Artículo 39¹¹

Cuando ~~uno una~~ de los ~~Vicepresidentes las Vicepresidencias~~ de la Asamblea General estime necesario ausentarse durante una sesión de la Mesa, podrá designar a ~~un miembro una persona~~ de su delegación para que ~~lo la~~ sustituya. Cuando se ausente ~~el Presidente la Presidencia~~ de una de las Comisiones Principales, designará a ~~uno una~~ de los ~~Vicepresidentes las Vicepresidencias~~ de la Comisión para que ~~lo la~~ sustituya. Cuando ~~el Vicepresidente la Vicepresidencia~~ de una Comisión pertenezca a la misma delegación que ~~otro miembro otra persona~~ de la Mesa, no tendrá derecho a voto.

Artículo 41²⁰

La Mesa hará recomendaciones a la Asamblea General concernientes a la fecha de clausura del período de sesiones. Ayudará ~~al Presidente a la Presidencia~~ y a la Asamblea en la preparación del orden del día de cada sesión plenaria, en la determinación del orden de prioridad de los temas y en la coordinación de los trabajos de todas las comisiones de la Asamblea. Ayudará ~~al Presidente a la Presidencia~~ en la dirección general de las tareas de la Asamblea que ~~a él le~~ competen. Sin embargo, no decidirá cuestión alguna de índole política.

Artículo 42¹²

La Mesa se reunirá periódicamente durante cada período de sesiones para examinar el progreso de los trabajos de la Asamblea General y sus comisiones y para hacer recomendaciones con objeto de favorecer tal progreso. Se reunirá también cada vez que ~~el Presidente la Presidencia~~ lo considere necesario o a solicitud de cualquier otro de sus miembros.

Artículo 43

Todo miembro de la Asamblea General que no tenga ~~un~~ representante en la Mesa y que haya solicitado la inclusión de un tema en el programa tendrá derecho a asistir a toda sesión de la Mesa en que se examine su solicitud y podrá participar, sin voto, en el debate sobre el tema.

Funciones del/de la Secretario/a General

Artículo 45

El/la Secretario/a General actuará como tal en todas las sesiones de la Asamblea General¹³, sus comisiones y sus subcomisiones. Podrá designar a ~~un miembro una persona~~ de la Secretaría para que actúe en su lugar en dichas sesiones.

Artículo 46

El/la Secretario/a General proporcionará y dirigirá el personal requerido por la Asamblea General y por cualquier comisión u órgano subsidiario que aquella establezca.

¹¹ Véase la introducción, párrs. 19, 21 y 34; véase también el anexo IV, párr. 10.

¹² Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véanse también el anexo I, párr. 20, el anexo III, párr. f), el anexo IV, párrs. 13 y 14, el anexo V, párr. 2, el anexo VI, párr. 4, y el anexo VII, párr. 5.

¹³ Artículo basado directamente en una disposición de la Carta (Artículo 98).

Memoria del/de la Secretario/a General sobre la labor de la Organización

Artículo 48

El/la Secretario/a General presentará a la Asamblea General una memoria anual y los informes suplementarios que sean necesarios sobre la labor de la Organización²². Comunicará la memoria anual a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas por lo menos cuarenta y cinco días antes de la apertura del período de sesiones.

Artículo 49¹⁴

El/la Secretario/a General, con el consentimiento del Consejo de Seguridad, informará a la Asamblea General, en cada período de sesiones, sobre todo asunto relativo al mantenimiento de la paz y la seguridad internacionales que estuviere tratando el Consejo de Seguridad, e informará asimismo a la Asamblea General, o a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas si la Asamblea no estuviere reunida, tan pronto como el Consejo de Seguridad cese de tratar tales asuntos.

Artículo 53²⁸

Cualquier representante podrá hacer uso de la palabra en idioma distinto de los idiomas de la Asamblea General. En este caso, se encargará de suministrar la interpretación a uno de los idiomas de la Asamblea o de la comisión de que se trate. La interpretación hecha por ~~los intérpretes de~~ la Secretaría a los demás idiomas de la Asamblea o de la comisión de que se trate podrá basarse en la interpretación hecha al primero de tales idiomas.

Artículo 59

El/la Secretario/a General comunicará a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas, dentro de los quince días siguientes a la clausura del período de sesiones, las resoluciones aprobadas por la Asamblea General.

Artículo 61

Toda decisión tomada por la Asamblea General en sesión privada será anunciada en una de sus próximas sesiones públicas. Al final de cada sesión privada de las Comisiones Principales y de las demás comisiones y subcomisiones, ~~el Presidente la~~ Presidencia podrá publicar un comunicado por conducto del/de la Secretario/a General.

Artículo 62¹⁵

Inmediatamente después de la apertura de la primera sesión plenaria e inmediatamente antes de la clausura de la última sesión plenaria de cada período de sesiones de la Asamblea General, ~~el Presidente la~~ Presidencia invitará ~~a los representantes~~ a guardar un minuto de silencio dedicado a la oración o a la meditación.

Artículo 63¹⁶

No obstante las disposiciones de cualquier otro artículo, y a menos que la Asamblea General decida otra cosa, en caso de celebración de un período extraordinario de sesiones de emergencia la Asamblea se reunirá en sesión plenaria únicamente y procederá a examinar directamente el tema cuyo examen se haya

¹⁴ Este artículo reproduce textualmente una disposición de la Carta (Artículo 12, párr. 2).

¹⁵ Véase la introducción, párr. 11.

¹⁶ Véase la introducción, párr. 13.

propuesto en la petición de convocación de tal período de sesiones, sin remisión previa a la Mesa ni a ninguna otra comisión; en tal período extraordinario de sesiones de emergencia, ~~el Presidente y los Vicepresidentes serán~~ ocuparán la Presidencia y las Vicepresidencias, respectivamente, ~~los jefes las jefaturas~~ de las delegaciones a las cuales hayan pertenecido ~~el Presidente y los Vicepresidentes elegidos las personas~~ elegidas para ocupar la Presidencia y las Vicepresidencias en el período de sesiones anterior.

Memoria del/de la Secretario/a General

Artículo 64

La Asamblea General decidirá, sin remisión previa a la Mesa, respecto a las propuestas de remisión sin debate a una de las Comisiones Principales de cualquier parte de la memoria del/de la Secretario/a General.

Artículo 67¹⁷ [108]

~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá declarar abierta la sesión y permitir el desarrollo del debate cuando esté presente al menos un tercio ~~por lo menos~~ de los miembros de la Asamblea General. Se requerirá la presencia de la mayoría de los miembros para tomar cualquier decisión.

Artículo 68¹⁸ [109]

~~Ningún representante~~ No se podrá tomar la palabra en la Asamblea General sin autorización previa ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia concederá la palabra a los/as oradores/as en el orden en que hayan manifestado su deseo de hacer uso de ella. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá llamar al orden a un/a orador/a cuando sus observaciones no sean pertinentes al tema que se esté discutiendo.

Artículo 69 [111]

Podrá darse precedencia ~~al Presidente~~ a la Presidencia y ~~al Relator~~ a la Relatoría de una comisión a fin de que expongan las conclusiones a que haya llegado su comisión.

Artículo 70 [112]

El/la Secretario/a General o ~~un miembro una persona~~ de la Secretaría ~~designado por él que designe~~ como representante ~~suyo~~ podrá hacer en cualquier momento exposiciones orales o escritas a la Asamblea General acerca de cualquier cuestión que esté sometida a examen de la Asamblea.

Artículo 71¹⁹ [113]

Durante la discusión de ~~cualquier un~~ asunto, ~~todo cualquier~~ representante podrá plantear una cuestión de orden y ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia decidirá inmediatamente al respecto con arreglo al Reglamento. ~~Todo~~ Cualquier representante podrá apelar de la decisión ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~. La apelación se someterá inmediatamente a votación y la decisión ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~ prevalecerá, a menos que sea revocada por la mayoría de los miembros presentes y votantes. ~~El representante que~~

¹⁷ Véase la introducción, párr. 34; véanse también el anexo III, párr. g) i), el anexo IV, párr. 67, y el anexo VI, párr. 7.

¹⁸ Véanse el anexo III, párr. g) ii), el anexo IV, párrs. 69 a 71, y el anexo V, párr. 17.

¹⁹ Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véase también el anexo IV, párr. 79.

Quien plantee una cuestión de orden no podrá tratar el fondo de la cuestión que se esté discutiendo.

Artículo 72²⁰ [114]

La Asamblea General podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones de cada orador/a y el número de intervenciones de cada representante sobre un mismo asunto. Antes de que se adopte una decisión, podrán hacer uso de la palabra dos oradores/as a favor y dos en contra de una propuesta para fijar tales límites. Cuando los debates estén limitados y ~~un orador alguien~~ rebase el tiempo que le haya sido asignado, ~~el Presidente la Presidencia lo~~ llamará inmediatamente al orden a esa persona.

Cierre de la lista de oradores/as, derecho a contestar

Artículo 73²¹ [115]

En el curso de un debate, ~~el Presidente la Presidencia~~ podrá dar lectura a la lista de oradores/as y, con el consentimiento de la Asamblea General, declarar cerrada la lista. Sin embargo, ~~el Presidente la Presidencia~~ podrá otorgar a cualquier miembro derecho a contestar si un discurso pronunciado después de cerrada la lista lo hace aconsejable.

Artículo 74²² [116]

Durante la discusión de ~~cualquier un~~ asunto, ~~todo cualquier~~ representante podrá proponer el aplazamiento del debate sobre el tema que se esté discutiendo. Además ~~del autor de de quien haya propuesto~~ la moción, podrán hablar dos oradores/as a favor de ella y dos en contra, después de lo cual la moción será sometida inmediatamente a votación. ~~El Presidente La Presidencia~~ podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones permitidas ~~a los oradores~~ en virtud del presente artículo.

Artículo 75³⁸ [117]

~~Todo Cualquiera~~ representante podrá proponer en ~~cualquier todo~~ momento el cierre del debate sobre el tema que se esté discutiendo, aun cuando ~~otro representante otra persona~~ haya manifestado su deseo de hablar. La autorización para hacer uso de la palabra sobre el cierre del debate se concederá solamente a dos oradores/as que se opongan a dicho cierre, después de lo cual la moción será sometida inmediatamente a votación. Si la Asamblea General aprueba la moción, ~~el Presidente la Presidencia~~ declarará cerrado el debate. ~~El Presidente La Presidencia~~ podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones permitidas ~~a los oradores~~ en virtud del presente artículo.

Artículo 76³⁸ [118]

Durante la discusión de ~~cualquier un~~ asunto, ~~todo cualquier~~ representante podrá proponer que se suspenda o se levante la sesión. Tales mociones se someterán inmediatamente a votación sin debate. ~~El Presidente La Presidencia~~ podrá limitar la duración de la intervención ~~del orador que de quien~~ proponga la suspensión o el levantamiento de la sesión.

²⁰ Véase la introducción, párrs. 11 y 34.

²¹ Véanse el anexo IV, párrs. 46, 69, 77 y 78, y el anexo V, párrs. 8 a 11.

²² Véase la introducción, párr. 11.

Artículo 78²³ [120]

Normalmente las propuestas y las enmiendas deberán ser presentadas por escrito al/a la Secretario/a General, quien distribuirá copias de ellas a las delegaciones. Por regla general, ninguna propuesta será discutida o sometida a votación en una sesión de la Asamblea General sin que se hayan distribuido copias de ella a todas las delegaciones, a más tardar la víspera de la sesión. Sin embargo, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia podrá permitir la discusión y el examen de enmiendas o de mociones de procedimiento sin previa distribución de copias o cuando estas hayan sido distribuidas el mismo día.

Artículo 80 [122]

~~El autor de~~ Quien haya propuesto una moción podrá retirarla en cualquier momento antes de que haya sido sometida a votación, a condición de que no haya sido objeto de una enmienda. Una moción así retirada podrá ser presentada de nuevo por cualquier miembro.

Artículo 81 [123]

Cuando una propuesta haya sido aprobada o rechazada no podrá ser examinada de nuevo en el mismo período de sesiones, a menos que la Asamblea General lo decida así por mayoría de dos tercios de los miembros presentes y votantes. La autorización para hacer uso de la palabra sobre una moción de nuevo examen se concederá solamente a dos oradores/as que se opongan a dicha moción, después de lo cual esta será sometida inmediatamente a votación.

Artículo 87²⁴ [127]

a) De ordinario, las votaciones de la Asamblea General se harán levantando la mano o poniéndose de pie, pero cualquier representante podrá pedir votación nominal. La votación nominal se efectuará siguiendo el orden alfabético ~~inglés~~ de los nombres de los miembros en inglés, comenzando por el miembro cuyo nombre sea sacado a suerte por ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia. En las votaciones nominales, se anunciará el nombre de cada uno de los miembros y uno/a de sus representantes contestará “sí”, “no” o “abstención”. El resultado de la votación se consignará en el acta siguiendo el orden alfabético ~~inglés~~ de los nombres de los miembros en inglés.

b) Cuando la Asamblea General efectúe votaciones haciendo uso del sistema mecánico, la votación no registrada sustituirá a la que se hace levantando la mano o poniéndose de pie y la votación registrada sustituirá a la votación nominal. Cualquier representante podrá pedir votación registrada. En las votaciones registradas, la Asamblea prescindirá del procedimiento de anunciar los nombres de los miembros, salvo que un/a representante lo pida; no obstante, el resultado de la votación se consignará en el acta de la misma manera que en las votaciones nominales.

Artículo 88²⁵ [128]

Después que ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia haya anunciado que comienza la votación, ~~ningún representante~~ nadie podrá interrumpirla, salvo para plantear una cuestión de orden relativa a la forma en que se esté efectuando la votación. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá permitir a los miembros que expliquen sus votos, ya sea antes o después de la votación, excepto cuando la votación sea secreta. ~~El~~

²³ Véase el anexo IV, párrs. 87 y 88.

²⁴ Véase la introducción, párr. 28; véase también el anexo IV, párr. 84, y el anexo VII, párr. 2.

²⁵ Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véanse también el anexo IV, párrs. 74 a 76, y el anexo V, párrs. 6, 7 y 11.

~~Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá limitar la duración de estas explicaciones. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia no permitirá que ~~el autor de~~ quien haya presentado una propuesta o ~~de~~ una enmienda explique su voto sobre su propia propuesta o enmienda.

Artículo 89²⁶ [129]

Cualquier representante podrá pedir que las partes de una propuesta o de una enmienda sean sometidas a votación separadamente. Si algún miembro se opone a la moción de división, dicha moción será sometida a votación. La autorización para hacer uso de la palabra sobre la moción de división se concederá solamente a dos oradores/as a favor y a dos en contra. Si la moción de división es aceptada, las partes de la propuesta o de la enmienda que sean aprobadas serán luego sometidas a votación en conjunto. Si todas las partes dispositivas de una propuesta o de una enmienda son rechazadas, se considerará que la propuesta o la enmienda ha sido rechazada en su totalidad.

Artículo 93 [132]

Cuando se trate de elegir a una sola persona o un solo Miembro, si ~~ningún candidato~~ nadie obtiene en la primera votación la mayoría requerida, se procederá a una segunda votación limitada a ~~los dos candidatos~~ las dos candidaturas que hayan obtenido mayor número de votos. Si en la segunda votación los votos se dividen por igual y se requiere una mayoría, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia resolverá el empate por sorteo. Cuando se requiera mayoría de dos tercios, se continuará la votación hasta que ~~uno de los candidatos~~ una de las candidaturas obtenga dos tercios de los votos emitidos; sin embargo, después del tercer escrutinio sin resultado decisivo, se podrá votar por cualquier persona o Miembro elegible. Si tres votaciones no limitadas no dan resultado decisivo, las tres votaciones siguientes se limitarán a ~~los dos candidatos~~ las dos candidaturas que hayan obtenido más votos en la tercera votación no limitada y las tres votaciones ulteriores serán sin limitación de ~~candidatos~~ candidaturas, y así sucesivamente hasta que se haya elegido a una persona o un Miembro. Las disposiciones de este artículo no obstan a la aplicación de los artículos 143, 144, 146 y 148.

Artículo 94

Cuando hayan de cubrirse al mismo tiempo y en las mismas condiciones dos o más cargos electivos, se declarará ~~elegidos~~ elegidas a ~~aquellos candidatos~~ aquellas candidaturas que obtengan en la primera votación la mayoría requerida. Si el número de ~~candidatos~~ candidaturas que obtengan tal mayoría es menor que el de personas o Miembros que han de ser elegidos, se efectuarán votaciones adicionales para cubrir los puestos restantes, limitándose la votación a ~~los candidatos~~ las candidaturas que hayan obtenido más votos en la votación anterior, de modo que el número de ~~candidatos~~ candidaturas no sea mayor que el doble del de cargos que queden, por cubrir; sin embargo, después del tercer escrutinio sin resultado decisivo, se podrá votar por cualquier persona o Miembro elegible. Si tres votaciones no limitadas no dan resultado decisivo, las tres votaciones siguientes se limitarán a ~~los candidatos~~ las candidaturas que hayan obtenido mayor número de votos en la tercera votación no limitada, de modo que el número de ~~candidatos~~ candidaturas no sea mayor que el doble del de los cargos que queden por cubrir, y las tres votaciones ulteriores serán sin limitación de ~~candidatos~~ candidaturas, y así sucesivamente hasta que se hayan cubierto todos los puestos. Las disposiciones de este artículo no obstan a la aplicación de los artículos 143, 144, 146 y 148.

²⁶ Véase la introducción, párr. 11.

Artículo 99²⁷

a) Todas las Comisiones Principales elegirán a un Presidente una Presidencia por lo menos tres meses antes de la apertura del período de sesiones. Las elecciones de los/as demás miembros de la Mesa previstas en el artículo 103 se efectuarán a más tardar al final de la primera semana del período de sesiones.

b) Cada Comisión Principal, tomando en cuenta la fecha de clausura del período de sesiones fijada por la Asamblea General sobre la base de la recomendación de la Mesa, adoptará su propio orden de prioridad y celebrará las sesiones necesarias para terminar el examen de los temas que le hayan sido remitidos. Cada Comisión Principal aprobará al comienzo del período de sesiones un programa de trabajo en el que se indicarán, de ser posible, la fecha señalada como objetivo para concluir sus trabajos, las fechas aproximadas de examen de los temas y el número de sesiones que se dedicará a cada uno de ellos.

Artículo 100

Cada Miembro podrá estar representado por una persona en cada Comisión Principal y en cualquier otra comisión que se cree y en la que tengan derecho a estar representados todos los Miembros. Para estas comisiones, cada Miembro podrá designar también consejeros/as, asesores/as técnicos/as, expertos/as o personas de categoría similar.

Artículo 101

Por designación ~~del jefe de la jefatura~~ de la delegación correspondiente, los/as consejeros/as, asesores/as técnicos/as, expertos/as o personas de categoría similar podrán actuar como miembros de las comisiones. Sin embargo, las personas de esta categoría no podrán ser elegidas Presidentes, Vicepresidentes o Relatores para ocupar Presidencias, Vicepresidencias o Relatorías de comisiones, ni actuar en la Asamblea General, a menos que hayan sido designadas representantes suplentes.

Artículo 103²⁸ [92]

Cada Comisión Principal elegirá a un Presidente una Presidencia, tres ~~Vicepresidentes Vicepresidencias y un Relator una Relatoría~~. Las demás comisiones elegirán cada una a un Presidente una Presidencia, uno o varios Vicepresidentes una o varias Vicepresidencias y un Relator una Relatoría. Los/as miembros de la mesa ~~serán elegidos se elegirán~~ teniendo en cuenta una distribución geográfica equitativa, así como la experiencia y la competencia personal de ~~los candidatos cada cual~~. Las elecciones se efectuarán por votación secreta, salvo que la comisión decida otra cosa en el caso de una elección en la que haya ~~un solo candidato una sola candidatura~~. Para la presentación de cada candidatura solo se permitirá la intervención de un/a ~~solo~~

²⁷ Véase la introducción, párrs. 11, 19, 34 y 51; véase también el anexo V, párrs. 21 y 23. Véase también, en relación con la elección de los/as demás miembros de la Mesa por lo menos tres meses antes de la apertura del período de sesiones, la resolución 58/126, de 19 de diciembre de 2003.

²⁸ Véase la introducción, párrs. 34 y 49; véanse también el anexo IV, párrs. 40 y 54 a 57, y el anexo V, párrs. 18 a 20, así como la información que figura en la nota 14.

En su resolución 72/313, de 17 de septiembre de 2018, la Asamblea General decidió establecer el plan de rotación de las Presidencias de las Comisiones Principales para los períodos de sesiones septuagésimo cuarto a octogésimo tercero, que se incluye en el anexo de la resolución.

Véase también la resolución 68/307, de 10 de septiembre de 2014, en la que se establece que para cada Comisión Principal se elegirá a un relator una relatoría del grupo regional que haya ocupado la presidencia de la Comisión en el período de sesiones anterior (anexo, párr. 4).

orador/a, después de lo cual la comisión procederá a celebrar la elección inmediatamente.

~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~ de una Comisión Principal no participará en las votaciones

Artículo 104 [37]

~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~ de una Comisión Principal no participará en las votaciones, pero en su lugar podrá votar ~~otro miembro~~ otra persona de su delegación.

Artículo 105²⁹ [32-34]

Cuando ~~el Presidente-la Presidencia~~ estime necesario ausentarse durante una sesión o parte de ella, designará a ~~uno de los Vicepresidentes una de las Vicepresidencias~~ para que ~~lo~~ la sustituya. Cuando ~~un Vicepresidente una Vicepresidencia~~ actúe como ~~Presidente-Presidencia~~, tendrá las mismas atribuciones y obligaciones que ~~el Presidente-la Presidencia~~. Cuando cualquier miembro de la mesa de la comisión se halle en la imposibilidad de ejercer sus funciones, se elegirá a un/a nuevo/a miembro por el tiempo que quede hasta la expiración del mandato.

~~Funciones del Presidente de la Presidencia~~

Artículo 106³⁰ [35]

~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~ abrirá y levantará cada una de las sesiones de la comisión, dirigirá los debates en las sesiones, velará por la aplicación de este Reglamento, concederá la palabra, someterá a votación los asuntos y proclamará las decisiones. Decidirá sobre las cuestiones de orden y, con sujeción a este Reglamento, tendrá plena autoridad para dirigir las deliberaciones en cada una de las sesiones de la comisión y para mantener el orden en ellas. ~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~ podrá proponer a la comisión, durante la discusión de un asunto, la limitación del tiempo de uso de la palabra, la limitación del número de intervenciones de cada representante, el cierre de la lista de oradores/as o el cierre de los debates. También podrá proponer la suspensión o el levantamiento de la sesión, o el aplazamiento del debate sobre el asunto que se esté discutiendo.

Artículo 107³⁰ [36]

~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~, en el ejercicio de sus funciones, queda ~~supeditado~~ supeditada a la autoridad de la comisión.

Artículo 108³¹ [67]

~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~ podrá declarar abierta la sesión y permitir el desarrollo del debate cuando esté presente al menos una cuarta parte ~~por lo menos~~ de los/as miembros de la comisión. Se requerirá la presencia de la mayoría de los/as miembros para tomar cualquier decisión.

Artículo 109³² [68]

~~Ningún representante~~ No se podrá tomar la palabra en la comisión sin autorización previa ~~del Presidente de la Presidencia~~. ~~El Presidente-La Presidencia~~ concederá la palabra a los/as oradores/as en el orden en que hayan manifestado su

²⁹ Véase la introducción, párr. 34.

³⁰ Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véanse también el anexo I, párr. 39, el anexo III, párr. g), el anexo IV, párrs. 39 y 67, el anexo V, párrs. 3 y 22, y el anexo VI, párrs. 6 y 7.

³¹ Véase la introducción, párrs. 11 y 34.

³² Véanse el anexo III, párr. g) ii), el anexo IV, párrs. 69 a 71, y el anexo VI, párr. 6.

deseo de hacer uso de ella. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá llamar al orden a un/a orador/a cuando sus observaciones no sean pertinentes al tema que se esté discutiendo.

Artículo 110³³

Las felicitaciones a los/as miembros de la mesa de una Comisión Principal solo serán expresadas por ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia del período de sesiones precedente —o, en su ausencia, por ~~un miembro~~ una persona de su delegación— después de que se hayan elegido todos/as los/as miembros de la mesa de la Comisión.

Artículo 111 [69]

Podrá darse precedencia ~~al Presidente~~ a la Presidencia y ~~al Relator~~ a la Relatoría de una comisión o subcomisión a fin de que expongan las conclusiones a que haya llegado su comisión o subcomisión.

Artículo 112 [70]

El/la Secretario/a General o ~~un miembro~~ una persona de la Secretaría ~~designado por él que designe~~ como representante ~~suyo~~ podrá hacer en cualquier momento exposiciones orales o escritas a cualquier comisión o subcomisión acerca de cualquier cuestión que esté sometida a examen de la comisión o subcomisión.

Artículo 113³⁴ [71]

Durante la discusión de ~~cualquier~~ un asunto, ~~todo~~ cualquier representante podrá plantear una cuestión de orden y ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia decidirá inmediatamente al respecto con arreglo al Reglamento. ~~Todo~~ Cualquier representante podrá apelar de la decisión ~~del Presidente~~ de la Presidencia. La apelación se someterá inmediatamente a votación y la decisión ~~del Presidente~~ de la Presidencia prevalecerá a menos que sea revocada por la mayoría de los miembros presentes y votantes. ~~El representante que~~ Quien plantee una cuestión de orden no podrá tratar el fondo de la cuestión que se esté discutiendo.

Artículo 114³⁵ [72]

La comisión podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones de cada orador/a y el número de intervenciones de cada representante sobre un mismo asunto. Antes de que se adopte una decisión, podrán hacer uso de la palabra dos oradores/as a favor y dos en contra de una propuesta para fijar tales límites. Cuando los debates estén limitados y ~~un orador~~ alguien rebase el tiempo que le haya sido asignado, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia ~~le~~ llamará inmediatamente al orden a esa persona.

Cierre de la lista de oradores/as, derecho a contestar

Artículo 115³⁶ [73]

En el curso de un debate, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia podrá dar lectura a la lista de ~~los~~ oradores/as y, con el consentimiento de la comisión, declarar cerrada la lista. Sin embargo, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia podrá otorgar a cualquier miembro derecho a contestar si un discurso pronunciado después de cerrada la lista lo hace aconsejable.

³³ Véase la introducción, párr. 34.

³⁴ Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véase también el anexo IV, párr. 79.

³⁵ Véase la introducción, párrs. 11 y 34.

³⁶ Véanse el anexo IV, párrs. 69, 77 y 78, el anexo V, párrs. 8 a 10, y el anexo VI, párr. 6.

Artículo 116³⁷ [74]

Durante la discusión de ~~cualquier un~~ asunto, ~~todo cualquier~~ representante podrá proponer el aplazamiento del debate sobre el tema que se esté discutiendo. Además ~~del autor de de quien haya propuesto~~ la moción, podrán hablar dos oradores/as a favor de ella y dos en contra, después de lo cual la moción será sometida inmediatamente a votación. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones permitidas ~~a los oradores~~ en virtud del presente artículo.

Artículo 117⁵⁹ [75]

~~Todo~~ ~~Cualquier~~ representante podrá proponer en ~~cualquier todo~~ momento el cierre del debate sobre el tema que se esté discutiendo, aun cuando ~~otro representante otra persona~~ haya manifestado su deseo de hablar. La autorización para hacer uso de la palabra sobre el cierre del debate se concederá solamente a dos oradores/as que se opongan a dicho cierre, después de lo cual la moción será sometida inmediatamente a votación. Si la comisión aprueba la moción, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia declarará cerrado el debate. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá limitar la duración de las intervenciones permitidas ~~a los oradores~~ en virtud del presente artículo.

Artículo 118⁵⁹ [76]

Durante la discusión de ~~cualquier un~~ asunto, ~~todo cualquier~~ representante podrá proponer que se suspenda o se levante la sesión. Tales mociones se someterán inmediatamente a votación sin debate. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá limitar la duración de la intervención ~~del orador que de quien~~ proponga la suspensión o el levantamiento de la sesión.

Artículo 120³⁸ [78]

Normalmente las propuestas y las enmiendas deberán ser presentadas por escrito al/a la Secretario/a General, quien distribuirá copias de ellas a las delegaciones. Por regla general, ninguna propuesta será discutida o sometida a votación en una sesión de la comisión sin que se hayan distribuido copias de ella a todas las delegaciones, a más tardar la víspera de la sesión. Sin embargo, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia podrá permitir la discusión y el examen de enmiendas o de mociones de procedimiento sin previa distribución de copias o cuando estas hayan sido distribuidas el mismo día.

Artículo 122 [80]

~~El autor de~~ Quien haya propuesto una moción podrá retirarla en cualquier momento antes de que haya sido sometida a votación, a condición de que no haya sido objeto de una enmienda. Una moción así retirada podrá ser presentada de nuevo por cualquier miembro.

Artículo 123 [81]

Cuando una propuesta haya sido aprobada o rechazada, no podrá ser examinada de nuevo en el mismo período de sesiones, a menos que la comisión lo decida así por mayoría de dos tercios de los miembros presentes y votantes. La autorización para hacer uso de la palabra sobre una moción de nuevo examen se concederá solamente a

³⁷ Véase la introducción, párr. 11.

³⁸ Véase el anexo IV, párrs. 87 y 88.

dos oradores/as que se opongan a dicha moción, después de lo cual ésta será sometida inmediatamente a votación.

Artículo 127³⁹ [87]

a) De ordinario, las votaciones de la comisión se harán levantando la mano o poniéndose de pie, pero cualquier representante podrá pedir votación nominal. La votación nominal se efectuará siguiendo el orden alfabético ~~inglés~~ de los nombres de los miembros en inglés, comenzando por el miembro cuyo nombre sea sacado a suerte por ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia. En las votaciones nominales, se anunciará el nombre de cada uno de los miembros y su representante contestará “sí”, “no” o “abstención”. El resultado de la votación se consignará en el acta siguiendo el orden alfabético ~~inglés~~ de los nombres de los miembros en inglés.

b) Cuando la comisión efectúe votaciones haciendo uso del sistema mecánico, la votación no registrada sustituirá a la que se hace levantando la mano o poniéndose de pie y la votación registrada sustituirá a la votación nominal. Cualquier representante podrá pedir votación registrada. En las votaciones registradas, la comisión prescindirá del procedimiento de anunciar los nombres de los miembros, salvo que un/a representante lo pida; no obstante, el resultado de la votación se consignará en el acta de la misma manera que en las votaciones nominales.

Artículo 128⁴⁰ [88]

Después que ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia haya anunciado que comienza la votación, ~~ningún representante~~ nadie podrá interrumpirla, salvo para plantear una cuestión de orden relativa a la forma en que se esté efectuando la votación. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá permitir a los miembros que expliquen sus votos, ya sea antes o después de la votación, excepto cuando la votación sea secreta. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia podrá limitar la duración de estas explicaciones. ~~El Presidente~~ La Presidencia no permitirá que ~~el autor de~~ quien haya presentado una propuesta o ~~de~~ una enmienda explique su voto sobre su propia propuesta o enmienda.

Artículo 129⁴¹ [89]

Cualquier representante podrá pedir que las partes de una propuesta o de una enmienda sean sometidas a votación separadamente. Si algún miembro se opone a la moción de división, dicha moción será sometida a votación. La autorización para hacer uso de la palabra sobre la moción de división se concederá solamente a dos oradores/as a favor y a dos en contra. Si la moción de división es aceptada, las partes de la propuesta o de la enmienda que sean aprobadas serán luego sometidas a votación en conjunto. Si todas las partes dispositivas de una propuesta o de una enmienda son rechazadas, se considerará que la propuesta o la enmienda ha sido rechazada en su totalidad.

Artículo 132 [93]

Cuando se trate de elegir a una sola persona o un solo Miembro, si ~~ningún candidato~~ nadie obtiene en la primera votación la mayoría requerida, se procederá a una segunda votación limitada a ~~los dos candidatos~~ las dos candidaturas que hayan obtenido mayor número de votos. Si en la segunda votación los votos se dividen por

³⁹ Véase la introducción, párr. 28; véase también el anexo IV, párr. 84 y el anexo VII, párr. 2.

⁴⁰ Véase la introducción, párr. 11; véanse también el anexo IV, párrs. 74 a 76, y el anexo V, párrs. 6 y 7.

⁴¹ Véase la introducción, párr. 11.

igual y se requiere una mayoría, ~~el Presidente~~ la Presidencia resolverá el empate por sorteo.

Artículo 134⁴²

Todo Estado que desee ser Miembro de las Naciones Unidas habrá de presentar una solicitud al/a la Secretario/a General. Esta solicitud irá acompañada de la declaración, hecha en un instrumento formal, de que dicho Estado acepta las obligaciones consignadas en la Carta.

Artículo 135⁶⁵

El/la Secretario/a General enviará, a título de información, copia de la solicitud a la Asamblea General, o a los Miembros de las Naciones Unidas si la Asamblea no está reunida en período de sesiones.

Artículo 138⁶⁵

El/la Secretario/a General comunicará la decisión de la Asamblea General al Estado solicitante. Si la solicitud es aprobada, la admisión tendrá efecto a partir de la fecha en que la Asamblea haya tomado su decisión sobre la solicitud.

SECRETARIO/A GENERAL

Nombramiento del/de la Secretario/a General

Artículo 141

Cuando el Consejo de Seguridad haya presentado su recomendación sobre el nombramiento del/de la Secretario/a General, la Asamblea General la estudiará y procederá a votación secreta en sesión privada.

Artículo 150

La elección de los/as miembros de la Corte Internacional de Justicia se celebrará con arreglo a lo dispuesto en el Estatuto de la Corte.

Artículo 151

Toda sesión de la Asamblea General celebrada, conforme a lo dispuesto en el Estatuto de la Corte Internacional de Justicia, para elegir a miembros de la Corte continuará hasta que ~~tantos candidatos~~ tantas candidaturas como sea necesario para cubrir todas las vacantes hayan obtenido en una o más votaciones mayoría absoluta de votos.

Artículo 153⁴³

Ninguna comisión recomendará a la aprobación de la Asamblea General resoluciones que impliquen gastos sin que vayan acompañadas de un presupuesto de gastos preparado por el/la Secretario/a General. La Asamblea no votará resolución alguna que, a juicio del/de la Secretario/a General, vaya a ocasionar gastos hasta que la Comisión de Asuntos Administrativos y de Presupuesto (Quinta Comisión) haya tenido ocasión de exponer las repercusiones de la propuesta en los cálculos presupuestarios de las Naciones Unidas.

⁴² Véase la introducción, párr. 8.

⁴³ Véanse el anexo IV, párrs. 97 y 98, y el anexo V, párrs. 12 y 13.

Artículo 154⁷⁵

El/la Secretario/a General tendrá a todas las comisiones al corriente del presupuesto detallado de los gastos que impliquen las resoluciones recomendadas por las comisiones a la Asamblea General para su aprobación.

Artículo 155⁴⁴

La Asamblea General nombrará una Comisión Consultiva en Asuntos Administrativos y de Presupuesto integrada por veintiún miembros, tres de los/as cuales, por lo menos, deberán ser expertos/as financieros/as de reconocida competencia.

Artículo 156⁴⁵

Los/as miembros de la Comisión Consultiva en Asuntos Administrativos y de Presupuesto, entre ~~los cuales quienes~~ no deberá haber dos nacionales de un mismo Estado, ~~serán escogidos se elegirán~~ a base de una amplia representación geográfica y de su capacidad y su experiencia personales; desempeñarán su cargo por un período de tres años correspondientes a tres años civiles. Los/as miembros cesarán por rotación en sus funciones y serán reelegibles. Los/as tres expertos/as financieros/as no podrán cesar en sus cargos simultáneamente. La Asamblea General nombrará a los/as miembros de la Comisión Consultiva en el período ordinario de sesiones que preceda inmediatamente a la expiración del mandato de los/as miembros o, caso de producirse vacantes, en el siguiente período de sesiones.

Artículo 157⁴⁶

La Comisión Consultiva en Asuntos Administrativos y de Presupuesto tendrá a su cargo el examen técnico del presupuesto por programas de las Naciones Unidas y ayudará en sus tareas a la Comisión de Asuntos Administrativos y de Presupuesto (Quinta Comisión). Al comienzo de cada período ordinario de sesiones en el que haya de examinarse el proyecto de presupuesto por programas para el bienio siguiente, presentará a la Asamblea General un informe detallado sobre el proyecto de presupuesto por programas para dicho bienio. Presentará también, en las ocasiones especificadas en las disposiciones pertinentes del Reglamento Financiero y Reglamentación Financiera Detallada de las Naciones Unidas⁴⁷, un informe sobre las cuentas de las Naciones Unidas y de todas las entidades de las Naciones Unidas respecto de las cuales el/la Secretario/a General tiene responsabilidad administrativa. Examinará, en nombre de la Asamblea, los presupuestos administrativos de los organismos especializados y las propuestas relativas a arreglos financieros y presupuestarios con esos organismos. Desempeñará asimismo cualesquiera otras funciones que le sean asignadas en virtud del Reglamento Financiero de las Naciones Unidas.

Artículo 159⁴⁸

Los/as miembros de la Comisión de Cuotas, entre ~~los cuales quienes~~ no deberá haber dos nacionales de un mismo Estado, ~~serán escogidos se elegirán~~ a base de una amplia representación geográfica y de su capacidad y su experiencia personales; desempeñarán su cargo por un período de tres años correspondientes a tres años civiles. Los/as miembros cesarán por rotación en sus funciones y serán reelegibles.

⁴⁴ Véase la introducción, párrs. 23, 35, 40 y 60.

⁴⁵ Véase la introducción, párrs. 23 y 40. Véase también, en relación con la distribución de puestos entre los grupos regionales, la introducción, párr. 60.

⁴⁶ Véase la introducción, párr. 40.

⁴⁷ Resoluciones 67/246 y ST/SGB/2013/4 y ST/SGB/2013/4/Amend.1.

⁴⁸ Véase la introducción, párr. 41.

La Asamblea General nombrará a los/as miembros de la Comisión de Cuotas en el período ordinario de sesiones que preceda inmediatamente a la expiración del mandato de los/as miembros o, caso de producirse vacantes, en el siguiente período de sesiones.

Annex II

Updated inventory chart of General Assembly resolutions on the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly, issued pursuant to resolution [77/335](#)

Explanatory note by the Co-Chairs of the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Revitalization of the Work of the General Assembly

1. In accordance with paragraph 7 of General Assembly resolution [77/335](#), the Co-Chairs, assisted by the Secretariat, have prepared the updated inventory chart for consideration by Member States. The present inventory chart has been updated to reflect the progress achieved since the adoption of resolution [77/335](#).
2. The Co-Chairs, assisted by the Secretariat, obtained updated information, where possible, from relevant entities responsible for implementation.
3. The updated inventory chart retains the following two-part structure:
 - (a) The first part contains unimplemented provisions, to focus on their follow-up;
 - (b) The second part contains implemented provisions, both those that required one-time action and those to be implemented on an ongoing basis, to keep track of previous achievements and provide the means to compare with and learn from experience.
4. The inventory chart does not have a definite character and may be amended at any time by Member States through the Ad Hoc Working Group.

Part I

Provisions requiring follow-up

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
1.	77/335 , para. 9	Recognizes the importance of strengthening the institutional memory of the General Assembly revitalization process, including the Ad Hoc Working Group, and of enhancing the basis for discussions at its future sessions, and requests the Secretariat to develop an online searchable repository of the recommendations of the Ad Hoc Working Group, including its previous reports and the inventory charts issued since the sixty-second session.	Secretariat	To be implemented.

Cluster I: role and authority of the General Assembly

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
C. Provisions related to the annual report of the Security Council (see also part II)				
2.	60/286 , annex, para. 7 <i>Also in:</i> 59/313 , para. 2 (d); and 58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 2	Invites the Security Council to submit periodically, in accordance with Articles 15 and 24 of the Charter, special subject-oriented reports to the General Assembly for its consideration on issues of current international concern.	Member States (Security Council)	Special reports have been issued pursuant to General Assembly resolution 76/262 . In addition, special subjects are covered in the monthly assessments by the President of the Security Council.

Cluster II: working methods

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
F. Provisions related to documentation: resolutions (see also part II)				
3.	77/335, para. 45 <i>Also in:</i> 60/286, annex, para. 23 58/126, annex, sect. B, para. 5	Recommends that, in order to ensure that they are effectively implemented and have greater political impact, General Assembly resolutions should be short, in particular as regards the preambular parts, and should focus more on action-oriented operative paragraphs.	Member States	To be implemented by the Member States, bearing in mind the sovereign right of Member States to submit proposals in the context of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly.

Part II

Provisions that have been implemented or are being implemented on an ongoing basis

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
4.	77/335 , para. 10	Requests the Ad Hoc Working Group, during the seventy-eighth session, to examine whether the format, name and mandate of the Ad Hoc Working Group, including discussions on agenda alignment, remain fit for purpose, and explore further options for strengthening its work.	Member States (Ad Hoc Working Group)	Discussed during the seventy-eighth session. A proposal to revise the name to express the planned frequency of meetings and the established mandate was formulated. A suggestion to reduce the frequency of meetings and condense topics, depending on the relevance and according to the time frame, was also made.

Cluster I: role and authority of the General Assembly

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
A. General provisions related to the role and authority of the General Assembly				
5.	77/335 , para. 27 <i>Also in:</i> 77/335 , para. 11; 75/325 , para. 9; 73/341 , para. 7; 72/313 , para. 6; 71/323 , para. 6; 70/305 , para. 6; 69/321 , para. 6; 68/307 , para. 6; 66/294 , para. 4; 65/315 , para. 4; 64/301 , para. 4; 60/286 , annex, para. 1; and 59/313 , para. 2 (b)	Recognizes the functions, powers and role of the General Assembly in matters related to the maintenance of international peace and security, consistent with the Charter, without any prejudice to the functions and powers of the Security Council as set out in Article 24 of the Charter.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The General Assembly has several items on its agenda that fall under the heading "Maintenance of international peace and security". Since this provision was first adopted, the tenth and eleventh emergency special sessions have held plenary meetings.
6.	77/335 , para. 30	Underlines the continued need to foster interaction between the General Assembly and the Security Council, in accordance with their respective mandates, and the necessity for greater access by Member States to practical information and institutional memory, and requests the	President of the General Assembly	Pending.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		President of the General Assembly, with the support of the Secretariat and other relevant United Nations entities, to consider providing, within existing resources, a digital handbook or accessible outlines on past practices, data and recommendations for the fulfilment of the functions and powers of the General Assembly as outlined in Chapter IV of the Charter.		
7.	77/335 , para. 6 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 8; 73/341 , para. 18; 72/313 , para. 10; 71/323 , para. 10; 70/305 , para. 10; and 69/321 , para. 10	Reiterates its decision to hold annually an interactive and comprehensive dialogue between the Permanent Missions and the Secretariat as mandated in resolution 71/323 of 8 September 2017, during the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group, and strongly emphasizes the importance of the follow-up on issues raised during the dialogue aimed at improving the work of the Secretariat in its interaction with Permanent Missions, including the circulation of these follow-up measures to Permanent Missions.	Ad Hoc Working Group	The Working Group has convened an interactive dialogue between permanent missions and the Secretariat at every session since the seventy-second session.
8.	72/313 , para. 11 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 11	Reiterates its decision to hold thematic dialogues periodically during the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group.	Ad Hoc Working Group	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
9.	72/313 , para. 12 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 12	Invites Member States to submit, through the Co-Chairs of the Ad Hoc Working Group, and prior to the holding of the interactive and comprehensive dialogue, specific issues on which action by the Secretariat might be needed, and requests the Secretariat to provide comprehensive answers within a reasonable amount of time on the possible actions, and impediments, if any, to solve the issues raised.	Ad Hoc Working Group	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
10.	72/313 , para. 13 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 13	Welcomes, in this regard, the active participation by the Secretariat during the seventy-second session, and in particular notes with appreciation the establishment of a “one-stop shop” as a single entry point for requesting meetings services, while encouraging the Secretariat to make similar arrangements for other services provided.	Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	The Ad Hoc Working Group is given a briefing as part of an overall update regarding the e-services provided to delegations, usually as part of the interactive dialogue with the permanent missions.

B. Provisions related to the election of the President of the General Assembly, members of the General Committee and members of the bureaux of subsidiary organs

11.	71/323 , para. 43 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 30; 69/321 , para. 29; 68/307 , para. 22; and 67/297 , para. 22	Requests the Ad Hoc Working Group to prepare long-term arrangements concerning the election of the Chairs and Rapporteurs of the Main Committees of the General Assembly with the aim of establishing a predictable, transparent and fair mechanism, in consultation with regional groups, and that it submit them to the Assembly no later than at the seventy-second session, and in this regard invites Member States to present proposals and begin at an early stage to devote attention to the matter of concluding a future arrangement, which would come into effect at the seventy-fourth session of the Assembly, with the annex to resolution 68/307 of 10 September 2014 containing the guidelines on the election of the Chairs and Rapporteurs of the Main Committees to be considered in this context.	Ad Hoc Working Group, regional groups	At its seventy-second session, on the recommendation of the Ad Hoc Working Group, the General Assembly decided to establish the pattern for the rotation of the Chairs of the Main Committees for the seventy-fourth to eighty-third sessions (resolution 72/313 , para. 48), as contained in the annex to the resolution.
-----	---	---	---------------------------------------	--

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
12.	72/313 , para. 50 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 44	Continues to encourage Member States to seek gender balance in the distribution of the Chairs and bureau members of the Main Committees as well as the Vice-Presidents of the General Assembly, where applicable.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
13.	70/305 , para. 31 <i>Also in:</i> 69/321 , para. 30	Encourages Member States to seek gender balance in the distribution of Chairs of the Main Committees and in the position of the President of the General Assembly.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
14.	72/313 , para. 48	Decides to establish the pattern for the rotation of the Chairs of the Main Committees for the forthcoming 10 sessions of the General Assembly, namely from the seventy-fourth to the eighty-third session, as contained in the annex to the present resolution.	General Assembly, regional groups	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
15.	72/313 , para. 49	Also decides to prepare arrangements concerning the rotation of the Chairs of the Main Committees for the following sessions no later than at its eighty-second session.	Ad Hoc Working Group, regional groups	To be implemented no later than the eighty-second session of the General Assembly.
16.	68/307 , para. 21	Decides to reiterate the interim arrangement adopted in General Assembly decision 68/505 of 1 October 2013 recommending the pattern for the rotation of the Chairs of the Main Committees for the forthcoming five sessions, namely from the sixty-ninth to seventy-third sessions, as well as the guidelines on the election of the Chairs and Rapporteurs of the Main Committees contained in the annex to the present resolution.	General Assembly, regional groups	Implemented.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
17.	58/126 , annex, sect. B, para. 9	In accordance with paragraph 2 (a) and (c) of resolution 56/509 , the General Assembly elects the President of the Assembly, the Vice-Presidents of the Assembly, and the Chairs of the Main Committees at least three months before the opening of the session in which they will serve. In order to foster better advance planning and preparation of the work of the Main Committees, the full Bureaux of the Main Committees shall similarly be elected three months in advance of the next session.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
18.	77/335 , para. 42	Welcomes the increasing number of women candidates nominated for the subsidiary organs of the General Assembly in seeking to promote gender parity, and encourages Member States to continue to do so.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

**C. Provisions related to the annual report of the Security Council
(see also part I)**

19.	72/313 , para. 17 <i>Also in:</i> 69/321 , para. 13; 68/307 , para. 11; 67/297 , para. 10; 66/294 , para. 11; 65/315 , para. 10; 64/301 , para. 9; 60/286 , annex, para. 4; and 58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 3	Commends improvements in the quality of the annual report of the Security Council to the General Assembly, including as presented in the note by the President of the Security Council, and welcomes the willingness of the Council to continue to consider other suggestions concerning improvements to the annual report.	Security Council	Implemented on an ongoing basis. See the notes by the President of the Security Council contained in documents S/2015/944 and S/2017/507 . Further to the measures contained in the notes by the President of the Security Council of 26 July 2010 (S/2010/507) and 5 June 2012 (S/2012/402), presidents may consider organizing interactive informal exchanges of views with the wider membership prior to the adoption of the report.
-----	---	---	------------------	---

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
20.	60/286 , annex, para. 5 <i>Also in:</i> 58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 4; and 51/241 , annex, para. 12	In carrying out the assessment of the debate on the annual report of the Security Council called for in paragraph 12 of the annex to resolution 51/241 , the President shall inform the General Assembly of his decision regarding the need for further consideration of the report of the Council, including in respect of the convening of informal consultations, on the need for, and content of, any action by the Assembly based on the debate, as well as on any matters to be brought to the attention of the Council.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the General Assembly provides opening remarks and a closing assessment of the debate.
21.	60/286 , annex, para. 6 <i>Also in:</i> 59/313 , para. 2 (e)	Invites the Security Council to update the General Assembly on a regular basis on the steps it has taken or is contemplating with respect to improving its reporting to the Assembly.	Member States, Security Council	Implemented on an ongoing basis. Information on the steps taken by the Security Council is provided during the meetings with the President of the General Assembly, as well as included in the monthly assessments by the Presidents of the Security Council. See also the note by the President of the Security Council (S/2015/944).
22.	59/313 , para. 2 (c) <i>Also in:</i> 59/313 , para. 2 (f)	To consider the annual reports as well as special reports of the Security Council, in accordance with Article 15, paragraph 1, and Article 24, paragraph 3, of the Charter, through substantive and interactive debates.	General Assembly	See above.
23.	51/241 , annex, para. 11	The agenda item entitled "Report of the Security Council" shall continue to be considered in plenary meetings of the General Assembly.	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
24.	51/241 , annex, para. 14	The monthly forecast of the programme of work of the Security Council shall be circulated for the information of members of the General Assembly.	Security Council	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The programme of work is uploaded on the website of the Security Council.
25.	51/241 , annex, para. 13	The agenda item shall not be closed but shall remain open to enable further discussion as necessary during the year, bearing in mind, inter alia, the submission of additional reports as and when necessary.	Member States (General Assembly)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
26.	77/335 , para. 24 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 22; 73/341 , para. 17	Requests the President of the General Assembly to continue scheduling the plenary meetings of the Assembly on the report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization and on the report of the Security Council in close coordination with the Secretary-General and the President of the Security Council so as to avoid overlap with other important and related events on the same day, including, notably, the election of the non-permanent members of the Security Council, so that discussions of these important reports are no longer conducted in a perfunctory manner.	President of the General Assembly, President of the Security Council	See S/2019/997 .

D. Provisions related to the annual report of the Economic and Social Council

27.	60/286 , annex, para. 8 <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 15	Invites the Economic and Social Council to continue to prepare its report to the General Assembly in accordance with Assembly resolution 50/227 , striving to make it more concise and action-oriented by highlighting the critical areas requiring action by the Assembly and, as appropriate, by making specific recommendations for consideration by the Member States.	Member States (Economic and Social Council)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
-----	--	--	---	----------------------------------

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
E. Provisions related to the annual report of the International Court of Justice				
28.	51/241 , annex, para. 16	The report of the International Court of Justice shall continue to be considered in plenary meetings of the General Assembly. The Assembly shall continue to support the role of the International Court of Justice as the principal judicial organ of the Organization, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations. The Assembly shall also continue to encourage the progressive development and codification of international law.	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
F. Provisions related to public relations activities				
29.	77/335 , para. 3 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 3; 74/303 , para. 2; 73/341 , para. 3; 72/313 , para. 2; 71/323 , para. 2; 70/305 , para. 2; 69/321 , para. 2; 68/307 , para. 2; and 67/297 , para. 16	Requests the Secretariat to continue updating regularly and equally the multilingual web page devoted to the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly in all six official languages and its substantive content within existing resources in a cost-effective manner, including through the use of existing capabilities, including but not limited to automation of translation, while ensuring the accuracy of translation, welcomes efforts already undertaken in this regard, and encourages the Secretariat to strengthen those efforts.	Department for General Assembly and Conference Management, Department of Global Communications	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management periodically provides updated content to the Department of Global Communications for uploading to the United Nations website.
30.	77/335 , para. 31 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 24; 73/341 , para. 20; 72/313 , para. 18; 71/323 , para. 18; 70/305 , para. 14; 69/321 , para. 14; 68/307 , para. 12; 67/297 , para. 11; 66/294 , para. 22; 65/315 , para. 18; 64/301 , para. 20;	Requests the Department of Global Communications of the Secretariat and its network of United Nations information centres to continue to take measures to provide accurate, impartial, comprehensive, balanced, timely and accessible information to the public on the tasks and responsibilities of the General Assembly throughout its session in all six official languages and, within existing	Secretariat, Department of Global Communications	The Department of Global Communications provides coverage of the work of the General Assembly, its Main Committees and all major subsidiary bodies in the six official languages, as well as Hindi, Kiswahili and Portuguese. The Department issues comprehensive press releases, in English and French, on all meetings of the General Assembly, its

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
	63/309, para. 8; 60/286, annex, para. 14; and 58/126, annex, sect. A, para. 8	resources, in as many non-official languages and platforms as possible, and requests the Secretary-General and the President of the General Assembly to continue to make efforts to ensure that multilingualism is not undermined, in order to enhance public awareness and understanding of the role, work and decisions of the Assembly.		Main Committees and its subsidiary bodies. The annual press kit on the incoming President of the General Assembly is produced in digital format in the six official languages, as well as in several non-official languages. The Department provides gavel-to-gavel live feeds to broadcasters worldwide of the meetings of the Assembly and related press conferences. Through its weekly briefing programme for the non-governmental community, the Department spotlights issues that are before the Assembly. The global network of United Nations information centres provides communications support to the Presidents of the General Assembly during their official missions to the countries in which they operate. The centres also carry out public information activities to enhance awareness of the Assembly's work. A staff member at the Professional level is regularly seconded by the Department to provide communications support to the President of the General Assembly.
31.	77/335, para. 32	Notes with appreciation the progress made in automating the publication of information about the work of the General Assembly, including the list of resolutions, and requests the Department of Global Communications, in collaboration with the Department for General Assembly and Conference	Secretariat	On 19 February 2024, the Secretariat announced the limited launch of iGov (igov.un.org), the portal to the work of intergovernmental bodies and the public face of e-deleGATE. The portal provides access to information on formal and

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		Management of the Secretariat, to continue to explore new ways to make such information available, within existing resources.		informal meetings of intergovernmental bodies.
32.	66/294 , para. 14 <i>Also in:</i> 60/286 , annex, para. 15	Urges the Secretariat to continue its efforts to raise the visibility of the General Assembly, reaffirms paragraph 15 of resolution 60/286 , and decides that the announcements about the work of the principal organs of the United Nations should appear in the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i> in the order stipulated in Article 7 of the Charter.	Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
33.	60/286 , annex, para. 16	Encourages the Presidents of the General Assembly to increase their public visibility, including through enhanced contacts with representatives of the media and civil society, thus promoting the activities of the Assembly, and encourages the Secretary-General to continue the practice of providing to the Office of the President of the Assembly a Spokesperson for the President of the Assembly and an assistant to the Spokesperson.	President of the General Assembly, Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the General Assembly gives briefings periodically to representatives of civil society.
G. Provisions related to the General Assembly cooperation with civil society and others				
34.	77/335 , para. 41	Acknowledges the Presidents of the General Assembly at its seventy-sixth and seventy-seventh sessions for convening the Advisory Board on Gender Equality and the General Assembly Platform of Women Leaders, and encourages the continuation of these initiatives at future sessions of the Assembly.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
35.	71/323 , para. 14 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 11; 69/321 , para. 11; 68/307 , para. 9; and 60/286 , annex, para. 12	Reaffirms the importance and benefit of continuing interaction between the General Assembly and international or regional forums and organizations dealing with global matters of concern to the international community, as well as with civil society, where appropriate, and encourages the exploration of appropriate actions or measures, while fully respecting the intergovernmental nature of the Assembly, in conformity with its relevant rules of procedure.	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. For example, informal interactive hearings with civil society take place within the framework of the preparations for high-level meetings of the General Assembly, in accordance with the respectively applicable resolutions on modalities. The General Assembly also periodically hears briefings by the current Chair of the Group of 20 on its recent activities.
36.	60/286 , annex, para. 13	Encourages, where appropriate, continued cooperation between the General Assembly and national and regional parliaments, particularly through the Inter-Parliamentary Union.	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
H. Provisions related to the organization of work				
37.	77/335 , para. 19	Urges Member States, when considering establishing new mandates for meetings of the General Assembly, to be mindful of existing mandated meetings, and in this regard requests the Secretariat to advise the Member States of any existing mandated meetings that overlap in date or theme, with the aim of minimizing the overall number of high-level, thematic and commemorative meetings.	Member States, Secretariat	Member States, when considering establishing new mandates for meetings of the General Assembly, are advised by the Secretariat accordingly.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
38.	77/335 , para. 20	Requests the Secretariat to draw the attention of the General Assembly and its subsidiary organs to overlapping high-level meetings of the Assembly prior to action on proposals that mandate the holding of meetings of the Assembly on specific dates, and to advise co-chairs and co-facilitators appointed by the President of the General Assembly during the scheduling of informal consultations if such meetings or consultations overlap with other meetings of the Assembly already scheduled, to also take this guidance into account.	Secretariat	The Secretariat draws the attention of the General Assembly and its subsidiary organs to overlapping high-level meetings of the Assembly by reading out an oral statement. The Secretariat advises co-chairs and co-facilitators accordingly.
39.	72/313 , para. 51 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 45	Decides to continue to consider, within the Ad Hoc Working Group, the potential concept and scope of guidelines on how to conduct the election campaigns by Member States, with a view to improving the standards of transparency and equity.	Ad Hoc Working Group	Implemented at its seventy-second and seventy-third sessions.
40.	55/285 , annex, para. 19 <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 28	In order to implement fully paragraph 28 of the annex to resolution 51/241 , the President of the General Assembly is encouraged to make greater use of facilitators, where appropriate.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
41.	77/335 , para. 21	Strongly encourages the President of the General Assembly, supported by the membership, to achieve gender parity across all the co-chairs and co-facilitators appointed for intergovernmental processes, as well as among the invited speakers and panellists for all meetings of the General Assembly.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
42.	77/335 , para. 22	Encourages the President of the General Assembly to continue the practice of selecting one representative	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		from a developed country and one representative from a developing country when appointing two co-chairs or co-facilitators, and strongly encourages the President to strive for geographical balance among the invited speakers and panellists for all meetings of the General Assembly.		
43.	77/335 , para. 23	Invites the President of the General Assembly to publish the outcome of efforts to implement paragraphs 21 and 22 in a consolidated format on the website of the Office of the President.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
44.	77/335 , para. 39	Expresses its appreciation to the President of the General Assembly at its seventy-seventh session for strengthening the role of the General Committee with the holding of informal meetings aimed at promoting close coordination and collaboration between the appointed co-chairs and co-facilitators of different intergovernmental processes, and encourages the President of the General Assembly at future sessions to continue this practice.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
45.	51/241 , annex, para. 27	The General Assembly is the highest political body with universal membership of the Organization. Consideration of agenda items directly in plenary meetings shall be reserved for urgent issues or issues of major political importance, bearing in mind paragraphs 1 and 2 of annex I to General Assembly resolution 48/264 .	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
46.	51/241 , annex, para. 28	The President of the General Assembly, with a view to ensuring that there is a systematic and transparent process for participation by delegations in discussions on action to be taken on items considered directly in plenary meetings, shall assess the debate in plenary meetings.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
47.	51/241 , annex, para. 29	The Secretariat shall ensure, in consultation with the President, that priority is accorded to the availability of a meeting room and services to facilitate these consultations.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
48.	72/313 , para. 39	Calls upon all officers chairing or facilitating intergovernmental processes to seek to conduct informal negotiations during regular working hours, in order to allow for the active and constructive participation of all Permanent Missions in the work of the United Nations.	Officers chairing or facilitating intergovernmental processes	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
49.	77/335 , para. 55	Requests a briefing by the Secretariat at the seventy-eighth session assessing the impact of the entry into effect of the earlier start date of the General Assembly at the seventy-eighth session, and on the expected impact of possibly moving the start date to late August, and decides to discuss during the seventy-ninth session options regarding an earlier start date of the regular session.	Secretariat	Implemented at the interactive dialogue with the Secretariat during the seventy-eighth session.

I. Provisions related to interactive/thematic debates

50.	77/335 , para. 18 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 20; 72/313 , para. 14; 71/323 , para. 15; 70/305 , para. 12; 69/321 , para. 12; 68/307 , para. 10; 67/297 , para. 7;	Recognizes the value of holding interactive inclusive thematic debates on current issues of critical importance to the international community, calls for the rationalizing of such debates to ensure high-level attendance, calls upon the President of the General Assembly to be mindful of the	President of the General Assembly, Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Presidents of the General Assembly regularly make a preliminary announcement of their intention to convene interactive thematic debates, including in their acceptance speech when elected.
-----	---	--	--	---

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
	66/294, para. 7; 65/315, para. 6; 64/301, para. 5; 60/286, annex, para. 3; 59/313, paras. 3 (a) and 12; and 58/126, annex, sect. B, para. 3	regular agenda of the Assembly as well as the need to enable the participation of all countries, and urges Member States to refrain from mandating recurring high-level and commemorative meetings where possible, and to consider establishing sunset clauses upon review, including for those already mandated.		Subsequently, they inform Member States by letter of the format and agenda of forthcoming thematic debates whose outcomes are posted on the website of the President of the Assembly. The website of the President of the General Assembly includes a list of thematic debates convened during each session.
51.	72/313, para. 16 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323, para. 16	Requests the President of the General Assembly to limit high-level meetings to current issues of critical importance to the international community, with the interest of the wider membership in mind and with a focus on the most vulnerable, while encouraging the allocation of events of a strictly sectoral or thematic nature to the six Main Committees.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
52.	72/313, para. 45 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323, para. 39	Requests the President of the General Assembly, in order to enhance transparency, to continue to attach the list of speakers at high-level thematic debates organized by the President to the summary of those events.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

J. Provisions related to the cooperation between the main organs

53.	72/313, para. 8 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323, para. 8; 70/305, para. 8; 69/321, para. 8; 68/307, para. 8; 66/294, para. 10; 65/315, para. 9; 64/301, paras. 7 and 8; 60/286, annex, para. 2; 58/126, annex, sect. A, para. 6; 55/285, annex, para. 21; and 51/241, annex, para. 43	Reaffirms that the relationship between the principal organs of the United Nations is mutually reinforcing and complementary, in accordance with and with full respect for their respective functions, authority, powers and competencies as enshrined in the Charter, and in this regard stresses the importance of further ensuring increased cooperation, coordination and the exchange of information among the Presidents of the principal organs and also with the Secretariat, in particular the Secretary-General.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the General Assembly meets with the President of the Security Council, the Secretary-General and the President of the Economic and Social Council on a regular basis.
-----	---	--	-----------------------------------	--

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
54.	58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 5	The President of the General Assembly should continue to be briefed regularly by the President of the Security Council on the work of the Council. The President of the Assembly may wish to inform Member States about the substantive issues raised during these meetings.	President of the Security Council, President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council meet at monthly intervals.

K. Provisions related to the implementation and follow-up of resolutions

55.	75/325 , para. 6 <i>Also in:</i> 74/303 , para. 5; 73/341 , para. 5; 72/313 , para. 4; 71/323 , para. 4; 70/305 , para. 4; 69/321 , para. 4; 68/307 , para. 4; 67/297 , para. 3; 66/294 , para. 3; 65/315 , para. 3; and 64/301 , para. 3	Further decides that the Ad Hoc Working Group shall continue its review of the inventory of General Assembly resolutions on revitalization annexed to the report of the Ad Hoc Working Group submitted at the seventy-fifth session (A/75/973) and, as a result, continue to update the inventory to be attached to the reports to be submitted at the seventy-sixth and seventy-seventh sessions of the Assembly, including the separate indication of relevant provisions that were not implemented, with reasons therefor.	General Assembly (Ad Hoc Working Group)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
56.	77/335 , para. 8 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 7; 73/341 , para. 6; 72/313 , para. 5; 71/323 , para. 5; 70/305 , para. 5; 69/321 , para. 5; 68/307 , para. 5; 67/297 , para. 3; 66/294 , para. 3; 65/315 , para. 3; and 64/301 , para. 3	Requests the Secretary-General to submit an update on the provisions of the General Assembly resolutions on revitalization addressed to the Secretariat for implementation that have not been implemented, with an indication of the constraints and reasons behind any lack of implementation, for further consideration by the Ad Hoc Working Group at the seventy-eighth and seventy-ninth sessions.	Secretary-General	An update is provided in the present inventory.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
57.	72/313 , para. 19 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 19; 70/305 , para. 15; and 69/321 , para. 15	Requests the Secretary-General, under relevant agenda items, to bring to the attention of Member States constraints that have prevented the Secretary-General from implementing those provisions of General Assembly resolutions that are addressed to the Secretariat.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The reports of the Secretary-General issued pursuant to intergovernmental mandates reflect on all aspects of their implementation.
58.	59/313 , para. 1	Stresses the need to demonstrate political will to ensure the effective implementation of the resolutions adopted by the General Assembly.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis. Provision does not contain a request for specific action.
59.	58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 9	Member States and the Secretariat should consider initiatives that might be taken for better monitoring of the follow-up of resolutions of the General Assembly, such as the provision of timely inputs for reports of the Secretary-General and giving effect to proposals that would advance the follow-up of major United Nations conferences and summits.	Member States, Secretary-General	Communications from the Secretary-General have been sent to Member States on an ongoing basis to ask for pertinent information.

Cluster II: working methods

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
A. General provisions related to the rules of procedure of the General Assembly				
60.	72/313 , para. 47	Requests the Secretary-General to submit to the General Assembly at its seventy-third session a report on the possible alternative dates for the beginning of the regular session of the Assembly and the financial and logistical implications thereof, as well as on potential benefits and shortcomings of various options, based on the premise that any such change will not have an effect on the beginning of the general debate in September.	Secretary-General	The report of the Secretary-General entitled “Opening of the regular sessions of the General Assembly” (A/73/723) was issued before the first meeting of the Working Group. The General Assembly took note of the report in its resolution 73/341 (para. 38).

Number	Resolution	Text of provision	Implementing entity	Comments
61.	77/335 , paras. 43 and 51 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , paras. 46 and 48; 73/341 , para. 31; 72/313 , paras. 61 and 62; and 71/323 , paras. 54 and 55	Reiterates the need to produce the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i> in all six official languages in strict compliance with rule 55 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, and in that regard emphasizes the importance of the extension of the information in the <i>Journal</i> published in the six official languages, reiterates its request to the Secretary-General to brief the Ad Hoc Working Group, on a yearly basis, on the progress achieved in this regard, and requests the Secretariat to continue to explore cost-neutral options to that effect.	Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Briefings are provided as part of the interactive dialogue between the permanent missions and the Secretariat.
62.	72/313 , para. 55	Takes note of the introduction of real-time updates with respect to the cancellation and postponement of meetings, and requests the continuation of this practice with further improvements, in particular with the introduction of the possibility of subscribing to relevant agenda items with automatic notifications to subscribers on their status.	Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
63.	60/286 , annex, para. 24 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 50; and 59/313 , para. 14	Requests the Secretary-General to issue the rules of procedure of the General Assembly in a consolidated version in all official languages, in print and online.	Secretary-General	The consolidated version of the rules of procedure (A/520/Rev.20) is available both in print and online.
64.	60/286 , annex, para. 24	Requests the Office of Legal Affairs of the Secretariat to make precedents and past practice available in the public domain with respect to rules and practices of the intergovernmental bodies of the Organization.	Secretary-General, Office of Legal Affairs	Implemented.

Number	Resolution	Text of provision	Implementing entity	Comments
65.	77/335 , para. 51 <i>Also in:</i> 72/313 , paras. 58 and 59; 71/323 , paras. 51 and 52; 70/305 , para. 33; and 68/307 , para. 24	Recognizes the progress made in the archiving of past statements, and requests the Secretariat to continue to ensure open access to all documents uploaded to PaperSmart and its replacement, the eStatements module of the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i> , and the United Nations Digital Library, and to provide materials in accessible format.	Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
66.	72/313 , para. 60 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 53	Calls upon all relevant intergovernmental bodies to continue to review the need for and content of the <i>Journal</i> summaries of their meetings and other announcements, and to take the steps necessary with a view to ensuring a more streamlined format for the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i> .	Main Committees, General Assembly subsidiary bodies	Implemented.
67.	72/313 , para. 34 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 32	Also recalls rule 72 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, and calls for strict adherence by each speaker to the time limits in the Assembly, where applicable, bearing in mind that all speakers shall get the same opportunity to deliver their statements within the allocated time limit, as set out in the rules of procedure of the Assembly.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
68.	72/313 , para. 35 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 33	Reiterates its invitation to the Chairs of meetings of the General Assembly and United Nations conferences, especially when there is very limited time available for debate, to consider recommending the “all protocol observed” principle, whereby participants are encouraged to refrain from listing standard protocol expressions during their statements.	President of the General Assembly, presiding officers, Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
69.	71/323 , para. 46	Decides to amend rule 92 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly by deleting its second sentence.	Secretary-General	Implemented (see A/520/Rev.19).
B. Provisions related to the organization of meetings: plenary, General Committee, Main Committees				
70.	72/313 , para. 53	Notes the practice implemented during the secret vote-counting procedure, whereby no use of mobile phones or other electronic communication devices is permitted in the room where counting is being conducted, thus ensuring the confidentiality of elections and the integrity of secret ballots, and requests the continuation of this practice.	Secretariat, Member States (tellers)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
71.	71/323 , para. 47	Further decides that the names of candidates for election by the General Assembly or by the Main Committees shall be communicated to the Secretariat, where possible, at least 48 hours prior to an election unless otherwise required by specific rules governing the elections concerned, and that those names shall be printed on the ballot papers, while additional space shall be provided on the ballot paper for inscribing other names, where applicable.	Member States, Secretariat	Implemented. In its resolution 72/313 , the General Assembly welcomed the efficient implementation of paragraphs 47 and 48 of resolution 71/323 relating to the conduct of elections in the General Assembly and the Main Committees (para. 52).
72.	71/323 , para. 48	Decides that on the day of election in the General Assembly or in the Main Committees the campaign materials distributed in the General Assembly Hall or in the Committee meeting room shall be limited to a single page of information regarding the candidates, with a view to preserving the decorum of the Assembly.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolution 72/313 , the General Assembly welcomed the efficient implementation of paragraphs 47 and 48 of resolution 71/323 relating to the conduct of elections in the General Assembly and the Main Committees (para. 52).

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
73.	71/323 , para. 42 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 29	Also decides that, with due consideration given to accessibility issues, in all plenary meetings of the General Assembly, including plenary meetings of high-level events, the seating arrangement of Member States shall follow English alphabetical order, beginning with the name of the country selected by lot each year and avoiding distinctions between Member States as to the rank of the head of delegation.	President of the General Assembly, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
74.	77/335 , para. 47	Recalls all relevant accessibility-related resolutions of the General Assembly, including resolutions 76/154 of 16 December 2021, 76/273 of 29 June 2022, 77/189 of 15 December 2022 and 77/240 of 16 December 2022, and encourages the Secretariat to make the United Nations more accessible for persons and representatives with disabilities, in line with paragraphs 33 to 37 of resolution 73/341 of 12 September 2019.	Secretariat	An update was provided as part of the interactive dialogue at the seventy-eighth session.
75.	77/335 , para. 48	Requests the Secretariat to establish a centralized point of contact to manage reasonable accommodation requests, and in this regard to create a webform hosted on e-deleGATE to allow the registration of reasonable accommodation requests.	Secretariat	To be implemented.
76.	77/335 , para. 49	Also requests the Secretariat to conduct a full assessment of the digital accessibility of United Nations documents and to report back at the seventy-eighth session, including providing an update on the progress with executable options.	Secretariat	An update was provided as part of the interactive dialogue at the seventy-eighth session.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
77.	77/335 , para. 50	Further requests the Secretariat to conduct an accessibility assessment, including on all entrances and exits, and to provide for the consideration of the Ad Hoc Working Group at the seventy-eighth session a briefing on any specific considerations impeding accessibility for persons with disabilities and providing executable options to enhance accessibility.	Secretariat	A briefing was provided as part of the interactive dialogue at the seventy-eighth session.
78.	73/341 , paras. 33, 34, 36 and 37 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 49	33. Decides that all meetings of the General Assembly and its subsidiary organs should make provisions for accessible seating for representatives with disabilities through the following process: (a) Upon a request by a delegation for accessible seating, the seating order in a given meeting room is changed in such a way as to allow the requesting delegation to move to the closest accessible seat from the one it occupies in accordance with the order established for each session of the Assembly, and the seating order for the rest of the delegations is moved by one seat; (b) Should there be more than one request for accessible seating, the delegations requesting such seats will move to the accessible seats which are closest to their respective seats, which they occupy in accordance with the order established for each session of the Assembly, and the seating order for the rest of the delegations is moved by the corresponding number of seats, omitting the ones newly occupied by the requesting delegations.	Secretariat, Member States (General Assembly and other principal organs of the United Nations and their subsidiary organs)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		34. Requests, in this regard, the Secretariat to inform the Member States as soon as possible of any changes to the seating plans of the conference rooms. 36. Invites other principal organs of the United Nations and their subsidiary organs to make similar accommodations, as provided in paragraphs 33 and 34 above, for their meetings. 37. Requests the Secretariat to bring this decision to the attention of any State, organization or entity that seeks to organize a meeting to be held at the United Nations, and encourages such State, organization or entity to make arrangements for accessible seating in the manner mentioned in paragraphs 33 and 34.		
79.	77/335, para. 17 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325, para. 19; 72/313, para. 44; 71/323, para. 38; 70/305, para. 26; 69/321, para. 27; 68/307, para. 18; 67/297, para. 18; 66/294, para. 20; and 65/315, para. 16	Underlines the urgent need to preserve the primacy, significance and established practice of the general debate of the General Assembly, and: (a) Stresses the need to limit the number of high-level events held in the margins of the general debate to those of key significance that require immediate attention from Heads of State and Government, to enable the meaningful participation of all countries in the general debate; (b) Calls upon the President of the General Assembly, Member States, the Secretary-General and heads of other relevant United Nations bodies to be mindful of those aspects when planning and coordinating the events of the high-level week in September and to be guided by the existing mandates agreed upon by Member States;	President of the General Assembly, Main Committee Chairs, Member States, Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Secretariat takes an active role in providing advice, as requested, in the consultations on modalities for high-level plenary meetings, high-level thematic debates and other events scheduled near the general debate, to ensure optimum scheduling and utilization. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management also regularly gives a briefing to Member States on arrangements for the forthcoming general debate and other high-level meetings convened in its vicinity. Furthermore, the Executive Office of the Secretary-General has adopted an internal mechanism to ensure the coordination of initiatives emanating from departments and offices of the Secretariat and agencies, funds and

Number	Resolution	Text of provision	Implementing entity	Comments
		(c) Calls upon Member States and the United Nations system to singly and collectively limit the number of side events in parallel with or in the margins of the general debate, as well as other high-level sessions, and encourages informal prior consultations to identify side events on similar topics in an effort to minimize overlap and inform the Secretariat of the details of planned side events; (d) Invites Member States and United Nations system entities to join the voluntary pledge, contained in annex II to the present resolution, to limit the number of side events held in parallel with or in the margins of the general debate, and requests the President of the General Assembly to circulate the pledge to Member States annually ahead of the general debate and to provide information on States that have signed the pledge on the website of the Office of the President; (e) Requests the Secretariat to continue the practice of uploading information on the side events, when indicated by the organizers, in the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i>, and to do so in all six official languages when provided by the organizers.		programmes of the United Nations. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management regularly gives a briefing to senior staff in other departments on lessons learned and best practices regarding the organization and scheduling of high-level meetings.
80.	70/305, para. 19 <i>Also in:</i> 69/321, para. 21; 68/307, para. 17; and 67/297, para. 17	Welcomes the holding of elections for non-permanent members of the Security Council and members of the Economic and Social Council about six months before the elected members assume their responsibilities, welcomes the note by the President of the Security Council in which the elected Security Council members are invited to	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolution 72/313, the General Assembly welcomed efforts to afford elected members of the Security Council appropriate opportunities to prepare for their tenure, and also welcomed the note by the President of the Security Council in which the elected

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		observe some of its meetings and activities as from 1 October immediately preceding their term of membership, and also welcomes such efforts to afford elected members appropriate opportunities to prepare for their tenure in the Security Council.		Council members were invited to observe some of its meetings and activities as from 1 October immediately preceding their term of membership (para. 26).
81.	72/313 , para. 9 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 9; 70/305 , para. 9; 69/321 , para. 9; 66/294 , para. 9; and 65/315 , para. 8	Recalls the practice of holding periodic informal briefings by the Secretary-General on his priorities, travels and most recent activities, including his participation in international meetings and events organized outside the United Nations, and invites the Secretary-General to continue this practice.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Secretary-General periodically gives a briefing to Member States in informal plenary meetings of the General Assembly on his priorities, travels and most recent activities.
82.	72/313 , para. 33 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 31; 70/305 , para. 24; and 69/321 , para. 25	Recalls rules 153 and 154 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, and encourages the Chairs of the Main Committees and the Secretary-General to ensure observance of these rules, within their respective mandates.	Main Committee Chairs, Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
83.	59/313 , para. 11	Strongly urges all officers presiding over meetings of the General Assembly to start such meetings on time.	Secretary-General, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis by the Secretariat. In its resolution 72/313 , the General Assembly urged all presiding officers and Member States to strictly adhere to the scheduled starting time of meetings of the General Assembly and its subsidiary bodies (para. 38).
84.	58/316 , annex, para. 1 (b)	With effect from the fifty-ninth session of the General Assembly, the meetings of the plenary Assembly shall normally be held on Mondays and Thursdays.	Secretary-General, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis, as far as possible.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
85.	58/126 , annex, sect. B, para. 2	The work of the Main Committees of the General Assembly might benefit if it is scheduled over two substantive periods during the session. With a view to enabling the Assembly to consider changes in this regard, with effect from the sixtieth session of the Assembly, the Secretary-General is requested to present, by 1 February 2004, various options for consideration by the General Committee, taking into account the requirements of the relevant intergovernmental bodies and the different locations of their meetings and the budget cycle.	Secretary-General	One-time action. In response to this request, the Secretariat circulated a note entitled “Options for the rescheduling of the Main Committees of the General Assembly” (A/58/CRP.3), which the General Assembly considered at its fifty-eighth session (A/61/483 , p. 12, and A/62/608 , p. 7).

C. Provisions related to the general debate

86.	71/323 , para. 41 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 28	Decides that, with sufficient time before the opening of each regular or special session of the General Assembly, the Secretariat, in particular its protocol and security services, shall hold discussions with all Member States on all aspects related to the organization of the high-level segment of the general debate and any other activities that may have special organizational requirements.	Secretariat (Department for General Assembly and Conference Management, Department of Safety and Security)	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Secretariat regularly gives a briefing to Member States on the organizational aspects of the general debate. It also issues an information note in advance of the annual high-level segment.
87.	72/313 , para. 46 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 40; 70/305 , para. 27; 69/321 , para. 28; 68/307 , para. 19; 57/301 , para. 2; and 51/241 , annex, paras. 19 and 20 (a)	Encourages the scheduling of future high-level meetings during the first half of the year, from within existing resources, taking into account the calendar of conferences and without prejudice to the current practice of convening one high-level meeting in September at the beginning of each session of the Assembly.	Secretary-General, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	High-level thematic debates and high-level debates organized by the President of the General Assembly are normally scheduled during the first half of the year (that is, during the resumed part of the session).

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
88.	72/313 , para. 40 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 34	Decides to continue to consider ways to rationalize the number of side events held during the high-level segment of the general debate, bearing in mind the need to enhance its decorum and significance, and encourages the scheduling of side events at United Nations Headquarters outside of the hours when the general debate is being held.	Ad Hoc Working Group, Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
89.	51/241 , annex, para. 20 (b)–(e)	The preparation of the list of speakers for the general debate shall be based on the following principles: (b) Member States shall be invited to indicate three preferences for speaking times; (c) Member States wishing to organize or participate in group meetings during the general debate period shall be encouraged to coordinate their responses to the request for preferences and to indicate this transparently in their responses; (d) The Secretariat shall be requested to prepare a list of speakers based on existing traditions and expressions of preference to best accommodate Members' needs; (e) The list of speakers for each day shall be completed and no speakers will be rolled over to the next day, notwithstanding the implications for hours of work.	Secretary-General, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The preparation of the list is based on the expressions of preference, traditions and other criteria (such as written request by a Member State, level of representation, previous speaker slot, gender balance and geographical diversity).
90.	72/313 , para. 15	Recommends, in this regard, unless decided otherwise, that no other agenda items should be opened during the dates allocated for the general debate.	General Assembly, Secretary-General, Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
D. Provisions related to the conduct of business: time limits on speeches				
91.	59/313 , para. 10	Decides that time limits on speeches in the plenary Assembly and in the Main Committees shall be applied in accordance with rules 72 and 114 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly.	Member States, Secretary-General, President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
92.	59/313 , para. 13	Invites Member States that are aligned with statements already made by the chair of a group of Member States, where possible, to focus additional interventions that they make in their national capacity on points that have not already been adequately addressed in the statements of the group in question, bearing in mind the sovereign right of each Member State to express its national position.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
93.	51/241 , annex, para. 22	Outside the general debate there shall be a 15-minute time limit in plenary meetings and in the Main Committees.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
E. Provisions related to modern technologies				
94.	77/335 , para. 36 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 27; 74/303 , para. 4	Notes the important role of information and communication technologies in carrying out the work of the United Nations, including the General Assembly, stresses the importance of being mindful of the proper use of such technologies to ensure full and equal participation of Member States, and requests the Secretariat to provide for the consideration of the Ad Hoc Working Group at the seventy-eighth session of the General Assembly a briefing on the use of information and communications technologies in the work of the General Assembly, with a view to ensuring better preparedness in exceptional circumstances.	Secretariat	Briefings are provided as part of the interactive dialogue between the permanent missions and the Secretariat.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
95.	77/335, para. 46 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325, para. 47; 73/341, para. 32; 72/313, para. 54; 71/323, para. 49; 70/305, para. 32; 69/321, para. 31; 68/307, para. 20; 67/297, paras. 20 and 21; 66/294, paras. 15 and 23; and 64/301, para. 19	Reaffirms its request in paragraph 47 of resolution 75/325 regarding e-deleGATE modules, and: (a) Requests the Secretariat to consolidate e-services provided to delegates under the e-deleGATE platform to provide a single point of entry for such services; (b) Calls upon its subsidiary organs to use, as much as possible, existing e-deleGATE modules; (c) Requests the Secretariat to regularly brief and organize demonstrations for delegates on the use of the e-deleGATE platform and other online tools used by delegates; (d) Also requests the Secretariat to brief the Ad Hoc Working Group on the current and future functionality of the e-deleGATE platform. Requests the Secretariat to continue to improve, harmonize and unify e-services provided to Member States under e-deleGATE with a view to creating a full-fledged delegates' online workplace in all six official languages in order to save costs, reduce the environmental impact and improve the distribution of documents.	Member States, Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis. Delegate-facing services for the plenary and the six Main Committees have been centralized through the e-deleGATE platform. The platform is also used for the Security Council, the Economic and Social Council and their subsidiary organs, as well as for intergovernmental organs not based in New York.
96.	72/313 , para. 36	Requests the Secretariat to ensure the availability through the e-deleGATE portal of provisional lists of speakers at United Nations meetings and conferences not later than by the end of the business day preceding the relevant meeting or conference.	Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The provisional lists of speakers for meetings of the General Assembly, its Main Committees and subsidiaries, and the Economic and Social Council and its subsidiaries that utilize the e-deleGATE platform are usually circulated via email

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
				announcements no later than the day before. As indicated during an interactive dialogue at the seventy-sixth session, efforts are under way to share certain lists of speakers with delegations, without requiring delegates to approach the Secretariat in conference rooms. The first such lists are being shared via the e-deleGATE platform and via iGov (igov.un.org), the portal to the work of intergovernmental bodies.
97.	77/335 , para. 52	Notes the use of digital repositories to strengthen the institutional memory of the subsidiary organs of the General Assembly, including the implementation status of their outcomes, reaffirms that working methods of its subsidiary organs are within their competence and encourages those organs to consider the further development of such digital repositories and to ensure that they are accessible, and requests the Secretariat to provide assistance in this regard.	Subsidiary organs of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
98.	77/335 , para. 53	Requests the Secretary-General, during the seventy-eighth session of the General Assembly, to assess and report on executable options for consideration by the General Assembly on making available to all Member States the bulk registration of participants in official conferences and meetings of the United Nations, without prejudice to the current available option in this regard.	Secretariat	An update was provided during the interactive dialogue with the Secretariat.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
99.	72/313 , para. 42 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 36	Decides that, in addition to the general debate and the thematic meetings, the interactive and comprehensive dialogue between the Permanent Missions and the Secretariat held within the Ad Hoc Working Group, as outlined in paragraph 10 of resolution 71/323 , shall be webcast.	Department of Global Communications	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
100.	71/323 , para. 35	Requests the Secretariat to provide a tool to allow Member States and the United Nations system to upload and publish information about side events organized by them at United Nations Headquarters throughout the year.	Secretariat	In its resolution 72/313 , the General Assembly took note of the possibility for Member States to publish their side events under a dedicated section of the digital version of the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i> (para. 41).
101.	71/323 , para. 50	Requests the Secretariat to explore ways to provide real-time updates with respect to the cancellation and postponement of meetings, as currently provided on the screens at United Nations Headquarters, through a user-friendly application for electronic devices, and to present possible options to the Ad Hoc Working Group during the seventy-second session of the General Assembly.	Secretariat	Implemented.
102.	70/305 , para. 18 <i>Also in:</i> 69/321 , para. 20	Reiterates its request to the Secretary-General to include, in his report to be submitted at the seventy-first session of the General Assembly under the agenda item entitled "Pattern of conferences", information regarding the basis for the current practice whereby Member States bear the additional costs of using United Nations Headquarters conference services during business hours.	Secretary-General	Implemented (see A/71/116 , para. 19).

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
103.	66/294, para. 24 <i>Also in:</i> 65/315, para. 19; 64/301, para. 21; 63/309, para. 9; 60/286, annex, para. 28; 59/313, para. 15; and 55/285, annex, para. 24 (a)	Decides that the Ad Hoc Working Group shall remain apprised of options for more time-effective, efficient and secure balloting, reiterating the need to ascertain the credibility, reliability and confidentiality of the balloting process, and requests the Secretariat to submit an update in case of any new technological developments, on the understanding that the adoption of any new balloting system in the future will require a decision of the plenary of the General Assembly.	Secretariat, General Assembly (Ad Hoc Working Group)	The Ad Hoc Working Group receives periodic updates from the Secretariat in case of any new technological developments during the interactive dialogue with the Secretariat.
104.	63/309, para. 7	Calls upon Member States to respond to the annual review of the Meetings and Publishing Division of the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management on the distribution of printed documents to Missions, bearing in mind the cost savings, as well as the reduced environmental impact, which may accrue from this exercise, in order to improve the quality and distribution of those documents.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
105.	55/285, annex, para. 24 (b) and (c)	Taking into account the general support in this regard, the Secretary-General is requested to submit proposals to the General Assembly for its consideration: (b) Wiring of the main conference rooms at Headquarters to provide members of delegations and the Secretariat with access to the Official Document System and other databases of the Organization, as well as to the Internet, together with electronic access to texts of statements and reports and, in the case of reports,	Secretary- General	Implemented.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		simultaneous access to texts in all official languages; (c) Other areas of the work of the Assembly in which the use of modern technology and information technology would contribute to enhancing efficiency in its working methods.		
106.	51/241, annex, para. 45	The Secretary-General is requested to pursue an information technology plan with a range of options to provide all permanent missions to the United Nations and the wider public with online access to documents and relevant United Nations information. Unless the General Assembly decides otherwise, hard copies of documents shall continue to be distributed to permanent missions in accordance with their needs. While welcoming the progress made by the Ad Hoc Open-ended Working Group on Informatics of the Economic and Social Council, further efforts in this direction could be pursued within a specified time frame to harmonize and improve United Nations information systems. All countries, in particular developing countries, shall be assisted in making full use of this potential access. Adequate provision should be made for training delegates. Facilities for such access by delegations within the United Nations premises shall also be expanded as much as possible. Availability of information in this manner should be ensured in all official languages of the United Nations.	Secretary-General	Implemented. The Official Document System is fully operational and accessible. In addition to distribution via electronic means, hard copies continue to be distributed to permanent missions as requested.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
107.	51/241 , annex, para. 46	The Secretary-General is encouraged to include information on the impact of technological improvements in his report on the implementation of mandates, by means of comparing outputs with objectives.	Secretary-General	See comments for provisions 105 and 106 above.
F. Provisions related to documentation: resolutions (see also part I)				
108.	77/335 , para. 44	Invites the main sponsors of draft resolutions that are submitted for the consideration of delegations to consider the procedural practices applied during previous sessions with the aim of enhancing the efficiency of the work of the General Assembly and its Main Committees and the Economic and Social Council and its subsidiary bodies, and requests the Secretariat to advise main sponsors of draft resolutions on its guidelines for the preparation, co-sponsorship and submission of proposals for consideration in the plenary of the General Assembly.	Member States, Secretariat	The Secretariat advises main sponsors of draft resolutions on its guidelines for the preparation, co-sponsorship and submission of proposals for consideration in the plenary of the General Assembly.
109.	66/294 , para. 21 <i>Also in:</i> 65/315 , para. 17	Encourages Member States, United Nations bodies and the Secretariat to continue to consult on the consolidation of documentation in order to avoid duplication of work, to exercise the fullest possible discipline in striving for concise resolutions, reports and other documentation, inter alia, by referring to previous documents rather than repeating actual content, and to focus on key themes.	Member States, Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis. This issue is frequently examined in several intergovernmental bodies.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
G. Provisions related to documentation: consolidation of reports				
110.	60/286, annex, para. 29 <i>Also in:</i> 59/313, para. 16; 58/316, annex, para. 6 (c); and 58/126, annex, sect. B, para. 7	Requests the Secretary-General to implement further the measures set out in paragraph 20 of resolution 57/300 on the consolidation of reports and in paragraph 6 of the annex to resolution 58/316 on documentation.	Secretary-General	In response to the provision formulated in resolution 57/300, the Secretariat issued a note entitled “Control and limitation of documentation” (A/58/CRP.7). Since the adoption of the resolution, several reports, where appropriate, have been consolidated (A/61/483, p. 21, and A/62/608). The Main Committees regularly examine the issue of consolidation of documentation, particularly when considering their working methods in the context of the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly.
111.	59/313, para. 16 <i>Also in:</i> 58/316, annex, para. 6	In the light of its decision in section B, paragraph 7, of the annex to resolution 58/126 that the heavy volume of documentation that is submitted to the General Assembly for its consideration should be reduced, the Secretary-General is requested: (a) To update the note by the Secretariat, entitled “Control and limitation of documentation” (A/58/CRP.7) in the light of the provisions of the present resolution; (b) To submit the updated version of the note by the Secretariat for the consideration of the General Committee, meeting in open-ended consultations, so that it may make recommendations to the General Assembly at its fifty-ninth session.	Secretary-General	In response to the provision formulated in resolution 57/300, the Secretariat issued a note entitled “Control and limitation of documentation” (A/58/CRP.7).

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
112.	55/285 , annex, para. 16	In preparing the annual memorandum concerning the implementation of the resolutions and decisions of the General Assembly, the secretariat of the Assembly, in consultation with the substantive departments of the Secretariat, should look for synergies and integration of reports.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis by the Secretariat.
H. Provisions related to the preparation and issuance of reports				
113.	66/294 , para. 21 <i>Also in:</i> 59/313 , para. 18; and 49/221 B, para. 6 (c)	Calls upon Member States, United Nations bodies and the Secretariat to observe existing submission deadlines so as to allow for the timely processing of documents to be examined by intergovernmental bodies.	Member States, Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
114.	55/285 , annex, para. 18	The Secretary-General is requested to make further suggestions as to how to speed up the preparation of reports and to rationalize the scheduling of meetings. The Secretary-General shall keep the President of the General Assembly and the General Committee informed on this issue on a regular basis throughout the sessions of the Assembly.	Secretary-General	The Secretary-General continues to make recommendations in his memorandums on organization of the General Assembly, adoption of the agenda and allocation of items.
115.	59/313 , para. 17	Encourages Member States, when seeking additional information, to request that they be provided with the information either orally or, if in writing, in the form of information sheets, annexes, tables and the like, and encourages the wider use of this practice.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
116.	55/285 , annex, para. 17	Member States and entities of the United Nations system should make a serious effort to submit their replies and inputs to requests for information or views pursuant to resolutions of the General Assembly within the prescribed deadlines.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
I. Provisions related to the report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization				
117.	55/285 , annex, para. 14 <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 7	As regards implementation of paragraph 7 of the annex to resolution 51/241 , the President of the General Assembly, after consideration by the Assembly of the report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization, shall inform the Assembly of his assessment of the debate on the report in order for the Assembly to determine the need for further action.	President of the General Assembly	According to practice, the Secretary-General introduces his report at the beginning of the general debate. Consequently, the President of the General Assembly presents his/her assessment at the conclusion of the general debate. Any additional assessment by the President is provided after plenary meetings of the General Assembly.
118.	51/241 , annex, para. 4	The introduction to the report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization should be in the nature of an executive summary highlighting main issues.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The introduction to the report on the work of the Organization is presented in the form of an executive summary highlighting the main issues.
119.	51/241 , annex, para. 5 <i>Also in:</i> 55/285 , annex, para. 13	The main body of the report shall be comprehensive, informative and analytical in a way that will allow Member States to examine and assess, inter alia, through the debate on the report, the extent to which mandates given by the General Assembly have been fulfilled, as well as to set priorities in the context of the major political, economic and social, administrative and financial issues on its agenda.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
120.	51/241 , annex, para. 6 <i>Also in:</i> 55/285 , annex, para. 13	The Secretary-General shall incorporate a forward-looking section in his report on the work of the Organization. It shall describe the specific goals for the Secretariat in the year ahead in the context of the workplan for the Organization in the coming year, taking into account the medium-term plan and the fact that the responsibility for establishing priorities rests with the Member States.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
121.	51/241 , annex, para. 9 <i>Also in:</i> 55/285 , annex, para. 13	The report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization shall, inter alia, contain an analytical and concise annex elaborating the costs by major programmes and activities of all bodies of the United Nations system, located both in and outside New York, according to their mandates, so as to improve Member States' overview of system-wide issues.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
122.	51/241 , annex, para. 3	The report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization should be available not later than 30 days prior to the opening of the regular session of the General Assembly in all official languages of the Organization so as to permit due consideration.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
123.	51/241 , annex, para. 7	The report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization shall be considered in plenary meetings of the General Assembly immediately after the general debate.	Secretary-General, Member States (General Assembly)	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The report is considered in plenary meetings of the General Assembly immediately after the general debate.
124.	51/241 , annex, para. 10	The Secretary-General is requested to introduce the report orally at an appropriate time under the agenda item entitled "Report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization".	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Secretary-General introduces his report orally under the agenda item entitled "Report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization".
125.	77/335 , para. 24 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 22; and 73/341 , para. 17	Requests the President of the General Assembly to continue scheduling the plenary meetings of the Assembly on the report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization and on the report of the Security Council in close coordination with the Secretary-General and the President of the Security	President of the General Assembly, Secretary-General	The plenary meetings on the report of the Secretary-General on the work of the Organization were convened in January, instead of immediately after the general debate, in accordance with paragraph 7 of the annex to General Assembly resolution 51/241 .

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		Council so as to avoid overlap with other important and related events on the same day, including, notably, the election of the non-permanent members of the Security Council, so that discussions of these important reports are no longer conducted in a perfunctory manner.		
126.	77/335 , para. 25	Recognizes the timely submission of the report of the Security Council to the General Assembly and, when necessary, special reports to the General Assembly, in accordance with Article 24, paragraph 3, of the Charter of the United Nations, recalls resolution 69/321 of 11 September 2015 and other relevant resolutions of the Assembly, and reiterates the importance of the Security Council continuing its efforts to provide its annual report to the Assembly in accordance with resolutions 51/193 of 17 December 1996 and 58/126 of 19 December 2003, and relevant measures outlined in notes S/2017/507 and S/2019/997 by the President of the Security Council, to enable scheduling its timely consideration by the General Assembly in June of each year.	Security Council	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
127.	77/335 , para. 26	Requests the President of the General Assembly, with the support of the Secretariat, to resume the practice of preparing a summary of the recommendations expressed by delegations during the General Assembly plenary meeting dedicated to discussing the report of the Security Council to the General Assembly and for onward transmission.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

Number	Resolution	Text of provision	Implementing entity	Comments
J. Provisions related to the agenda of the General Assembly				
128.	75/325 , para. 40 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 29; 72/313 , para. 27; 71/323 , para. 26; 70/305 , para. 20; 69/321 , para. 22; 68/307 , para. 16; 67/297 , para. 15; 66/294 , para. 18; 65/315 , para. 14; 64/301 , para. 18; and 63/309 , para. 6	Reaffirms the respective mandates of the Main Committees of the General Assembly, and on that basis, calls upon those Committees to continue their consideration, in consultation with all relevant bodies, of addressing gaps, overlaps and duplication in their respective agendas as they relate to the 2030 Agenda as a whole and, in this regard, invites the Bureaux of the relevant Main Committees of the Assembly and the Economic and Social Council and its subsidiary bodies to facilitate the consideration of the alignment principles by their respective intergovernmental bodies and to present concrete proposals for the consideration of Member States.	Member States (General Assembly), Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Assembly adopted decisions entitled “Revitalization of the work of the Second Committee”.
129.	75/325 , para. 32 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 28; 72/313 , para. 29; 71/323 , para. 28; and 70/305 , para. 22	Notes the pilot analysis on Sustainable Development Goal 2 carried out during the seventy-fifth session to examine in depth the coverage of Goal 2 (zero hunger) and the mapping developed during the seventy-third session of the Assembly, along with the pilot analysis, which remain relevant reference documents for the consideration of Member States during the seventy-eighth session of the Assembly.	Member States	The President of the General Assembly has at various sessions appointed facilitators and co-facilitators to hold consultations.
130.	77/335 , para. 37 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 44; 74/303 , para. 6; 73/341 , para. 27; 72/313 , para. 31; and 71/323 , para. 30	Stresses the necessity of aligning the agendas of the General Assembly and its Main Committees and the Economic and Social Council to avoid current overlaps and duplication, consistent with paragraphs 15 and 32 to 44 of resolution 75/325 , and encourages the General Assembly and its Main Committees and the Economic and Social Council and its	President of the General Assembly, Member States, Ad Hoc Working Group	At the seventy-fifth, seventy-seventh and seventy-eighth sessions, the President convened an informal meeting of the General Committee to discuss the alignment process.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		subsidiary bodies to examine, on a case-by-case basis, all the resolutions and agenda items that focus on the same area, based on their purpose, relevance and content.		
131.	77/335 , para. 33 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 23	Stresses the desirability of the General Assembly streamlining its agenda and dedicating more time for holding substantive and interactive dialogues, as well as the review of the implementation of the resolutions it adopts.	Member States (General Assembly)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
132.	77/335 , para. 34	Recognizes that urgent and concerted efforts are required to streamline the agenda of the General Assembly, where appropriate, and in this regard: (a) Recalls the analysis of the agenda of the General Assembly published as an outcome of resolution 58/126, and requests the Secretariat to prepare a conference room paper during the seventy-eighth session outlining the evolution of the agenda of the General Assembly to facilitate deliberations on the further biennialization, triennialization, clustering and elimination of items or on their labelling as items that remain on the agenda for consideration upon notification in accordance with paragraph 4 (b) of the annex to resolution 58/316 of 1 July 2004, for the consideration of Member States; (b) Emphasizes that the General Assembly and its Main Committees, at each session, in consultation with Member States, need to make concrete proposals for the further biennialization, triennialization, clustering and	Member States, President of the General Assembly, Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The conference room paper was issued as document A/78/CRP.1.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		elimination of items on the agenda of the Assembly or for their labelling as items that remain on the agenda for consideration upon notification in accordance with paragraph 4 (b) of the annex to resolution 58/316, including through the introduction of a sunset clause, with the clear consent of the sponsoring State or States, taking into account all the relevant recommendations of the Ad Hoc Working Group; (c) Encourages the President of the General Assembly to steer a more active General Committee in this regard, in line with the rules of procedure of the Assembly, and further requests the President to continue the practice of convening informal meetings of the General Committee throughout the session to elaborate concrete proposals for the further biennialization, triennialization, clustering and elimination of items or for their labelling as items that remain on the agenda for consideration upon notification in accordance with paragraph 4 (b) of the annex to resolution 58/316, where appropriate, for the consideration of the General Assembly each year, taking into account the consent of the sponsoring States; (d) Requests the Secretariat to brief the Ad Hoc Working Group at the seventy-eighth session of the General Assembly on the implementation of past decisions regarding the streamlining of the agenda of the Assembly, including those related to the role of the General Committee, to further		

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		address the issue of the increasingly overloaded agenda of the Assembly.		
133.	77/335 , para. 38	Requests the General Committee, while exercising its functions under rule 40 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, and within its mandate, to discuss gaps, overlaps and duplication and make recommendations annually to the General Assembly for its consideration.	Member States (General Committee)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
134.	58/316 , annex, para. 2 (a) and (d)	(a) Pursuant to paragraph 4 of section B of the annex to resolution 58/126 , the agenda of the General Assembly shall be organized under headings corresponding to the priorities of the Organization, as contained in the medium-term plan for the period 2002–2005 (or in the strategic framework, as appropriate), with an additional heading for “Organizational, administrative and other matters”; (d) The provisions of the present section shall be reviewed by the General Assembly at its sixty-first session with a view to making further improvements, as appropriate.	Secretary-General, Member States (General Assembly)	One-time action.
135.	58/316 , annex, para. 4	Provisions related to allocation of agenda items (for details see resolution 58/316 , annex, para. 4).	Member States, Secretary-General	One-time action.
136.	55/285 , annex, paras. 3–9	Provisions related to clustering of agenda items concerning cooperation between the United Nations and regional and other organizations (for details see resolution 55/285 , annex, paras. 3–9).	Member States, Secretary-General	One-time action.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
137.	55/285 , annex, paras. 10 and 11	Provisions related to biennialization of agenda items (for details see resolution 55/285 , annex, paras. 10 and 11).	Member States, Secretary-General	One-time action.
138.	55/285 , annex, para. 12	The following item shall be considered by the Third Committee, starting at the fifty-sixth session: “Implementation of the outcome of the World Summit for Social Development and of the twenty-fourth special session of the General Assembly”.	Member States, Secretary-General	One-time action.
139.	58/126 , annex, sect. B, para. 4	With a view to better conceptualization of the content of the agenda of the General Assembly, the Secretary-General is requested to submit to the Assembly, for its consideration by 1 March 2004, an illustrative agenda of the Assembly, based on all the agenda items of the fifty-eighth session, organized around the priorities of the Organization for the period 2002–2005. The General Committee shall hold open-ended discussions on the illustrative agenda before making recommendations on the matter to the Assembly for its decision by 1 July 2004.	Secretary-General, General Committee	One-time action.
140.	58/126 , annex, sect. B, para. 5	The President of the General Assembly at its fifty-eighth session, in consultation with the Secretary-General, and following consultations with concerned Member States, is requested to make proposals for the further biennialization, triennialization, clustering and elimination of items of the customary agenda of the Assembly for the consideration of the General Committee by 1 April 2004. The General Committee shall hold open-ended discussions	President of the General Assembly	One-time action.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		on the proposals before making recommendations on the matter to the Assembly for its decision by 1 July 2004.		
141.	55/285 , annex, para. 2 <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 24	The rationalization and streamlining of the agenda of the General Assembly should continue in order to enable the Assembly to focus its work on priority issues. Any change or suggestion concerning the agenda is made with the understanding that Member States may at any time propose any issue or item for the attention and consideration of the Assembly.	Member States (General Assembly)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
142.	51/241 , annex, para. 23	Bearing in mind rule 81 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, the requirements for reopening debate on an agenda item which the Assembly had decided was completed will continue to be as at present and should be made clear to delegations through a statement from the President of the Assembly. A delegation wishing to reopen debate on an agenda item should send a written request to the President of the Assembly. The President will then undertake soundings to ascertain whether the request enjoys wide support. In the light of these soundings, the President shall announce in the <i>Journal of the United Nations</i> the date of the meeting of the Assembly to consider the question of reopening debate on the item, bearing in mind the requirements of rule 81.	Member States (General Assembly), President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
143.	51/241 , annex, para. 25	As a general rule, agenda items that could be considered in the Main Committees shall be referred to the Main Committees rather than the General Assembly in plenary meetings.	General Assembly, Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
K. Provisions related to practices and working methods of the Main Committees of the General Assembly				
144.	72/313 , para. 23 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 22	Requests the continuation of the established practice of holding handover meetings of the outgoing and incoming bureaux to exchange views on outcomes and the upcoming agenda, and of presenting a report by the Chairs of the Main Committees to their successors on best practices and lessons learned.	Main Committee Chairs	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
145.	72/313 , para. 25 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 24	Calls for the continuation of the practice of periodical meetings between the six Chairs of the Main Committees during the session of the General Assembly to share best practices and increase the coherence and complementarity of the work of the Main Committees.	Main Committee Chairs	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
146.	69/321 , para. 16 <i>Also in:</i> 68/307 , para. 13; 60/286 , annex, para. 25; and 59/313 , para. 8	Appreciates the briefings by the Chairs of the Main Committees of the General Assembly to the Ad Hoc Working Group about the working methods of their respective Committees during the sixty-ninth session of the Assembly, and in this regard encourages the Main Committees: (a) To ensure adequate coordination in their work while avoiding overlap and duplication; (b) To hold elections for the bureaux of the Main Committees at least three months before the opening of each session, and preferably up	Main Committees	Main Committees periodically hold informal meetings on their working methods. E-deleGATE provides a tool for Main Committees to facilitate their work.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		to six months in advance of the session, and calls upon the regional groups to proceed with relevant nominations in a timely manner and in accordance with the interim arrangement set out in Assembly decision 68/505 of 1 October 2013; (c) To benefit from their respective intranet and other online services to facilitate the smooth organization and timely conclusion of their work; (d) To further enhance sharing of information on the work and activities of the Main Committees within each Main Committee; (e) To further improve the management of the negotiation process for Assembly resolutions.		
147.	77/335, para. 35 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325, paras. 29 and 31; 73/341, para. 26; 72/313, para. 22; 71/323, para. 21; 70/305, para. 17; 69/321, para. 19; 68/307, para. 14; 67/297, para. 13; 66/294, para. 19; and 65/315, para. 15	Reaffirms the need to continue to improve the working methods of the Main Committees, and in this regard: (a) Invites each Main Committee to further discuss its working methods, as appropriate, under the agenda item on the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly earlier at the seventy-eighth and seventy-ninth sessions, including the possibility of holding substantive and interactive dialogues, and in this regard also invites each Main Committee to submit to the Ad Hoc Working Group during the seventy-eighth and seventy-ninth sessions a written update, as appropriate, on progress achieved since the previous update in the efforts aimed at improving the working methods of the	Main Committees, Main Committee Chairs, Ad Hoc Working Group, Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis. Briefings are provided to the Ad Hoc Working Group by the Main Committee Chairs.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		Committees, including which recommendations from the Ad Hoc Working Group were adopted; (b) Invites the Chairs of the Main Committees to continue briefing the Ad Hoc Working Group, on an annual basis, on best practices and lessons learned with a view to improving working methods and to brief their Committees on practices from other committees that could be incorporated into their own working methods.		
148.	69/321 , para. 17 <i>Also in:</i> 59/313 , para. 9	Calls upon outgoing Chairs of the Main Committees to brief incoming Chairs on best practices and lessons learned from previous sessions of the Main Committees and to provide their written observations and lessons learned to their immediate successors, and encourages the incoming Chairs and bureaux of the Main Committees to consult with Member States shortly after their election on how the work will be conducted during the upcoming session of their Committee.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The observations and lessons learned are presented during the informal meetings between incoming and outgoing Bureaux of the respective Committees.
149.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (a) <i>Also in:</i> 59/313 , para. 7; and 51/241 , annex, para. 26	Main Committees shall give specific attention to the rationalization of their future agendas by the biennialization, triennialization, clustering and elimination of items, and make recommendations to the plenary Assembly for its decision by 1 April 2005.	Main Committees	In response to this request, the Main Committees at the fifty-ninth and sixtieth sessions made recommendations to the General Assembly.
150.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (b) <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 30	Main Committees shall adopt a provisional programme of work at the end of the session for the next session to help them better to plan, prepare and organize and, in this context, review the related documentation requirements.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
151.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (c)	The practice of interactive debates and panel discussions shall be utilized or expanded, as appropriate, by all Main Committees so as to enhance informal, in-depth discussions and to bring together experts from various fields without prejudicing the progress of the substantive work of the Main Committees.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Committees make extensive use of interactive debates and panels.
152.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (d) <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 53	The practice of “question time” shall be introduced, as appropriate, in all Main Committees to enable a dynamic and candid exchange with heads of departments and offices, representatives of the Secretary-General and special rapporteurs.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
153.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (e)	The websites of the Main Committees shall be enhanced and thereafter regularly updated and their content maintained by the secretariats of the Main Committees.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In 2024, the Secretariat launched iGov, a portal for intergovernmental data, including on the work of the Main Committees.
154.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (f)	The bureaux-elect of the Main Committees shall meet immediately after their election in order to discuss the organization and division of their work.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
155.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (g)	With a view to ensuring the continuity and the effective organization of their work, the incoming bureaux of the Main Committees shall, no later than two weeks after their election, meet with the outgoing bureaux in order to consult on and review issues relating to the efficient functioning of the Main Committees.	Main Committees	Implemented by most of the Main Committees on an ongoing basis.
156.	58/316 , annex, para. 3 (h) <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 30	Prior to the opening of each session, informal briefings of each Main Committee shall be convened to discuss the organization of work.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
157.	58/126 , annex, sect. B, para. 8	The Main Committees of the General Assembly are bound by the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, although they have different practices and working methods. With a view to identifying best practices and working methods, and recognizing the ongoing efforts of the Main Committees to streamline their work, the Secretary-General, drawing on the experience of previous Chairs of the Main Committees, is requested to submit a historical and analytical note on the practices and working methods of the Main Committees for the consideration of the General Committee by 1 April 2004. The General Committee shall hold open-ended discussions on the note before making recommendations on the matter to the Assembly for its decision by 1 July 2004.	Secretary-General	In response to this request, the Secretariat circulated a note entitled “Historical and analytical note on the practices and working methods of the Main Committees” (A/58/CRP.5), which was considered by the General Committee in open-ended informal consultations (A/61/483 , p. 13, and A/62/608).
158.	51/241 , annex, para. 51	There shall be a more detailed and structured examination in the Main Committees of the relevant reports of the Board of Auditors, the Joint Inspection Unit and the Office of Internal Oversight Services in relation to the substantive work of these Committees.	Main Committees	The reports are examined in the Main Committees on an ad hoc basis, if necessary.
159.	51/241 , annex, para. 31	The Main Committees shall meet in substantive session only after the end of the general debate.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
160.	51/241 , annex, para. 36	The First Committee and the Fourth Committee shall not meet simultaneously and may consider meeting in a sequential manner during the regular session of the General Assembly. This arrangement shall not apply if it affects their respective identities, programmes of work and effective consideration of their agendas.	Main Committees	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Secretaries of the First and Fourth Committees undertake consultation for the purpose of avoiding simultaneous meetings.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
L. Provisions related to the General Committee				
161.	72/313 , para. 24 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 23	Requests the President-elect of the General Assembly to continue with the practice of meeting informally with the incoming members of the General Committee before the beginning of the regular session in order to review the proposed programme of work of the Main Committees, with a view to increasing their efficiency, improving complementarity and avoiding overlap of meetings of the Main Committees to the extent possible, in order to allow for wider participation by Member States.	President-elect	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President-elect regularly convenes a meeting with the incoming members of the General Committee in advance of the opening of the session for an informal exchange of views.
162.	75/325 , para. 41 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 13; 72/313 , para. 30; and 71/323 , para. 29	Requests the General Committee, while exercising its functions under rule 40 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, and within its mandate, to also consider discussing gaps, overlaps and duplication and make recommendations to Member States for consideration.	General Committee	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
163.	72/313 , para. 43 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 37	Recalls its resolutions 1898 (XVIII) of 11 November 1963, 2837 (XXVI) of 17 December 1971, 45/45 of 28 November 1990, 51/241 of 31 July 1997, 58/126 of 19 December 2003 and 58/316 , and reiterates its call to the President of the General Assembly to continue to make full use of the General Committee throughout the session, with a view to reviewing the programme of work of the Assembly and its Main Committees, in line with rule 42 of the rules of procedure of the Assembly.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
164.	60/286 , annex, para. 27 <i>Also in:</i> 58/316 , annex, para. 5 (b)	Reiterates its call for the effective implementation of rule 42 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly.	General Committee	Since the adoption of resolution 58/316 , the General Committee has met throughout the session of the General Assembly.
165.	51/241 , annex, para. 33	The General Committee shall use its authority and competence, taking into account rule 43 of the rules of procedure, by allowing Member States that are not represented on the General Committee to participate in its discussions. The process of decision-making will continue to be as at present.	General Committee	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
166.	58/316 , annex, para. 5 (a)	The work of the General Committee shall be carried out in accordance with section VI of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly.	General Committee	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
167.	58/316 , annex, para. 5 (b)	The General Committee shall continue to meet throughout the session and to play the leading role in advising the General Assembly on the efficient organization, coordination and management of its work.	General Committee	Since the adoption of resolution 58/316 , the General Committee has met throughout the session of the General Assembly.
168.	58/316 , annex, para. 5 (c)	To ensure the effective implementation of rule 42 of the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, the General Committee shall meet regularly throughout the session with the bureaux of the Main Committees to review the progress of the work of the Main Committees and to make recommendations for furthering such progress.	General Committee	Since the adoption of the provision, the General Committee has met throughout the sessions of the General Assembly to ensure the effective implementation of rule 42 of the rules of procedure. The Main Committee Chairs have regularly given a briefing to the General Committee on the work of their Committees.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
169.	58/316 , annex, para. 5 (d)	In July of each year, the General Committee shall conduct a review of the proposed programme of work for the forthcoming session of the General Assembly, on the basis of a report to be submitted by the Secretary-General, and submit recommendations on the matter to the forthcoming Assembly. The report of the Secretary-General shall include information on the status of documentation to be issued during the forthcoming session.	General Committee	To be implemented on an ongoing basis. In response to this request, the Secretary-General annually submits reports to the General Assembly, including the requested information on the status of documentation.
170.	58/316 , annex, para. 5 (f)	On the basis of proposals from the President of the General Assembly, and in the light of the positive experience during the fifty-eighth session, the General Committee shall be encouraged, as appropriate, to continue to schedule informal briefings on topical issues.	General Committee	At the fifty-eighth and fifty-ninth sessions, the General Committee held several informal briefings on topical issues. Owing to the rising number of thematic debates, the practice of informal briefings in the General Committee has been limited to avoid duplication.
171.	58/316 , annex, para. 5 (h)	The General Committee shall continue to consider ways and means to further improve its working methods to increase its efficiency and effectiveness in all aspects, and make recommendations on the matter to the General Assembly for its decision by 1 April 2005.	General Committee	The General Committee continues to consider ways and means of improving its working methods. No recommendation has been made in that regard since the adoption of this provision.
172.	58/126 , annex, sect. B, para. 1	The General Committee shall meet throughout the session and further improve its working methods to increase its efficiency and effectiveness. It will play the leading role in advising the General Assembly on the efficient organization, coordination and management of its work. In this connection, the Assembly will also consider proposals to reform the General Committee.	General Committee	The General Assembly, at its fifty-eighth session, adopted resolution 58/316 , by which, inter alia, it decided on several measures regarding the reform of the General Committee.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
173.	55/285 , annex, para. 20	In order to enhance the capacity of the General Committee to assist the President of the General Assembly in the conduct of the business of the Assembly and to improve continuity between its different sessions, at the outset of each session, each Vice-President of the Assembly shall designate a liaison person for the duration of the session. This designation may be made informally, without any amendment to rule 39 of the rules of procedure of the Assembly, by means of a letter to its President.	General Committee	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
174.	51/241 , annex, para. 34	The General Committee may, each year, prior to the closure of the session, prepare suggestions based on its experience for the consideration of the incoming General Committee.	General Committee	Suggestions have been made on an ongoing basis during informal meetings between the incoming and outgoing General Committees.
175.	51/241 , annex, para. 35	The General Committee is requested to consider and recommend to the General Assembly methods and procedures for streamlining and rationalizing the Committee's work. The General Committee shall, in this context, in relation to each agenda item proposed, consider its rejection or its inclusion in the provisional agenda, taking into account previous recommendations of the General Committee and previous relevant decisions of the Assembly.	General Committee	To be implemented by the General Committee.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
M. Other matters				
176.	73/341 , para. 21 <i>Also in:</i> 72/313 , para. 63	Takes note of the proposals provided by the Secretariat for addressing the cost of the use of the Delegates' Dining Room and other venues at United Nations Headquarters in New York by delegations, and decides to continue the consideration of this issue during its seventy-fourth session.	Department of Operational Support	During the seventy-third session, the Department of Operational Support gave a briefing to the Ad Hoc Working Group on 9 April 2019 on the issue and presented three possible options for consideration (see supplementary information annexed to the letter from the President of the General Assembly dated 18 April 2019). Additional information is provided in the course of informal consultations and during the interactive dialogue.
177.	72/313 , para. 64	Requests the Secretariat to provide, in an electronic version only, a list containing the names of the President and the Vice-Presidents of the General Assembly and officers of the Main Committees, as well as members of the Security Council, members of the Economic and Social Council and Member States and observers of the United Nations.	Secretariat	The electronic lists containing the names of the President and the Vice-Presidents of the General Assembly and officers of the Main Committees, as well as members of the Security Council, members of the Economic and Social Council and Member States and observers of the United Nations have been made available on the websites of the relevant bodies and on the e-deleGATE portal.
178.	73/341 , para. 19	Requests the Secretariat to circulate in advance to the Permanent Missions all new or updated administrative instructions and other documents that have an impact on Member States with respect to the delivery of standard administrative services.	Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

Cluster III: selection and appointment of the Secretary-General and other executive heads

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
A. General provisions related to the selection of the Secretary-General				
179.	72/313 , para. 66 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 57; 70/305 , para. 37; 69/321 , para. 34; 68/307 , para. 26; 60/286 , annex, para. 17; and 51/241 , annex, para. 57	Reiterates that the process of selecting and appointing the Secretary-General differs from the process used with regard to the executive heads of the organizations of the United Nations system, given the roles of the Security Council and the General Assembly in accordance with Article 97 of the Charter, and emphasizes in particular that the process of selection of the Secretary-General is guided by the principles of transparency and inclusiveness, building on the best practices and the participation of all Member States.		Implemented on an ongoing basis.
180.	72/313 , paras. 67 and 68 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 58; 70/305 , para. 40; 69/321 , para. 39; and 60/286 , annex, para. 22	Stresses, in particular, the need to ensure the appointment of the best possible candidate for the post of Secretary-General, who embodies the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity and who demonstrates a firm commitment to the purposes and principles of the United Nations, proven leadership and managerial abilities, extensive experience in international relations and strong diplomatic, communication and multilingual skills. Also stresses that, in the course of the identification and appointment of the best candidate for the post of Secretary-General, due regard shall continue to be given to regional rotation and to gender balance.		Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
181.	77/335 , para. 57 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 41	Encourages future Presidents of the General Assembly to actively contribute to the implementation of provisions guiding the selection and appointment of the ninth Secretary-General, as contained in all relevant resolutions, in particular resolutions 69/321 and 70/305 , and stresses the need for the selection and appointment process of the Secretary-General and other executive heads to be guided by the principles of transparency and inclusiveness.	Presidents of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
182.	77/335 , para. 65 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 57; and 73/341 , para. 43	Decides to further assess during the seventy-ninth session of the General Assembly the selection and appointment process of the Secretary-General, to consolidate the advances gained in the relevant Assembly resolutions and to explore possible steps to improve future processes, including the collaboration between the Assembly and the Security Council, consistent with Article 97 of the Charter.	Ad Hoc Working Group, Member States	The informal dialogue with a candidate for the position of Secretary-General, Mr. António Guterres, of Portugal, was held on 7 May 2021 pursuant to resolution 69/321 and subsequent related resolutions. The format of the dialogue was communicated by the President of the General Assembly to all Permanent Representatives and Permanent Observers to the United Nations in New York in his letter dated 26 April 2021. The vision statement of the incumbent Secretary-General for the next term beginning on 1 January 2022 was circulated by the President of the General Assembly in his letter dated 25 March 2021.
183.	75/325 , para. 59 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 44	Reiterates the possibility of providing the process of selection and appointment of the Secretary-General with provisional timelines in accordance with paragraph 72 of its resolution 72/313 , and decides to further discuss this issue during its seventy-seventh session in the Ad Hoc Working Group.	Ad Hoc Working Group, Member States	The Working Group considered the issue during its sessions.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
184.	77/335 , para. 66	Requests the Secretariat to establish, within existing resources, a dedicated webpage in all six official languages to serve as a repository of the relevant information, including vision statements, joint letters and General Assembly resolutions related to the selection and appointment process of the Secretary-General.	Secretariat	The webpage was added to the UN website (https://un.org/sg/en/appointment-process).
B. Provisions related to the selection process				
185.	77/335 , para. 57 <i>Also in:</i> 75/235 , para. 52; 73/341 , para. 40; 72/313 , para. 69; 71/323 , para. 59; 70/305 , para. 41; 69/321 , para. 32; 68/307 , para. 25; 67/297 , para. 23; 66/294 , para. 25; 65/315 , para. 20; and 64/301 , para. 14	Reaffirms its commitment to continue, in the Ad Hoc Working Group, in accordance with the provisions of Article 97 of the Charter, its thorough consideration of the issues under the third thematic cluster of the Working Group, on the revitalization of the work of the General Assembly, including the examination of innovative ways to improve the process of selecting and appointing the Secretary-General and other executive heads in all its aspects, and recalls all relevant resolutions, reaffirming the applicable procedures set out in the rules of procedure of the Assembly, in particular rule 141, and acknowledging existing relevant practices of the Assembly.	Ad Hoc Working Group, Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Ad Hoc Working Group devoted a thematic meeting to this issue at recent sessions.
186.	72/313 , para. 70 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 60; 70/305 , para. 42; and 69/321 , para. 33	Calls upon the President of the General Assembly to monitor and review the Assembly's implementation of these resolutions.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
187.	77/335 , para. 60 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , paras. 55 and 56; 69/321 , para. 35; 60/286 , annex, para. 19; and 51/241 , annex, para. 60	Recalls the letters dated 15 December 2015 and 5 February 2021, and recommends that the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council continue the practice of circulating joint letters on the selection and appointment process of the Secretary-General, including outlining notional events, and consider concluding in sufficient time to allow the Secretary-General-designate to prepare for their term in office.	President of the General Assembly, President of the Security Council	A joint letter by the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council dated 15 December 2015 was sent to all Member States (see A/70/623-S/2015/988). A joint letter by the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council dated 5 February 2021 was sent to all Member States (see A/75/780-S/2021/179).
188.	77/335 , para. 61	Encourages Member States to publicize the call for nominations, including with civil society and other stakeholders, with the aim of identifying potential candidates.	Member States	To be implemented.
189.	77/335 , para. 62	Decides that, in order to be circulated in a joint letter by the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council pursuant to the process established in resolution 69/321 , nominations of candidates must be submitted by at least one Member State, in accordance with paragraph 56 of resolution 75/325 .	President of the General Assembly, President of the Security Council	To be implemented.
190.	77/335 , para. 63	Requests the presentation of a vision statement by all candidates for the position of Secretary-General, including when seeking a second term, and the holding of an open informal dialogue with Member States and observers of the General Assembly on its content, notes with appreciation the engagement of civil society, and encourages the continuation of such practices.	President of the General Assembly, candidates	To be implemented.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
191.	77/335 , para. 64	Invites candidates during future processes to voluntarily disclose any funding sources they have relating to their candidature.	Candidates	To be implemented.
192.	69/321 , para. 36	Also requests the Presidents of the General Assembly and the Security Council to jointly circulate to all Member States on an ongoing basis the names of individuals that have been submitted for consideration as candidates for the position of Secretary-General together with accompanying documents, including curricula vitae.	President of the General Assembly, President of the Security Council	The President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council jointly circulated the names of the individuals that were submitted for consideration as candidates during the seventieth, seventy-first sessions and seventy-fifth sessions.
193.	70/305 , para. 38 <i>Also in:</i> 69/321 , para. 37	Notes that the selection and appointment of the next Secretary-General is expected to take place in 2016, and as a result requests, without prejudice to the role of the principal organs as enshrined in Article 97 of the Charter, the President of the General Assembly at its seventy-first session to actively support this process in accordance with the role accorded to him by relevant resolutions, including the present resolution.	Presidents of the seventieth and seventy-first sessions of the General Assembly	Implemented by the Presidents of the seventieth and seventy-first sessions of the General Assembly.
194.	77/335 , para. 77 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 68; 70/305 , para. 39; 69/321 , para. 38; 68/307 , para. 28; 66/294 , para. 26; 60/286 , annex, para. 18; and 51/241 , annex, paras. 56 and 59	Notes that there is yet to be a woman Secretary-General, and strongly encourages Member States to bear this in mind during the next and in subsequent selection processes, when nominating candidates for the position of Secretary-General.	Member States (General Assembly, Security Council)	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
195.	69/321 , para. 42 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 58; and 60/286 , annex, para. 20	Decides, without prejudice to the role of the principal organs as enshrined in Article 97 of the Charter, to conduct informal dialogues or meetings with candidates for the position of Secretary-General, without any prejudice to any candidate who does not participate, thus contributing to the transparency and inclusivity of the process.	General Assembly, President of the General Assembly	The Presidents of the seventieth and seventy-first sessions of the General Assembly organized informal dialogues with all candidates submitted for consideration as the ninth Secretary-General. In its resolution 72/313, the General Assembly recalled that informal dialogues and meetings with candidates for the post of Secretary-General, as provided for in paragraph 42 of its resolution 69/321, are an important part of the selection and appointment process, and encouraged the President of the General Assembly to further improve, in close consultation with Member States, the modalities of these dialogues in order to increase their efficiency and interactivity with Member States (para. 71). The informal dialogue with a candidate for the position of Secretary-General, Mr. António Guterres, of Portugal, was held on 7 May 2021 pursuant to resolution 69/321 and subsequent related resolutions. The format of the dialogue was communicated by the President to all Permanent Representatives and Permanent Observers to the United Nations in New York in his letter dated 26 April 2021.

C. Provisions related to the appointment and duration of the term

196.	77/335 , para. 67 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 60; and 73/341 , para. 45	Decides that the Secretary-General-designate shall take an oath of office before the General Assembly during a swearing-in ceremony, as detailed in the annex to the present resolution.	Secretary-General-designate	Implemented on an ongoing basis. During the seventy-fifth session, on 18 June 2021, the Secretary-General-designate took an oath of office before the General Assembly during a swearing-in ceremony, as detailed in the annex to its resolution 73/341 (see A/75/PV.82).
------	--	--	-----------------------------	---

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
197.	60/286 , annex, para. 21 <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 61	Recalls paragraph 61 of its resolution 51/241 , in which it is stated that, in order to ensure a smooth and efficient transition, the Secretary-General should be appointed as early as possible, preferably no later than one month before the date on which the term of the incumbent expires.	General Assembly, Security Council	The provision is being implemented to the extent possible. Resolution 71/4 , by which the General Assembly appointed António Guterres Secretary-General of the United Nations for a term of office beginning on 1 January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2021, was adopted on 13 October 2016. Resolution 75/286 , by which the Assembly appointed António Guterres Secretary-General of the United Nations for a term of office beginning on 1 January 2022 and ending on 31 December 2026, was adopted on 18 June 2021.
198.	51/241 , annex, para. 58	The duration of the term or terms of appointment, including the option of a single term, shall be considered before the appointment of the next Secretary-General.	Member States	Member States decide on the duration of the term on a case-by-case basis, on the recommendation of the Security Council. At the seventieth session, the Co-Chairs of the Ad Hoc Working Group convened an informal brainstorming session on, inter alia, the possibility of modifying the term of office to a single, non-renewable term, and of recommending more than one candidate for consideration by the General Assembly. The Working Group continued to discuss the issue at the subsequent sessions.

D. Miscellaneous/other

199.	77/335 , para. 78 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 69; 73/341 , para. 50; 72/313 , para. 80; 71/323 , para. 65; and 69/321 , para. 40	Requests the Office of Human Resources of the Secretariat to continue the practice of providing a briefing to the Ad Hoc Working Group during the seventy-ninth session of the General Assembly on the gender and geographical balance of the executive heads of the United Nations system and the Senior Management Group of the Organization, as well as a breakdown showing those	Department of Management Strategy, Policy and Compliance, Office of Human Resources	A representative of the Office of Human Resources gave briefings at the sixty-ninth, seventy-third, seventy-fourth, seventy-fifth and seventy-seventh sessions. A written update was provided during the seventy-ninth session.
------	---	--	---	--

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		originating from the States that are permanent members of the Security Council, and to provide a written update prior to the briefing with details on the process for appointing and electing each of the executive heads, to facilitate greater understanding of the opportunities for Member States and respective governing bodies to nominate candidates for those executive heads that are elected.		
200.	77/335, paras. 68 and 73 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341, para. 46; 72/313, para. 75; 71/323, para. 61; and 70/305, para. 43	Welcomes again the ongoing efforts and progress already made by the Secretary-General towards achieving equal and fair distribution in terms of the gender and geographical balance of the executive heads of the United Nations system and the Senior Management Group of the Organization, while securing the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity, in accordance with Article 101 of the Charter and its resolutions 46/232 of 2 March 1992, 51/241 of 31 July 1997 and 71/263 of 23 December 2016, commends in particular the fact that gender parity was achieved in the Senior Management Group, and requests that further measures be taken in this regard. Welcomes the fact that gender parity has been maintained in the Senior Management Group, commends the Secretary-General's commitment to reach gender parity and to recruit staff on as wide a geographical basis as possible across the United Nations Organization, recalls the efforts made in the	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolutions 73/341, 75/325 and 77/335, the General Assembly welcomed the fact that gender parity had already been reached in the Senior Management Group, and commended the Secretary-General's commitment to reach gender parity and to recruit staff on as wide a geographical basis as possible across the United Nations Organization.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		Secretary-General's system-wide strategy on gender parity, and encourages the Secretary-General to increase efforts in this regard.		
201.	72/313 , para. 77 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 62; 70/305 , para. 44; and 69/321 , para. 43	Recalls its resolution 52/12 B of 19 December 1997, in particular paragraph 2 thereof, in which it notes that the Secretary-General will appoint the Deputy Secretary-General following consultations with Member States, stresses that the process of appointments to senior posts by the Secretary-General within the Organization should be inclusive and transparent, in accordance with relevant rules of procedure and as set out in the Charter, and in this context calls upon the Secretary-General to announce such vacancies well in advance.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolution 73/341 , the General Assembly supported the request of the Secretary-General for Member States to submit the names and résumés of nationals who might be considered for positions of executive heads and senior management of the Secretariat (para. 47).
202.	77/335 , para. 72	Reaffirms that no post should be considered the exclusive preserve of any Member State or group of States and that the Secretary-General should ensure that this principle is applied faithfully in accordance with the principle of equitable geographical distribution.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
203.	77/335 , para. 74	Notes with concern that gender parity and geographical balance have not yet been reached in the appointment and election of the executive heads of the United Nations system, and encourages the Secretary-General to take further steps to address these issues.	Secretary-General	The Secretary-General has made a commitment to reach gender parity and to recruit staff on as wide a geographical basis as possible across the United Nations Organization. The appointment and election of the executive heads of the United Nations system is not the prerogative of the Secretary-General.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
204.	77/335 , para. 70	Reiterates the need to follow best practices in all senior appointments, including a public call for candidates, notably women, notes the development of the Senior Leadership Vacancies portal, and encourages its further development, including by identifying innovative ways to publicize such calls.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
205.	77/335 , para. 75	Reiterates its request to the Secretary-General to continue the ongoing efforts to ensure equitable geographical distribution in the Secretariat and to ensure as wide a geographical distribution of staff as possible in all departments and offices and at all levels, of geographic posts, including at the Director and higher levels of the Secretariat.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
206.	75/325 , para. 67 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 49; 72/313 , para. 78; 71/323 , para. 63; and 70/305 , para. 45	Reiterates the need to ensure equal and fair distribution based on gender balance and as wide a geographical basis as possible, while also being diverse from a multilingual perspective, and in this regard recalls its resolutions 46/232 and 51/241 , adopted without a vote, which contain the principles that the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity are the paramount considerations in the recruitment and performance of international civil servants, and that candidates' independence should be considered.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
207.	75/325 , para. 66 <i>Also in:</i> 72/313 , para. 79; and 71/323 , para. 64	Reiterates its request to the Secretary-General that he continue his ongoing efforts to ensure the attainment of equitable geographical distribution in the Secretariat and to ensure as wide a geographical distribution of staff as possible in all departments and offices and at all levels, including at the Director and higher levels, of the Secretariat.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
208.	72/313 , para. 81	Invites the specialized agencies, funds and programmes to maintain updated information regarding the past and present executive heads on their official websites in order to strengthen transparency, as well as accessibility of the historical record.	Specialized agencies, funds and programmes	The Secretariat informed the heads of the specialized agencies, funds and programmes of the invitation by the Assembly. Several of them responded that this provision had already been implemented.
209.	77/335 , para. 71	Requests the Secretariat to provide a briefing to the Ad Hoc Working Group at the seventy-ninth session on the Senior Leadership Talent Pool, the Senior Leadership Vacancies portal and other measures taken to bring greater transparency and accessibility to the selection and appointment of executive heads.	Secretariat	A briefing was provided during the seventy-ninth session.

Cluster IV: strengthening the institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
A. Provisions related to the competencies of the President of the General Assembly				
210.	70/305 , para. 57	Decides that the President-elect of the General Assembly shall take an oath of office of his or her own, as detailed in annex I to the present resolution, at the moment of handing over the gavel in the final plenary meeting of the preceding session, and decides that the text of the oath shall be annexed to the rules of procedure of the Assembly.	President of the General Assembly, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The oath of office was first taken by the President-elect of the seventy-first session of the General Assembly at the 118th plenary meeting of the seventieth session of the Assembly, on 13 September 2016. The rules of procedure have been reissued (A/520/Rev.19) and include the oath of office under annex X. In its resolution 71/323, the General Assembly welcomed the taking of the oath of office and the observation of the code of ethics by the President of the General Assembly at its seventy-first session, as contained in annexes X and XI to the rules of procedure of the General Assembly, thus contributing to increased transparency and accountability of the Office (para. 67).
211.	70/305 , para. 58	Also decides that the President of the General Assembly shall observe a code of ethics, as detailed in annex II to the present resolution, and further decides that the text of the code of ethics for the President of the Assembly shall be annexed to the rules of procedure of the Assembly.	President of the General Assembly, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The rules of procedure have been reissued (A/520/Rev.20) and include the code of ethics for the President of the General Assembly under annex XI.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
212.	72/313 , para. 85 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 69; 70/305 , para. 49; 69/321 , para. 46; 68/307 , para. 31; 67/297 , para. 27; 66/294 , para. 29; 65/315 , para. 24; 64/301 , para. 13; and 63/309 , para. 4	Encourages the President of the General Assembly to continue the practice of periodically briefing Member States on his or her activities, including official travel.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
213.	70/305 , para. 51 <i>Also in:</i> 69/321 , para. 48; and 68/307 , para. 33	Encourages exchanges between the President-elect of the General Assembly and the Council of Presidents of the General Assembly so that Presidents-elect may benefit from the experiences of former Presidents in terms of best practices and lessons learned.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
214.	72/313 , para. 90	Highly commends the President of the General Assembly at its seventy-second session for introducing the morning dialogues, envisaged as informal discussions among Permanent Representatives on the substantive and practical aspects of work of the Assembly, and strongly encourages the continuation of the valuable practice of regular meetings between the President and the Permanent Representatives.	President of the General Assembly, Member States	The President of the seventy-second session introduced the practice of regular morning dialogues with the Permanent Representatives. This practice has continued.
215.	73/341 , para. 60 <i>Also in:</i> 72/313 , para. 87; 71/323 , para. 71; 70/305 , para. 52; 69/321 , para. 49; 67/297 , para. 32; 66/294 , para. 36; 65/315 , para. 28; 64/301 , para. 17; and 60/286 , annex, para. 9	Emphasizes the importance of a handover report for the institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly in accordance with resolution 69/321 and other relevant mandates contained in resolutions on the revitalization of the work of the Assembly.	President of the General Assembly, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the seventy-second session shared with all Member States, in a letter dated 17 September 2018, the handover summary received from his predecessor. This practice has continued.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
216.	77/335 , para. 94 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 80; 73/341 , para. 59	Requests the Secretariat to issue, during the seventy-ninth session, within existing resources, in coordination with the Office of the President of the General Assembly, a compendium of best practices of past Presidents that could serve to contribute to strengthening the institutional memory of the Office.	Secretariat, in coordination with the Office of the President of the General Assembly	Not implementable.
217.	72/313 , para. 101 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 84; 70/305 , para. 69; 69/321 , para. 56; 68/307 , para. 40; and 67/297 , para. 29	Requests the President of the General Assembly, in cooperation with the Secretariat, to report to the Ad Hoc Working Group at the seventy-third session of the Assembly on the implementation of all mandates accorded to her under the present resolution and previous relevant resolutions.	President of the General Assembly, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the General Assembly has reported to the Working Group.
218.	77/335 , para. 95	Requests outgoing Presidents to continue the practice of circulating a handover report for the institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly in accordance with resolution 69/321 and other relevant mandates contained in resolutions on the revitalization of the work of the Assembly, and encourages the President to do so in all six official languages.	President of the General Assembly	Handover reports were circulated at the end of sessions.
219.	58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 7	In June of each year, the President-elect of the General Assembly, after taking into account the views provided by Member States and following consultations with the incumbent President and the Secretary-General, will suggest an issue, or issues, of global concern upon which Member States will be invited	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		to comment during the general debate at the forthcoming session of the Assembly. The views provided by Member States should also be summarized and circulated to Member States. Such suggestions regarding the issue(s) for comment will be without prejudice to the sovereign right of Member States to solely and entirely determine the content of their general debate statements.		
220.	77/335 , para. 96 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 73	Welcomes the good practice of the organization by the President of the General Assembly of informal interactive dialogues of the Member States, with the engagement of civil society, with the candidate(s) for the position of President of the General Assembly based on his or her vision statement. Decides, in full respect of the established principle of geographical rotation and its resolution 33/138 of 19 December 1978, to conduct informal interactive dialogues with candidates for the position of President of the General Assembly, thus contributing to the transparency and inclusivity of the process, and calls upon candidates to present to the Assembly their vision statements.	General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The President of the General Assembly has convened informal interactive dialogues with the candidate for the position of President of the General Assembly.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
221.	72/313 , para. 89	Requests the Ad Hoc Working Group to establish, in close consultation with the President of the General Assembly, the guidelines for the informal interactive dialogue with candidates for the position of President of the General Assembly, including the question of participants, duration and format.	Ad Hoc Working Group	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolution 73/341 , the General Assembly called upon the President of the General Assembly to organize the informal interactive dialogue of the Member States with the candidate(s) for the position of President of the General Assembly pursuant to resolution 71/323 as a question and answer session with targeted and relevant questions, that would serve as a follow-up to the vision statement of the candidate(s) and draw on the plans and priorities of each candidate for his or her term, and emphasized the need to provide enough time so that all participants would have the opportunity to put forward questions (para. 61).
222.	77/335 , para. 90	Encourages the President of the General Assembly to issue communications in all six official languages, whenever feasible, and to emphasize the multilingual nature of the United Nations, including the Office of the President of the General Assembly.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

B. Provisions related to the financial, logistic and technical support for the President of the General Assembly

223.	77/335 , para. 88 <i>Also in:</i> 72/313 , para. 96; 71/323 , para. 79; 70/305 , para. 64; 69/321 , para. 54; and 68/307 , para. 38	Recognizes the need to consider strengthening the institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly in order to ensure the effective implementation of the mandates entrusted to the President of the General Assembly, and requests the Secretary-General to submit a proposal in this regard, including on additional positions, funded through the regular budget, and on extending the current overlap	Secretary-General	Implemented.
------	---	--	-------------------	--------------

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		period by an additional month for all general temporary assistance positions in the Office of the President of the General Assembly beginning in the context of the revised budget estimate for 2024 and the proposed programme budget for 2025 and thereafter, in accordance with existing procedures, in particular rule 153 of the rules of procedure of the Assembly.		
224.	77/335 , para. 80	Decides to discuss, at its seventy-ninth session, questions related to the term assigned to the President of the General Assembly and the financial and logistical implications thereof.	Member States (Ad Hoc Working Group)	To be implemented.
225.	72/313 , para. 83 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 66; and 70/305 , para. 46	Commends the President of the General Assembly at its seventy-second session for strengthening the transparency and inclusivity of his Office, including through continuing the practices outlined in paragraph 66 of resolution 71/323 , and for voluntarily presenting the summary of his personal financial disclosure, and requests future Presidents of the Assembly to follow these good practices.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis. Detailed information on finances, official travel, staffing and activities of the Office of the President of the General Assembly are made available on the website of the President.
226.	70/305 , para. 53	Requests the President of the General Assembly to preserve the records and institutional memory during her or his term of office by using existing United Nations record-keeping and archiving facilities, taking into account existing record-keeping standards and practices of the Organization.	President of the General Assembly	To be implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
227.	71/323 , para. 72 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 54	Supports the efforts made thus far in archiving and record-keeping by the Office of the President of the General Assembly, with the assistance of the Archives and Records Management Section of the Department of Management of the Secretariat, and stresses the need to continue to consider methods to effectively preserve the institutional memory of the Office.	Secretary-General	To be implemented on an ongoing basis upon receipt of relevant documentation from the Office of the President of the General Assembly.
228.	77/335 , para. 93 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , para. 79; 73/341 , para. 58	Requests the Secretary-General to take the measures necessary to preserve and further strengthen the institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly and the General Assembly revitalization process, through utilizing existing United Nations record-keeping and archiving facilities, including websites, in particular in the Dag Hammarskjöld Library and the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management and the Department of Global Communications of the Secretariat.	Secretariat	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
229.	77/335 , para. 83 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 59	Welcomes the induction programme delivered to the Office of the President of the General Assembly, and calls upon the Secretariat to strengthen the programme through enhanced content and increased delivery time. Requests the Ethics Office of the Secretariat and the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management to provide an induction briefing to all Presidents of the General Assembly and members of the Office of the President of the General Assembly prior to the assumption of their duties.	Ethics Office, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management organized induction programmes for the President-elect.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
230.	77/335 , para. 89 <i>Also in:</i> 72/313 , para. 94; 71/323 , para. 77; and 70/305 , para. 61	Invites the President of the General Assembly to consider maintaining existing staff members from the preceding Office of the President of the General Assembly, and encourages Member States and United Nations system entities to offer secondments, including for periods that go beyond a single General Assembly session, with a view to strengthening the institutional memory of the Office of the President of the General Assembly.	Secretary-General, heads of specialized agencies, funds and programmes	To be implemented on an ongoing basis.
231.	70/305 , para. 62	Decides that Presidents of the General Assembly shall provide financial disclosures upon assumption and completion of their duties, in line with the existing United Nations financial disclosure programme.	President of the General Assembly	To be implemented on an ongoing basis.
232.	70/305 , para. 65	Also requests the Secretary-General to make non-staff programme budget resources available to Presidents of the General Assembly from the date of their election.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolution 72/313 , the General Assembly took note of the practice of making non-staff programme budget resources available to Presidents of the General Assembly from the date of their election (para. 97).
233.	72/313 , para. 100 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 83; and 70/305 , para. 67	Reiterates its call for non-in-kind contributions to be channelled through the trust fund, and welcomes steps taken in this regard by the President of the General Assembly at its seventy-second session.	President of the General Assembly, Ethics Office	Implemented on an ongoing basis. In its resolution 72/313 , the General Assembly welcomed the continuation of the practice of vetting all contributions from sources other than Member States through the Ethics Office, and urged adherence to this practice (para. 99).

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
234.	73/341 , para. 62 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305 , para. 68	Encourages the Office of the President of the General Assembly to expedite the posting of all relevant documents, including the President's speeches, letters, travels, activities, decisions and press releases, on the relevant websites of the United Nations.	President of the General Assembly	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
235.	72/313 , para. 98 <i>Also in:</i> 71/323 , para. 81; 70/305 , para. 66; 69/321 , para. 55; 68/307 , para. 39; 67/297 , para. 28; 66/294 , para. 33; and 64/301 , para. 12	Stresses the importance of the contributions of Member States to the trust fund in support of the Office of the President of the General Assembly, and in this regard notes with appreciation the contributions that have been made to the fund and encourages Member States to continue to contribute to the fund and to allow for unspent contributions from previous sessions to be made available for succeeding terms.	Member States	Since the adoption of resolution 66/294 , contributions have been made to the trust fund in support of the Office of the President of the General Assembly. Furthermore, each incoming President of the Assembly is given a briefing on the fund and its modalities. Since the seventy-first session, the Presidents have published information concerning contributions made to the trust fund on their websites.
236.	77/335 , para. 81 <i>Also in:</i> 73/341 , para. 52; 72/313 , para. 92; 71/323 , para. 74; 70/305 , para. 55; 69/321 , para. 50; and 68/307 , para. 34	Notes that only four women have been elected as President of the General Assembly since the foundation of the United Nations, and strongly encourages Member States to nominate women as candidates for the position of President of the General Assembly, and encourages Presidents-elect to continue to strive for both gender and geographical balance within the Office of the President of the General Assembly.	Member States	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
237.	77/335 , paras. 91 and 92 <i>Also in:</i> 75/325 , paras. 76–78; 73/341 , para. 56; 72/313 , para. 93; 71/323 , para. 75; 70/305 , para. 56;	Requests the Secretary-General to provide to the President of the General Assembly adequate administrative, technical, technological, logistical and protocol-related support necessary to effectively execute the mandates entrusted to the President of a	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
	69/321, para. 51; 68/307, para. 35; 67/297, para. 30; 66/294, para. 34; and 65/315, para. 26	principal organ of the United Nations. Requests that the support provided to the President of the General Assembly include the full provision of services to ensure coverage of all calendar meetings and up to 45 non-calendar meetings by session without prejudice to the ability of the President of the General Assembly to convene further meetings as appropriate, with an intention to review the number of meetings during the seventy-ninth session of the General Assembly, and further stresses the need to promote multilingualism, including through coverage and archiving official meetings webcasts on the United Nations website in all six official languages.		
238.	66/294, para. 35 <i>Also in:</i> 65/315, para. 27; 64/301, para. 11; and 59/313, para. 3 (d)	Requests the Secretary-General to further endeavour to ensure, within agreed resources, that the President of the General Assembly is provided with proper protocol and security services and adequate office space, with a view to enabling the President of the Assembly to carry out his or her functions in a manner commensurate with the dignity and stature of the Office.	Secretary-General	The Department of Safety and Security continues to provide close protection coverage for the President of the General Assembly from within existing resources, and the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management continues to provide protocol services to the President of the General Assembly. In addition, office space has been made available to the Office in the Conference Building.
239.	71/323, para. 76 <i>Also in:</i> 70/305, para. 60; 69/321, para. 52; 68/307, para. 36; 67/297, paras. 31 and 32; 66/294, para. 36; 65/315, para. 28; 63/309, para. 5; and 60/286, annex, para. 9	Emphasizes the need to ensure, from within agreed resources, that the Office of the President of the General Assembly is allocated dedicated Secretariat staff, with responsibility to, in an efficient and capable manner, coordinate the transition between Presidents, manage interactions between the President and the Secretary-General and preserve	Secretariat, Department for General Assembly and Conference Management	Implemented on an ongoing basis. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management provides technical, procedural and substantive support to the Office of the President of the General Assembly throughout the year and gives a briefing to Presidents-elect and their teams on the work of the forthcoming session.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
		institutional memory, welcomes the provision by Member States of staff from their respective Permanent Missions to be seconded to the Office of the President, and encourages the continuation of this existing good practice.		As from 2016, the Department for General Assembly and Conference Management organizes an induction programme each year. The Department for General Assembly and Conference Management also serves as focal point for the institutional memory of the work and practices of the General Assembly within the Secretariat.
240.	59/313 , para. 3 (b)	Decides to strengthen the role and leadership of the President of the General Assembly by: (b) Augmenting the resources available to the Office of the President of the General Assembly from within existing resources, subject to consideration by the Assembly of the proposed programme budget for the biennium 2006–2007, to provide for two further additional posts at management and senior levels to be filled on an annual basis following consultations with the incoming President, beginning at the sixtieth session of the Assembly.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
241.	58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 10	The resources available to the Office of the President of the General Assembly in personnel and other support shall be augmented from within existing resources, bearing in mind the provisions of paragraph 22 of the annex to resolution 55/285 . Five additional posts shall be made available to supplement current support, of which three shall be filled on an annual basis, following consultations with the incoming President, beginning at the fifty-ninth session of the Assembly.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.

<i>Number</i>	<i>Resolution</i>	<i>Text of provision</i>	<i>Implementing entity</i>	<i>Comments</i>
242.	55/285 , annex, para. 22 <i>Also in:</i> 51/241 , annex, para. 44	Additional measures are required to implement paragraph 44 of the annex to resolution 51/241 , in particular in the area of substantive support for the President of the General Assembly. Therefore, adequate support should be made available to the Office of the President in the substantive areas of its work. To this end, the Secretary-General is requested to take appropriate measures and to submit proposals to the relevant committees for their consideration during the fifty-sixth session of the Assembly.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
243.	59/313 , para. 3 (c)	Decides to strengthen the role and leadership of the President of the General Assembly by: (c) Making available to the President of the General Assembly adequate office and conference space with a view to enabling the President to carry out his/her functions in a manner commensurate with the dignity and stature of the Office.	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.
244.	60/286 , annex, para. 11 <i>Also in:</i> 58/126 , annex, sect. A, para. 11	Requests the Secretary-General to continue to make the necessary arrangements for the provision of transitional office accommodation and other support to the President-elect of the General Assembly, in accordance with resolution 58/126 .	Secretary-General	Implemented on an ongoing basis.